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At ATM, we want to make a difference every
day, because our passion and care for our
work drives us to think big and to promote

innovation, inclusion and sustainability for an
integrated mobility that serves millions of

customers.



Foreword

This document includes the Report on Operations, the Sustainability Report, the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Annual Report.

The objective of the Report on Operations is to represent, in addition to the annual results of
operations, the ATM Group's sustainable value creation model for its business in the medium-long
term, highlighting the links existing between strategy, governance, economic-financial performance
and the social, environmental and economic context in which the Group operates.

The issues discussed in the Report on Operations represent the main factors that can influence the
Group's economic and financial performance and impact on material sustainability issues.

The Sustainability Report is prepared in accordance with the provisions of Legislative Decree
125/2024 and in accordance with the ESRS Standards issued by EFRAG and implemented by
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2023/2772.

The Sustainability Report, which constitutes a specific section of the Report, aims to provide an
understanding of both the ATM Group's impact on sustainability issues and the information needed
to understand how these issues affect the company's performance, results and financial position.
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1.1 Letter from the Chairperson

The year 2024 was a year of significant achievements for ATM, both nationally and internationally.
Notable milestones include the full opening of the M4 metro line in Milan, the start-up of Greece's
first automatic metro in Thessaloniki and the opening of five new stations on the automatic metro in
Copenhagen. These successes have enabled ATM to further strengthen its know-how, confirming it
as a leader in the management of driverless metros, both in Italy and abroad. To support corporate
growth and strengthen governance, ATM's Board of Directors was enlarged to seven members, with
the appointment of two new directors and the creation of three endo-committees, in line with
practice for companies issuing securities and of this size. Furthermore, in compliance with the new
European regulation, starting this year ATM was among the first 200 companies in Italy to integrate
a Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) section in its financial statements,
demonstrating its growing commitment to transparency and corporate responsibility on ESG
sustainability issues.

After two years in substantial break-even, the ATM Group closed the year 2024 with a profit of EUR
5.8 million, while the parent company ATM S.p.A. recorded a profit of EUR 3.1 million, demonstrating
the validity of the initiatives and strategies implemented in recent years. The results of subsidiaries
and investee companies contributed significantly to the improvement of the Group's overall results:
the companies that made the greatest contribution to the parent company's accounts were the
Danish Metro Service, Nord Est Trasporti, which operates in the public transport sector in the Monza
and Brianza area, and Rail Diagnostics S.p.A., which specialises in the integrated diagnostics of metro-
transportation installations and systems. The results confirm that expanding operational and
geographic boundaries are key strategies for generating additional margins, which are crucial for
preserving the Group's corporate strength and supporting the investment plans envisaged for the

coming years.

On the revenue side, there was an increase both in the fees generated in Italy by the service contract
with the Municipality of Milan and the commissioning of the entire M4 automatic line, and in those
relating to the management of the Copenhagen and Thessaloniki metro networks abroad. As far as
costs are concerned, despite the high uncertainty related to the main economic variables, most items
remained stable compared to last year, thanks in part to careful streamlining activities. However,
there was an increase in total costs of EUR 39 million compared to 2023, almost entirely attributable
to the increase in personnel costs related to the expansion of the workforce in both the Italian and

foreign companies.

The economic and financial results, which are detailed in the internal chapters, reflect the Group's
sound management and successful implementation of initiatives during the year. With revenues of
EUR 1,161 million (+ EUR 64 million vs. 2023) and operating costs and expenses of EUR 1,061 million



(+ EUR 39 million vs. 2023), the Group recorded EBITDA of EUR 100 million (+ EUR 25 million vs. 2023)
and an operating result of EUR 15 million (+ EUR 26 million vs. 2023), reaching a profit of EUR 5.8
million (+ EUR 5 million vs. 2023). The ATM Group's total balance sheet assets amounted to EUR 2,336
million (+ EUR 24 million vs. 2023).

The implementation of the Strategic Business Plan 2021-2025 continued according to plan, with a
steady development of all initiatives. As part of the Full Electric project, 40 new electric buses went
into service in 2024, while 51 diesel buses were decommissioned. At the end of the year, ATM's fleet
had a total of 280 electric buses in circulation, representing 24% of the entire urban fleet. At the same
time, the installation of online charging systems and the electrical conversion of the depots in Via
Giambellino, Via Palmanova, Viale Sarca and San Donato continued. As a result of these measures,
the number of fully electric bus lines has risen to 24, with a 25% increase in electric mileage compared
to 2023 (by the end of the year, 28% of city bus kilometres were covered by electric vehicles). In
addition, 299 new electric buses were purchased in 2024 and will be delivered from 2025. The goal
is to reach a total of around 600 active buses by 2026, which is almost 50 per cent of the total fleet.
In order to ensure the punctual development of the Full Electric plan, however, the construction of
the two new depots planned in Viale Triboniano and Viale Toscana is essential: in fact, the size and
shape of the depots currently serving the road transport network are not sufficient to meet the needs
of a fully electric fleet. The construction of the new full-electric depots is slowing down compared to
the initial forecasts due to complications related to the administrative and authorisation processes
of the bodies involved.

On the front of business expansion, ATM officially announced the opening of a branch in France,
“ATM France”, continuing to participate in tenders for the awarding of public transport service
contracts in the region, some of which to be awarded starting in 2025. In parallel, the company took
part in further national and international tenders. In August, ATM took over the management of the
historic Argegno-Pigra funicular railway, consolidating its expertise in the management of cableway
installations.

The company continued to implement the other initiatives of the Strategic Plan, with a particular
focus on digitisation. During the year, ATM extended the installation of credit card readers
throughout its fleet in the metropolitan area, improving the interoperability of the system, thereby
fostering integration between the Milan and Monza networks. As part of the initiatives to combat
fare evasion, the first new-generation turnstiles are being tested in 6 metro stations. In parallel, major
renovations of escalators and lifts in metro stations were started. The completion of these works
within the city is planned before the 2026 Winter Olympics, with the aim of ensuring full service
functionality for all metro lines.



Among the various communication initiatives are campaigns on Diversity & Inclusion and against
gender-based violence. In addition, ATM held its first exhibition open to the public, ATM MANIFESTO,
dedicated to its historical archive at the ADI Design Museum, which attracted over 55,000 visitors in
50 days. As evidence of the company's historical value for Milan, a Carrelli tram has been exhibited,
and will be permanently exhibited, at the National Museum of Science and Technology.

The development of the People and Culture pillar is also progressing on schedule, confirming ATM's
commitment to the development of its people. In 2024, the ATM Job Tour was also launched, an
initiative to promote the company in the territory and to directly search for key figures, such as
drivers, maintenance workers, technicians and engineers, who are essential for the expansion of the
public transport service.

Despite the structural shortage of key profiles in the sector, such as drivers, maintenance workers
and engineers, and the increasing difficulty in finding adequate economic resources to cover the
higher costs, ATM continues to work to guarantee the best possible service to citizens, optimising
available resources and keeping in line with the shareholder's strategy. In this delicate context, the
Company would like to express its sincere thanks to all the staff, with special recognition to those
who, with great dedication, worked overtime shifts to make up for the staff shortage.

The Chairperson

Gioia Maria Ghezzi
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1.2 The ATM Group

1.2.1 Mission and Values

Since 1931, the Azienda Trasporti Milanesi S.p.A. ("ATM" or the "Company" or the "Parent
Company"), the Parent Company of the ATM Group (the "Group") established in 2006, has
been striving to be a point of reference and a key actor in the integrated mobility system, and
in particular it aims to:

e be a nationally and internationally recognised excellence in sustainable
integrated mobility management, through a consumer-centric, technologically
advanced, efficient and resilient service;

e become a promoter of change and reaffirmation of Milan into a more liveable,
sustainable, safe and smart city;

e promote the development of its people and its assets through the development
of skills, the attraction of new talent and the dissemination of an inclusive
culture.

The Group's daily operations are guided by the following System of Values:

e quality of life of the community: continuous improvement of the quality of life
of those who live and move in the area where the Group operates;

e professional growth: possibility for everyone in the Group to be fulfilled in their
job through continuous professional and personal growth;

e ethics, transparency and fairness: activities within and outside the Group that
are founded on the principles of legality, transparency, fairness and loyalty;

e continuous pursuit of excellence: attitude open to change, discussion and
personal and professional improvement.

1.2.2 The main services offered

The ATM Group has always been committed to meeting the needs of the public transport
sector by readily understanding citizens' demand through the intermodality of the transport
services, which include metro, bus, tram and trolleybus services. The solutions offered cover
the entire public mobility value chain and by combining advanced technologies, such as
automatic metros, with smart mobility initiatives, ATM is able to promote and make public
transport a sustainable choice.

The ATM Group's more than 10,000 employees guarantee the daily operation of a complex
transport system that serves a territory of more than 3.3 million inhabitants, and includes the
city of Milan and 97 municipalities in Lombardy.
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The Milan metro network consists of five lines, stretching for approximately 112 km and with
134 stations.

- Sasto 1° Magglo FS + Rho Fieramllana/Blsceglie 26.70 km
P.za Abbiategrasso Chiesa Rossa/Assago Milanofiori Forum =
m Ealoann Nord IGascate 1969 39.88 km 35
San Donato -+ Comasina 1990 17.31 km 21
JPP-%  Linate Airpart « San Cristoforo 2022 15.55 km 21
m Bignami Parce Nord = San Siro Stadium 2013 12.88 km 19

Total  112.32km 134
In addition to the metro lines, the Group operates 17 tram lines covering 157 km, 136 bus lines
and four trolleybus lines covering approximately 1,500 km.

The current configuration of the above-ground network is as follows:

81 urban 54 suburban Including nelghbourheod bus services {active in 15 suburban

Car nstwork 24 provincial districts) and 4 lines related to the night metro replacement service

e A 17 urban lines

Trollaybus network 4 urban linas

All transport networks are integrated with Trenord's railway line, completing an integrated
system that allows customers to move around the territory easily by public transport.

In addition, the ATM Group operates:

e the light rail, specially designed for patients, staff and students, which connects the
Cascina Gobba station (on Line 2) to the San Raffaele Hospital by automatic metro line;

e the Como-Brunate funicular railway, which has been the fastest way to connect the two
towns since 1894;

e the Varese-Santa Maria del Monte funicular railway;

e the Argegno-Pigra cable car;

e the BikeMi bike sharing service in the city of Milan;

e 23 car parks in the city of Milan, offering car and motorbike parking spaces for the
public, equipped with parking control and payment systems, with the aim of improving
traffic flow in the city and encouraging the use of public transport;

e DRT;
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e ancillary activities: such as the distribution of tickets, the provision of information to
customers and the control of fare evasion;

e the payment and control system of Area C, the congestion charge introduced in the
centre of Milan, which involves the management of purchase transactions and daily
accesses;

e the control system and the adaptation of the computerised transit management system
for Area B, a restricted traffic zone with a ban on the access and circulation of the most
polluting vehicles, active since 2019.

e the vehicle removal and storage service and special and tourist services including the
ATMosfera restaurant tram;

e the local public transport service, with 24 bus lines, within the Milan Metropolitan City
and in the provinces of Monza (including the hinterland) and Brianza as well as in some
municipalities in the provinces of Bergamo and Lecco.

The ATM Group is also active abroad: since 2008, through its subsidiary Metro Service A/S, it
operates four metro lines in the city of Copenhagen, with a total length of approximately 44
km and 46 stations. Metro Service A/S has also been awarded the operation of the new Greater
Copenhagen Light Rail line, which will provide transport services for the suburban area to the
west of the vcity, scheduled to start in the third quarter of 2025.

m Vanlose « Vestamagar
2008

21 km 22
Vanlase «« Lufthavnen
Kobenhavm H <« Enghave Plads 2019 15.5 km 17
m Oriantiaj -« Ny Ellabjerg 2020  7.5km 7
TOTAL 44 46
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Finally, on 30 November 2024, the basic section of the Thessaloniki metro in Greece was
opened. It is 8.1 km long and includes 13 stations, and is managed by the subsidiary THEMA
S.A. In the fourth quarter of 2025, the extension to Kalamaria is scheduled to open for a further

4.6 km and 5 stations.

Line 1 Mew Railway Station « Nea Elvetia 2024 8.1 km

3 ‘\&db
fc«f&fﬁfﬁfﬁf ,fp"}‘“&q,p‘”’
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The ATM Group's activities are summarised by territorial areas and by services below:

- = N o
LPT in Milan and urban ~ Roadside paying parking -~ 55 loop
area and LPT cars in the and in the 23 interchange T
Municipality of Monza, car parks inside and i rgstaurant and
Province of Monza- outside of Milan I s
Brianza, Bergamo, Lecco Planning for

Removal and storage of
vehicles on municipal
DRT services territory

Milan metro lines 4 and & suslainable, inclusive

and innovative mobility,

Maintenance and

i ' -~ AreaBand C
FnCUBr talbiays g ot integrated diagnostics of

{Como-Brunate, Varese-

; Traffic and Temritory metro and tramway
Santa Maria de.l Mante) Control System control systems and
and Argegno-Pigra cable installations
car - Bike Sharing

Insurance claims
managemeant

Retail and Advertising
Management

Ticketing Systems

= Copenhagen and
Thessaloniki metros

1.2.3 The value creation model

Thanks to its role as a key actor in national and international public transport, the ATM Group,
through its activities, is able to generate great value for the metropolitan city in which it
operates, for the various surrounding communities and also for the entire country system, in
a perspective that is evolving more and more every day towards a sustainable intermodal
system that is environmentally and people-friendly. The company's ultimate goal is to improve
the quality of life for everyone, in the present but also in the medium to long term.

In addition to economic value, in fact, the Group creates value in the territory in which it
operates by participating in projects, initiatives, partnerships and activities that have the
widest possible social and environmental impact.

The value generated by the Group, described in the following pages, is measured not only on
the basis of ATM's ability to achieve its strategic objectives, but also on the basis of the extent
of the positive impact generated by its business activities on the outside world.



Introduction

In wanting to create and share value, ATM engages different stakeholders with targeted
objectives:

e Passenger customers: guaranteeing sustainable and efficient integrated mobility, in
line with the company's sustainability strategies in Italy, Denmark and Greece, and with
the aim of expanding business in other countries as well, to make the ATM Group
competitive on a global scale.

e Local authorities: offering innovative and sustainable solutions for public transport,
both in Italy and abroad.

e LPT sector: actively participating in tenders for the management of mobility services
with a focus on sustainable infrastructure and low-emission transport.

In addition, ATM interacts with a diverse network of stakeholders including:

e Municipality of Milan: sole shareholder and guarantor of economic and social
sustainability.
e Local Public Transport Agency of the Milan, Monza and Brianza, Lodi and Pavia
Metropolitan City basin: strategic collaborator for sustainable mobility planning.
e International bodies: Metroselskabet (Denmark) and Elliniko Metro SA (Greece),
holders of the service contract in Copenhagen and Thessaloniki.
¢ Investors and media: key actors in ensuring growth, transparency and dissemination of
sustainable practices.
ATM continues to innovate its business model to align with European sustainability standards,
increasingly focusing on electric mobility, digitising processes to improve operational efficiency

and promoting a corporate culture focused on sustainability and social responsibility.

The introduction of the CSRD Directive on sustainability reporting represents an opportunity
for the ATM Group to consolidate and communicate its role as a leader in sustainable mobility.
Through an innovative and responsible business model, the company is not only able to meet
regulatory requirements, but also actively contributes to the ecological transition, promoting
a more sustainable future for all its stakeholders.
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1.2.4 Our People

At ATM, people are one of the fundamental pillars of the sustainability policy which is an
integral part of the company's business and at the heart of the mobility concept. The Company
is strongly committed to promoting a positive working environment and building corporate
policies that value the individual and diversity. The 2023- 2025 plan aims, in fact, at developing
new skills, as well as strengthening the ability to attract talent and ensure its continued growth.

The ATM Group's workforce at 31 December 2024 totalled 10,623 employees (10,331 at 31
December 2023).

Type of contract 31.12.2023 New hires Leavers _

Managers 38 i} {8} 40
Managers/middle managers 440 51 (26} 465
Office workers 1,010 156 |84} 1,0E2
Blue-collars 8,843 a17 {7.24) 9,036
Tatal 10,331 1,134 {842) 10,623

During 2024, the ATM Group continued to invest in enhancing human capital through an
intensive recruitment programme, with the aim of further increasing the overall value of the
organisation and strengthening internal structures. More than 720 new employees were hired
at the Group's Italian companies, the highest recruitment figure recorded in recent years,
exceeded only in 2009.

Forty-five per cent of recruitments mainly concerned travelling personnel, more than half of
which were line drivers, in response to the persistent shortage of drivers in the local public
transport sector which also affected ATM. This shortage is particularly acute in urban areas and
large centres, where the demand for public transport services is constantly increasing. On the
other hand, about 25 per cent of the new hires were in the maintenance department, reflecting

the continuous focus on improvement and operational efficiency.

Confirming the Group's commitment to ensuring the stability and professional growth of its

people, more than 61% of recruitments were made under permanent contracts.

Finally, it should be noted that out of the total number of new hires, 17% are of the female
gender, in line with the Group's commitment to promoting inclusiveness and gender equality.
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1.3 Main achievements in 2024

1.3.1 ATM Group's economic, capital and financial highlights

2024 2023 2022
Revanuas and olhar opedating incomss 1,161.3 1,087.3 10915
Opersting costs and olher charges {1.061.2) {1,022.2) (B78.2)
EBITDA 1001 781 113.3
% on Ravenuas and olfer mncome ™ % T 10%
Operaling resull a8 11.2) 3.0

% on “Rovenues and otber noome™ 1% {1%) 3%
et result a8 0B 185

% on "Rovenues and otber noome™ 0.5% 0.1% 1%

Sundry révenues
14.33%

Parking Spaces,
Parks,
Removal 2, T6%

FUFE) 03 ez
Froperty, plant ani equipment
Inlangible assets 11262 1,160.4 1.205.8
Rights of use on eased assels
Met squity 1,776.48 1735 14773
Nat financial position 83 85,7 [36.4)
Investmants 1182 a4 856
2024 i 2022
RCH 1% 10.6%) 0%
Ned Invested Capdal 1.545.2 14860 1,376.6
Cipevating result 14,8 (1.2 1.0
ROE G.5% o.1% 1.3%
Nel aguily 1.178.8 19755 11773

a8 153

el result 58
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Comparability of data and alternative performance indicators and definitions

Comparability of data

As indicated in the Explanatory Notes to the Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
as of 31 December 2024, to which reference should be made, the estimation and valuation
criteria are the same as those used for the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31
December 2024, though adjusted and supplemented, where appropriate, with the new
amendments and standards that came into effect in the period, as detailed in the specific
paragraph of the Notes.

Alternative performance measures and definitions
The Report on Operations and the annual consolidated and separate financial statements

include economic and financial measures that are used by Management to monitor the Group's
economic and financial performance. These measures are not defined or specified in the
regulations on financial disclosure. Since the composition of these measures is not regulated
by the applicable accounting standards, the criteria for their determination applied by
Management may not be homogeneous with those adopted by other groups and therefore not
comparable. The Alternative Performance Measures are constructed exclusively from
historical accounting data and are determined in accordance with the Guidelines on Alternative
Performance Measures issued by ESMA on 5 October 2015 (2015/1415) as per CONSOB
Communication No. 92543 dated 3 December 2015 and the "ESMA Guidelines on Alternative
Performance Measures (APMs)" dated 17 April 2020.

In this Report on Operations, the following Alternative Performance Measures are
represented:

e Gross Operating Margin (EBITDA): it is equal to the difference between "Total revenues
and other operating income" and "Total expenses and other operating charges" and
can be directly inferred from the Consolidated Income Statement, supplemented by
the Explanatory Note. However, this indicator is not defined by IFRS accounting
standards; therefore, it may not be homogeneous and comparable with those reported
by other groups.

e GOP margin: it is calculated as the ratio of GOP to total "Revenues and Other Operating
Income”.

e Operating profit: it represents the "Operating profit" that can be directly inferred from
the Consolidated Income Statement.

e Margin on Operating Profit: it is calculated as the ratio of Operating Profit to total
"Revenues and Other Operating Income".

e Underlying Alternative Performance Measures: the annual results and their comparison
with the comparison year may include unusual elements (which will not be repeated in
the future) or unrelated to operating performance, which significantly and

10
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inconsistently affect the results of the Group and the Company ATM S.p.A over time,
generating effects that may not allow for a correct interpretation of the Group and the
Company’s normalised profitability in the year, compared to its normalised profitability
of the previous year and future years, thus limiting the informative value of the
condensed consolidated comparative Income Statement and the consolidated
comparative Income Statement prepared in accordance with IAS 1. These components
are highlighted in the paragraphs "Comments on the ATM Group's economic and
financial results" of this Report on Operations.

Investments: they represent all the investments disclosed under "Property, plant and
equipment" and "Intangible assets" of the annual Consolidated Financial Statements.
Total Financial Debt: it is determined, as required by ESMA Guideline 32-382-1138, as
the sum of net current financial indebtedness and non-current financial indebtedness,
both including financial payables for leases under IFRS 16. "Net current financial
indebtedness" is the algebraic sum of cash, cash equivalents, current financial assets
(such as securities held for trading) and current financial debt.

Alternative performance measures

The Issuer uses certain economic, financial and other indicators to assess the performance of

the Group and the ATM S.p.A. Company. ("Alternative Performance Measures" or "APM").

The Alternative Performance Measures identified by the management are described and

defined below:

Adjusted Profit/(Loss): this is an indicator of operating performance, calculated as
adjusted Profit/(Loss) in presence, during the period under analysis, of certain special
or one-off gains and losses (as described below). In the year under review, the special
or one-off gains and losses that are excluded from the calculation of the adjusted
Profit/(Loss) were taken from the Consolidated and Separate Income Statement and
consist of certain non-recurring events that individually or collectively are considered
as not representative of the Group's and ATM S.p.A.'s business performance;

Adjusted EBITDA: is an indicator of operating performance, calculated as Profit/(Loss)
for the year plus income taxes, net income of companies accounted for using the equity
method, net financial Income (Expenses), depreciation and amortisation, impairment
of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and rights of use of leased assets,
less capital grants for plant, adjusted for certain special or one-off gains and losses (as
described below) for the reporting period;

Adjusted EBITDA margin: this is calculated as the EBITDA adjusted for the reporting
period and is divided by the revenues and other operating income for that period;
Adjusted EBIT: an indicator of operating performance, calculated as Profit/(Loss) for the
year plus income tax, net income of companies accounted for using the equity method
and Net Financial Income (Expense), adjusted for certain special or one-off gains and
losses (as described below), for the reporting period;

11
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Adjusted EBIT margin: calculated as EBIT adjusted for the reporting period divided by
revenue and other operating income for the period;

Investments: calculated as the aggregate increase in intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment in the consolidated and separate financial statements.
Management also monitors and analyses investments taking into account their purpose
and specifically (i) cyclical maintenance of existing property, plant and equipment (fleet
and premises) and (ii) capital expenditure related to product development
(modernisation and upgrading of plant and infrastructure, new technologies for
payments and information dissemination);

Net financial debt: indicates the ability to meet obligations of a financial nature. It is
calculated, as required by ESMA Guideline 32-382-1138, as the sum of the values for
short-term and long-term financial debt items (gross financial debt, including financial
debt for leasing contracts as per IFRS 16), net of cash and cash equivalents.

The above APM have been calculated and used in this document because the Group and ATM
S.p.A. believe that:

net financial debt provides a better assessment of the overall level of indebtedness,
capital strength and debt repayment capacity;

investments provide a better assessment of the overall level of investment;
performance measures relating to adjusted EBITDA, adjusted EBITDA margin, adjusted
EBIT, adjusted EBIT margin and adjusted Profit/(Loss), as well as adjusted
configurations, analyse business performance and provide a better comparison of
results; these indicators are also generally used for the evaluation of company
performance.

An explanation of the relevance of each of the Alternative Performance Measures, as well as a

reconciliation of them with more comparable indicators calculated and presented in

accordance with IFRS, is provided in this document.

Management believes that APMs provide useful information for investors, as they facilitate the

identification of significant operational trends and financial parameters.

For a correct understanding of APMs, please note the following:

12

APMs are based on the historical data of the Group and of ATM S.p.A. (to 31 December
2024 and 31 December 2023);

APMs are not derivatives of IFRS principles and, since they are derived from the
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements prepared in accordance with IFRS, are
not subject to audit;

APMs should not be considered as a substitute for the indicators required by IFRS;
APMs must be read together with the financial information of the Group and ATM
S.p.A. taken from the consolidated and separate financial statements for the years
ending 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023;
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since they are not derived from IFRS, the definitions used in relation to APMs may not
be standardised with those adopted by other companies and are therefore not
comparable;

APMs and the definitions used herein are consistent and standardised for all periods
for which financial information is included herein.

13
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1.3.2 Operational Highlights — Italy

TOTAL NETWOHREK !

Territory served (km#)

Municipalities served

METRO NETWORK

656 Passengers carried {min}
46 Em travelled fmiln vehicle*km)

Number of lines

Network length (km) =

5 Vehicle fleet (tractors and carriages) 4
111.3

System length (km)a 245.4
CAR NETWORK

Mumber of lines 137 Vehicle fleet 1236
Network ]Eﬂgﬂ] (km) = 1,065.0  Average age of fleet in use {years) 7.3
TRAM NETWORK

Number of lines 17 Vehicle fleet 4 484
Network length (km) = 157.0

System length {km) 7 970

TROLLEYEUS NETWORK

Number of lines 4 Vehicle fleet + 12
Network length (km) = 38.8

Svstem length (km) 7 BsH

*Data refer to the service provided by ATh in the Metropoiitan City of Milan

2] Netwark iength iz defined as the sum of the lengths in the operating axle of individual lines

3) Kilometres of operational lines and overhead network are taken into account

4) Vehicles availoble
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SERVICES SUPPLIED IN THE METROPOLITAN CITY OF MILAN, THE PROVINCES OF
MONZA AND BRIANZA, BERGAMO AND LECCO

TEITitD['j,F gerved {}Cmﬂj 055 Number of lines 24

Municipalities served 549 Network length arra
(km) =

Passengers carried (min) 1.7 Vehicle fleet 154

Km travelled (min) 7.7

CAR PARKS AND PARKING SPACES

Car parks Parking spaces
Numher a4 Parking spaces 110,771
Parking spaces 17488
Avresses 5.645.730

COMO - BRUNATE FUNICULAR

RAILWAY
Network length (k) 1.1 Km travelled 500,420
Passengers carried (min) 1.3

CASCINA GOBBA - H. SAN RAFFAELE MINIMETRO*

Network length {km) o7 Km travelled 30,048

Passengers carried (min) 0.4

VARESE VELLONE - S, MARIA DEL MONTE FUNICULAR RAILWAY

Network length {km) 0.4 Km travelled 12,960
Passengers carvied (miln) .04

ARGEGNO-PIGRA CABLE CAR

Network length (km) L1 Km travelled 0,160

Passengers carried (min) .02
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1.3.3 Operational Highlights - Abroad

COPENHAGEN METRO
Territory served (km?2) 162 Number of lines 4
Network length
Municipalities served 3 . 30.5
(km)
Passengers carried (min) 124.7  Vehicle fleet 82
Km travelled {min) 34.6
THESSALONIKI METRO
Territury served {km 2) 19 Mumber of lines 1
Municipalities served 1 Network IEHEth (km) = 8.1
Passengers carried fmin) 1.3 Vehicle fleet 18
0.7

16

Km travelled (min)
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1.4 Company Structure as at 31 December 2024

ATM S.p.A. (hereinafter the “Company” or the “Parent Company”, wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Municipality of Milan, it is the parent company of the Azienda Trasporti Milanesi Group

ATM 5.P.A. l

100% 100%
CITYUNK 5.R.L. - Smart
GESAM S.R.L Mohility by AT
A CNHME FOmRgE e Smare Moty
100% 31.53%

MORD EST TRASPORT) 5.R.L

I SPV LINEA M4 S.P.A, I

Aefiovhal WA LrUCE af
LPT ."l.l".;l:.'l—l nf Mfetro & fine
2.6% 45% 20%
CONSORZID 5.8.E. rn.ngl:é.zlm._uus
fWiomagerant af wiechom Cama Funcuiar
hkgtinng Spsfem Aeiiveiny Miragerment
21% J6.18% 9r 27N
BOVIBUS S.R.L RAIL DIAGNOSTICS S.0.A,
Regiomal e tueirk and
s frastructure Mamienionce
51% 0%
. THERR 3.4 FULLGREEN CONSORTILM
Metnecureriafthe 4 00 B o i fsiam ol
et M controd -.--.,r ’
51% 0%
METRO 5 5.P.A.
INTERNATIONAL METRO R
SERVICE 5. R
100%

METRO SERVICE AYS
Moo g e et of §iw

Copenbogen Metry

LEGEND

(the "Group" or the "ATM Group") and manages and coordinates its subsidiaries pursuant to
Article 2497 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code. The Company's registered office is at Foro
Buonaparte 61, Milan. In this document, ATM Group, Group or ATM means the set of
companies included in the scope of consolidation represented below:
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Subsidiaries and their activities:

CityLink S.r.l.- Smart Mobility by ATM ("City Link"): incorporated on 9 October 2010 as
ATM Servizi Diversificati S.r.l., in 2021, the Shareholders’ Meeting changed its name to
"CityLink S.r.I. - Smart Mobility by ATM" and changed its corporate purpose in order to
reflect its new activity in the sector of Smart Mobility, dedicated to the development of
solutions for an increasingly sustainable, inclusive and innovative mobility. At the same
time, the governance was updated from a Sole Director to a Board of Directors. City
Link is a wholly owned subsidiary of ATM S.p.A.

GeSAM S.r.l. ("Gesam"): incorporated on 22 December 2005, it is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ATM S.p.A. and provides consultancy services in the insurance sector,
including expert advice aimed at investigating and settling claims, excluding insurance
brokerage.

International Metro Service S.r.l. ("InMe"): incorporated on 12 April 2007, it is 51%
owned by ATM S.p.A. It is engaged in the management of passenger and freight
transport services, with related planning and operational organisation activities, for the
performance of contracts for the operation and maintenance of metro systems.
International Metro Service S.r.l. wholly owns Metro Service A/S, a company
incorporated under Danish law that operates the Copenhagen Metro.

Nord Est TrasportiS.r.l. ("NET"): incorporated on 5 December 2007, it is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of ATM S.p.A. and operates passenger, goods and information transport
services, with related planning and operational organisation activities, as well as
transport and mobility services in the Metropolitan City of Milan, the Province of Monza
and Brianza, Bergamo, Lecco and the Municipality of Monza.

Rail Diagnostics S.p.A. ("Rail Diagnostics"): incorporated on 31 October 2006, it is
97.27% owned by ATM S.p.A. and is engaged in the design, construction, maintenance
and integrated diagnostics of metro-tramway installations and control systems.
THEMA S.A. ("Thema"): incorporated on 25 September 2023, it is 51% owned by ATM
and 49% owned by Egis Project S.A.S. On 4 October 2023, THEMA S.A. signed with the
contracting station ELLINIKO METRO S.A. the public-private partnership contract for the
operation and maintenance of the Thessaloniki metro network awarded through the
public tenderl in which ATM participated together with Egis Project S.A.S. The duration
of the contract is 11 years. The call for tenders required the creation of a special
purpose vehicle in the legal form of a 'societa anonima' (limited company) under Greek
Law No. 4548/2018 corresponding to the 'societa per azioni' (joint-stock company)
under Italian law, endowed with legal personality and patrimonial autonomy vis-a-vis
the shareholders.

! International Tender Based on the Open Procedure for the Conclusion of a PPP Contract concerning
the Operation and Maintenance of Thessaloniki Metro Network
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Associated Companies:

Co.Mo. Fun&Bus S.c.a r.l.: incorporated on 9 June 2006, ATM S.p.A. holds 20% of its
share capital. The company supports the Local Public Transport service in the
Municipality of Como and the management of the Como-Brunate funicular railway.
Full Green Consortium: established on 5 August 2021, it promotes collaboration
between consortium members to implement sustainable mobility and digitisation
projects, focusing on the transition to zero-emission vehicle fleets, energy savings and
efficiency, decarbonisation and improved air quality. On 4 October 2022, the
Shareholders' Meeting approved the adhesion of Cotral S.p.A. and AMTS S.p.A,,
redefining ATM S.p.A.'s shareholding to 30% of the Consortium Fund.

Consorzio S.B.E.: Established on 28 January 2015, ATM S.p.A. holds 45% of the share
capital directly, and 2.6% indirectly through its subsidiary Nord Est Trasporti S.r.l. and
2.1% through its associated company Movibus S.r.l. The Consortium manages the
central platform of the electronic ticketing system and the clearing of the accounting
flows of tickets.

Metrofil S.c.a r.l. in liquidation ("Metrofil"): incorporated on 2 April 2009, ATM S.p.A.
holds 25.44% of the share capital. The company was established to fulfil the obligations
arising from a contract for the design and construction of the trolleybus public transport
system for the EUR-Tor de Cenci and EUR Laurentina-Tor Pagnotta corridor, entered
into with Roma Metropolitane S.r.l. Having fulfilled its corporate purpose, the Company
was put into liquidation as resolved by its shareholders' meeting on 18 May 2022.
Metro 5 S.p.A. ('Metro 5' or 'M5'): established on 5 June 2006, ATM S.p.A. holds 20% of
the share capital. The company is engaged in design, expropriation, works
management, execution of civil works and technological works, supply of rolling stock
and management of Metro line 5 and its possible extensions.

Movibus S.r.l. ('"Movibus'): incorporated on 15 May 2008, ATM S.p.A. holds 26.18% of
the share capital. The company operates in the Local Public Transport sector where it
operates Lot 6 of the Milan West provincial sub-network.

SPVLinea M4 S.p.A. ("Metro 4 "or "M4"): incorporated on 16 December 2014, ATM
holds 31.53% of the company's shares, purchased on 20 December 2023, in accordance
with the Municipal Council Resolution of 14 December 2023 and based on the
agreement with the company's private shareholders. The company's purpose, under
concession from the Municipality of Milan, is the construction and maintenance of
Milan's metro line 4 and the provision of related public transport services.

Share capital structure

ATM S.p.A.'s share capital of EUR 700,000,000 consists of 70,000,000 shares with a unit value
of EUR 10 and is wholly owned by the Municipality of Milan.
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Changes in Group Structure

On 18 May 2022, the shareholders' meeting of Metrofil S.c.a r.l. in liquidation, a company in
which ATM S.p.A. holds 25.44% of the share capital, resolved to definitively liquidate the
company and agreed on the plan for the distribution and simultaneous reimbursement of its
paid-up share capital. As at 31 December 2024, the company was still registered with the
Chamber of Commerce.

1.5 The significant events of 2024
Italy

Extension of services

May - ATM introduces RicaricaMi, the new rechargeable ticket that will replace the old
magnetic stripe tickets, usable until 30 June 2025. The new ticket allows up to 30
journeys to be recharged on a single medium at no extra cost, helping to reduce paper
waste. To raise awareness, the 'Riduci. Riusa. RicaricaMi’ (Reduce. Reuse. Recharge)
campaign was created, which through a video tutorial and a leaflet, supports and
informs customers about the new ticket.

May - ChiamaBus is launched, the on-demand bus service created and managed by ATM
which, on an experimental basis, the Agenzia per il Trasporto Pubblico Locale della Citta
Metropolitana di Milano, Monza e Brianza, Lodi e Pavia and the Municipality of Milan,
in agreement with the Municipalities of Peschiera Borromeo, Segrate and Vimodrone,
have decided to implement and integrate with the normal scheduled service in order
to meet the needs of citizens and offer an increasingly widespread network.
ChiamaBus, which can be booked via app and phone number, also operates at times
not covered by regular buses, including weekends.

October - The M4 automatic line (15 km) connecting Linate Airport to San Cristoforo
station in 30 minutes comes into operation. It has 47 trains and offers 6 interchange
stations with other metro lines and railways. The municipality, in agreement with the
municipalities, has updated and extended the surface lines in order to create new
correspondences with the stations. The opening of the new line was also possible
thanks to the contribution of the ATM Group, which participated as a partner,
generating positive effects for the entire Group and its stakeholders.

December - inauguration of the first 3 Smart Hubs in Molino Dorino, Rogoredo and
Cassiodoro. The new car parks offer greater usability and security and are equipped
with additional features (e.g. lockers, micro-mobility, laundry, etc.) to increase the
range of services offered to customers.

Infrastructure Renewal

During 2024, ATM continued with the renovation of its tram and metro infrastructure,
especially in strategic areas of the city, also with the aim of increasing customer and public
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satisfaction in Milan (e.g. through the installation of noise barriers on the M2 Cimiano-
Crescenzago section). Throughout the course of the work, customers and passengers were
always informed in good time and through numerous channels about any changes or
substitutions of service.

Fleet renewal

The first of 21 new energy-efficient trains for the M1 arrives at the Precotto depot: new design,
total accessibility of carriages, video surveillance system with real-time image display from the
operations room, silent running, LED lighting, air conditioning systems. The trainsets are bi-
directional, consisting of six carriages that can carry up to 1,200 passengers, and have been
designed with a particular focus on the environment, starting with the materials that ensure
high levels of recyclability at the end of their life.

Customer initiatives

The new Official ATM App went live, which, in addition to more user-friendly graphics and
features, provides for digital subscription, usable by both new and old subscribers in possession
of a physical card. The new app simplifies the use of the service for customers in an increasingly
integrated and 'omnichannel' perspective.

Sustainable mobility

Through the “Amo Troppo Milano” (I love Milan too much) campaign, ATM promotes the use
of public transport for greater environmental sustainability and communicates its commitment
to reducing pollution through its plan to renew its fleet with electric vehicles and to source
energy from renewable sources. In May, ATM participated in the NME Next Mobility Exhibition,
a biennial event dedicated to solutions, technologies, means and policies for an integrated,
innovative and sustainable mobility system, to promote the company's expertise and know-
how on the theme of electric and sustainable mobility.

Diversity & Inclusion

The Gender Pay Gap was reduced to 3%, while with regard to the Gender Balance, women in
the company in 2024 reached 10.5% (40% leadership team, 30% staff, 4% in the leadership
staff): in 2002, it was 4%. In the last 10 years the number of women in companies has tripled
and 1in 5 hires is a woman.

ATM has also conducted a gap analysis on governance, policies, procedures, processes and
measures required by international standards, in view of the UNI/PDR 125 Gender Equality
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Certification that the company intends to obtain. The analysis also included the topic of Alias
Careers.

Social sustainability and solidarity

ATM is engaged in numerous activities with the aim of creating value for as many people as
possible. Activities in 2024 included, for example, the 'Bus degli Angeli' (The Bus of Angels),
initiative for the homeless in Milan, which offered hot meals, drinks, clothing, blankets and
qualified assistance to the needy by bus on weekday evenings. Support continues to be given
to the initiative 'Pari - insieme contro la violenza di genere' (Equal - together against gender
violence), of which ATM is a founding partner, which aims to create a culture that prevents
gender violence through the valorisation of corporate best practices and raising awareness on
the issue. Finally, support for Ukraine continues through the donation of 37 buses to various
Ukrainian local authorities.

Abroad
New metro openings

Copenhagen: The extension of the self-driving M4 line is inaugurated with the opening of five
new stations. It represents an important strategic junction that improves connections between
the centre and the neighbourhoods, linking the south to the port in the northern part of the
city. The transport service operated in Denmark confirms the company's role as the second
largest public transport player in the country and the strategic importance of the Danish
infrastructure in the Group's development plan.

Thessaloniki: Greece's first automatic metro was inaugurated, managed by the ATM Group
through the company Thema. The line, 10 km long with 13 stations, connects the city from east
to west in 18 minutes and is served by 18 trains with a frequency of about 3 minutes.
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Corporate Governance Report

2.1 Foreword

Given its nature as a fully public-controlled company and its role for all its stakeholders, ATM
is subject to specific disclosure obligations as a result of it becoming a Public Interest Entity
(PIE), as provided for under Article 123-bis of Legislative Decree no. 58/1998 (TUF-
Consolidated Law on Finance) with regard only to the information required by paragraph 2
letter b), and avails itself of the option provided for in paragraph 5 of the same article. ATM
became a Public Interest Entity (PIE) pursuant to Article 16 (1) (a) of Legislative Decree no.
39/2010, following the issuance of the bond and the listing of the related securities on
Euronext Dublin in August 2017.

ATM's Corporate Governance structure concretely expresses the rules and methods by which
the corporate strategy is defined, as well as the decision-making processes and means for
achieving and measuring results against the objectives set for the pursuit of sustainable
success. The system is based on a regulatory framework that integrates both the laws and
regulations in force and the internal rules adopted by the Company, which can guarantee an
effective balance between responsibilities and powers and a correct balance between
management and control.

ATM's Corporate Governance Report is divided into four sections: a first section dedicated to
the Administration, Management and Control Bodies; a second section dedicated to the
guiding principles defined in ATM's Code of Ethics and Conduct Guidelines a third section
dedicated to the model of Corporate Governance; a fourth section dedicated to the Internal
Control and Risk Management System.

Please note, with reference to the entry into force of Legislative Decree no. 14 of 12 January
2019, namely the "Corporate crisis and insolvency code", it is underlined that ATM and its
subsidiaries fall within the exclusion cases provided for by the Decree; however, in accordance
with the obligations set forth in Article 2086 (2) of the Italian Civil Code introduced by the
aforementioned Decree, it has activated a monitoring process for the prior identification of
any economic - financial imbalances.
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2.2 Management and Control Bodies

Chairperson

Chief Execulive Officer

Board members in office

Chairperson

Standing Auditors

Alternaie Auditors

Gioia Maria Ghezzi
Arrigo Giana

Fietro Galli

Alessia Maria Mosca
Bruno Pavesi
Alessandra Oppio

Ottorino Passariello

Salvatore Rino Messina
Antonella Andreina Conti
Stefano Brambilla
Monica Mannino

Eleonora Jolanda Negruzzi

Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.

The current Board of Directors consists of seven members and remains in office until the

approval of the Annual Report 2025. Five members were appointed at the Shareholders'
Meeting on 27 April 2023 and two members at the Shareholders' Meeting on 18 September

2024.

1. The current Board of Statutory Auditors was appointed by the Shareholders' Meeting
on 29 September 2022 and will remain in office until the approval of 2024 Financial

Statements.

2. Asaresult of the organisation becoming a Public Interest Entity pursuant to Legislative
Decree 39/2010, on 9 November 2017, the Shareholders' Meeting resolved to appoint
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Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. for a nine-year term expiring upon approval of the 2025
Financial Statements.

3. As provided for in Article 16 of ATM S.p.A.'s Bylaws and pursuant to Article 2449 of the
Italian Civil Code, the Municipality of Milan has the right to directly appoint a number
of Directors proportional to its shareholding.

The appointment procedure is governed by the "Regulation on the guidelines and procedures
for the appointment, designation and revocation of the Municipality's representatives in
bodies, companies, institutions and investee companies"”, approved by Municipal Council
Resolution No. 11 of 29 March 2012 as subsequently amended and supplemented, to which
reference is made. Moreover, with resolution no. 91 of 14 December 2023, the Municipal
Council resolved to amend ATM S.p.A.'s Bylaws to ensure the better operation of its bodies
and a more effective corporate action in the development of new corporate initiatives, both in
Italy and abroad. The amendments to the Statute increased the number of board members
from five to seven to facilitate more effective management and allow for the establishment of
internal board committees providing proactive and advisory functions to assist the collegial
body in specific areas of activity. On 18 September 2024, the Shareholders' Meeting appointed
the directors Alessandra Oppio and Ottorino Passariello. Subsequently, on 19 December 2024,
the Board of Directors established three Committees: Audit, Risk Control, Governance and
Related Party Transactions Committee, the Appointments and Remuneration Committee and
the Sustainability Committee.

Pursuant to Art. 15 of ATM S.p.A.'s Bylaws, the Shareholders' Meeting determines the
remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors according to their institutional duties
and responsibilities, such as not to affect their autonomy of judgement. Such a resolution is
valid for the subsequent financial years until otherwise determined by the Shareholders'
Meeting. The remuneration of Directors holding special offices in accordance with the Bylaws
is determined by the Board of Directors. For more details, see note "39. Remuneration of
Directors and Statutory Auditors” of ATM S.p.A.'s Explanatory Note.

With the exception of the Chief Executive Officer, the current Board of Directors of ATM S.p.A.
is composed of three out of five independent directors, in addition to the Chairperson.

The Chairperson of the Board of Directors, Gioia Maria Ghezzi, also holds the following
positions:

e EDP Renewables: Member of the Board of Directors;
e Ternium S.a.: Member of the Board of Directors;

e Magic Land S.p.A.: Member of the Board of Directors;
e Sirti S.p.A.: Member of the Strategic Committee.
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Board members Alessia Maria Mosca, Pietro Galli and Bruno Pavesi, in addition to their current
position at ATM, hold the following corporate offices:

e Director Alessia Maria Mosca is a member of the Board of Directors of Crédit Agricole
Paris;

e Director Pietro Galli is a Managing Partner of the company Cinque G S.r.l., Vice-
President of the company Uteco Converting S.p.A., Chief Executive Officer of the
company T39 S.p.A., Managing Director of the company Isola Longa S.r.l., as well as a
member of the Board of Directors of the companies Dea Capital Alternative Funds SGR
S.p.A., Finalter Srl, Quaestio Holding S.a., Overit S.p.A., Engineering - Ingegneria
Informatica S.p.A.;

e Board member Bruno Pavesi is a member of the Board of Directors of listed companies
(SIT Group) and unlisted companies (De Cecco, Febo), the Chairperson of Ariston Cavi
and the Director of Fondazione Accademia Teatro alla Scala.

The CEO of ATM S.p.A. is a member of the Board of Directors of ATAC S.p.A., Vice President of

Agens S.p.A. and member of the Board of Directors of the Full Green Consortium.

2.3 Code of Ethics

Transparency, ethics/correctness, fairness, quality of community life and a continuous search
for excellence are just some of the guiding principles considered by ATM in adopting a
governance structure that is appropriate to its nature, size and operational structure. These
principles are articulated in value areas aimed at guiding the actions of people working for
ATM.

The values which the Group recognises as fundamental in the performance of its business and
the conduct guidelines, and which it shares at all levels of the organisation, are set out in the
Charter of Values and Code of Ethics, introduced in 2007, as harmonised in 2018 with the
Group's Anti-Corruption and Transparency Model ("ACT Model"), voluntarily adopted by ATM.

The Code of Ethics sets out the relevant ethical and social responsibilities committing the
Corporate Bodies, the Management, and all stakeholders of the Group. The Code applies to
the parent company ATM S.p.A. and the Group companies subject to its management and
coordination and constitutes a fundamental element of the Internal Control and Risk
Management System together with the Group's Anti-Corruption and Transparency Model and
the Organisation, Management and Control Models pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001
of the parent company and its direct subsidiaries incorporated under Italian law.
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In 2024, the project continued to update and harmonise the entire Code of Ethics, which aims
to:

e strengthen and enhance corporate culture;
e encourage the alignment of behaviour inside and outside the organisation with its
values and principles;
e facilitate the relationship with stakeholders in order to better understand their
expectations;
e create the conditions to contribute to value creation also through the management
and reporting of ESG (Environmental, Social and Governance) and sustainability issues.
The project is based on the main regulations/guidelines, available standards, leading practices
in the field of business ethics and Corporate Social Responsibility and its first phase led to the
drafting of the ATM Group's "Conduct Guidelines" - operational as of July 2023 -
supplementing and illustrating the Code of Ethics. These Guidelines, also through ethical
dilemmas and practical cases, enable all recipients of the document to be aware of their
obligations and prohibitions when carrying out their activities and relations with ATM.

The second phase of the project, started as early as 2023, (so-called "Code of Ethics 2023
project") ultimately aimed at harmonising the Code of Ethics with the "Conduct Guidelines"
and other founding documents of the governance and internal control and risk management
system.

Finally, 2024 saw the adoption and dissemination of ATM's new Charter of Values, founded on
the principles of Passion, Care, Inclusion, Innovation and Sustainability. Various initiatives have
been organised to publicise and assimilate the new values, including a dedicated campaign and
mini-site, the roadshow at the company's premises, and the ATM Awards. In parallel,
considerable efforts have also been devoted to embedding, i.e. the application of values and
related behaviours to HR processes such as recruiting, onboarding and learning.
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2.4 The Corporate Governance Model

ATM is committed to following corporate governance best practices, comparing its Corporate
Governance model with the standards issued by major associations and represented in leading
practices in the field, promoting an adequate, effective and efficient Internal Control and Risk
Management System (ICRMS), calibrated and proportional to its specificities and risk profile,
in line with the Corporate Governance Code. Below is the structure of its governance bodies:

BODIES - ROLE

=
=
Municipality of Milan E = § Meating:
85
E = E a g » role of strategic guidelines of the Group
E d =
£
g -
-E' Wi d of Directors
e Co « hody of ordinary and
i E Board of Directors = & extraordinary administration
0 a0 » deliberation on transactions of
4= = particular importance
= v # handles the management and
o~ e control guidelines
E
= r R I e e bttt i
2 g X ' :
L]
< Chairperson of the 'S E = ! : Es X :
i TR '=E 5 ' 22 1 Chairperson '
o Board of Directors; o E ' EE \ | = supervises the implementation of the !
58 eEZ LI ps 1 directives and resolutions of the Board of
= i o E 8 4 - Directors and the Meeting -
120E 12 13 handles institutional relations i
S i J— 1 |
K ' i General Manager :
& ! ' = prdinary and extraordinary management |
= & Chief Executive Officer i % E i : and administration within the -
H (83 | prieeicmenain
=i | 5 i , = handies the organisational structure -
=5 ' § z | ' of the group, defines the management [
- 4 ' 5= - thoices ordered to the overall activities !
EYy 7 Nedses 1. - -QfATM S.p.A. and its subsidiaries _ _ _ _ _ _ |

Fr . Dperational management of the relevant
Organisational . Directorates according to the guidelines
Structure 1 issued by the General Manager

i

Managemeant and implementation in compliance

Group Companies with the guidelines of the Parent Company
: P pa under its management and coordination.
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ATM's Corporate Governance system, based on the principles of integrity, transparency and
fairness, defines clear rules for the implementation of strategic guidelines, thus supporting the
relationship of trust with stakeholders and contributing to sustainable success.

Within this system, the Parent Company exercises management and coordination activities by
pursuing - whilst fully respecting the management autonomy of each company - a unitary
management policy, through the application and integration of the rules, principles and values
that characterise the Group?.

Shareholders’
Meeting

Board of Auditing
Statutory Auditors Company

Board of Directors of

ATM 5.p.A. Internal Board Committees
Supervisory bodies of ATM Board of Directors of
and subsidiaries ATM's subsidiaries

Chief Executive Officer and

General Manager

Audit and Internal Control

The model, structured in the traditional form, attributes strategic management to the Board
of Directors of ATM S.p.A.; in addition, the Board of Directors is entrusted with the
performance of all appropriate actions for the implementation and achievement of the
corporate purpose, excluding only those which the law reserves for the Shareholders'
Meeting. The Board of Directors is then supported by the following Internal Board Committees
mentioned above:

e Audit, Risk Control, Governance and Related Party Transactions Committee, providing
proactive and advisory functions, in relation to the internal control and risk
management system and the approval of periodic financial and non-financial reports;

e Appointments and Remuneration Committee, providing proactive and advising
functions on appointments and remuneration matters;

2 These elements are duly regulated by the Group's Regulations.
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e Sustainability Committee with investigative, advisory and proactive functions in the
field of scenarios and sustainability by which the processes, initiatives and activities
aimed at overseeing the Company's commitment to sustainable development along
the value chain, aimed at the pursuit of sustainable success is meant.

ATM's Board of Directors has delegated part of its management responsibilities to the Chief

Executive Officer and Ge

Table 1. The Board of Directors of ATM S.p.A. at 31.12.2024 3

neral Manager.

Chairperson

Gioia Maria Ghezzi

Chief Executive
Officer

Giana Arrigo

Board members in office

Galli Pietro

Mosca Alessia Maria

Oppio Alessandra

Passariello Ottorino

Pavesi Bruno

Table 2. Composition (%) of ATM S.p.A.'s Board of Directors at 31.12.2024, by gender and age

Age group J Men Women Total J
30-50 0% 14% 14%

>50 57% 29% 86%

Total 57% 43% 100%

The Board of Statutory Auditors is ATM's controlling body and is responsible for supervising

compliance with the law and the Bylaws as well as compliance with the principles of good

governance and adequacy of the organisational structure.

3 The Board of Directors in its five-member composition was appointed by the Shareholders' Meeting
on 27 April 2023 and, on 18 September 2024, the Shareholders' Meeting increased the number of
directors to seven with the appointment of directors Alessandra Oppio and Ottorino Passariello. All

directors remain in office until the approval of the 2025 Financial Statements.
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Statutory auditing functions were assigned to the Auditing Company Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.
by the Shareholders' Meeting on 9 November 2017, for nine financial years from 2017 to 2025,
having the Company become a Public Interest Entity (PIE).

The Audit and Internal Control Department (hereinafter also DACI) works within this
corporate governance system. The DACI Director is not responsible for any operational area,
and reports hierarchically and functionally to ATM S.p.A.'s Board of Directors, as well as
administratively to ATM's Chairperson, maintaining a coordinating relationship with the CEO,
"in charge of establishing and maintaining the Internal Control and Risk Management System"
("Director in charge of the ICRMS") in a context of direct and continuous collaboration with the
Senior Management of the Group and its subsidiaries. At the same time, the DACI Department
benefits from a direct communication channel with the Group's Boards of Statutory Auditors,
and/or with the other Control Bodies of the Subsidiaries, and/or, where appointed, with the
Supervisory Bodies ('SBs') of the Parent Company and the Subsidiaries, both nationally and
internationally. This DACI organisational positioning ensures: (i) the independence of the
activity of audit (from the definition of the areas to the performance of the interventions and
the communication of the results); (ii) the direct interaction with the Chairperson, with the
CEO and with each director, as well as the entire Board of Directors and with the Board of
Statutory Auditors regarding areas of specific relevance, including issues of top management
responsibility; iii) the guardianship of the continuous constructive and collaborative
interaction with the Senior Management; iv) the direct access to persons, things, systems and

company information, when relevant to one's own actions.

The DACI Department verifies the suitability and operation of the ATM Group's Internal
Control and Risk Management System, both on an ongoing basis and in relation to specific
needs, by implementing an Audit Risk-Based and Integrated Dynamic Plan, approved
periodically by the Board of Directors of ATM S.p.A. for the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries. The Administrative Bodies of the Subsidiaries may request any additions from the
DACI Department, which DACI assesses and, if necessary, proposes updating the Plan to be
submitted for discussion and new approval by the Parent Company's Board of Directors.

The DACI Department operates in accordance with the globally recognised professional
standards set out in the International Professional Practices Framework - IPPF, issued by the
Institute of Internal Auditors - lIA, with current legislation. Since 2019, DACI has implemented
the QAIP Assurance and Quality Improvement Programme, defined within its own
methodology and executed in accordance with the Standards, obtaining in 2023 the first
certification of compliance through the external Management Assessment, to be carried out,
according to the Standards, at least every five years.

32



Corporate Governance Report

In light of the update to the professional Framework and Standards of reference
(“Framework”) of 9 January 2024, the DACI Department and its people worked, also through
appropriate specific training, for a timely transition to the new Standards in force as of January
2025. To this end, DACI updated its internal documents between 2024 and 2025 and, in
December 2024, the Board of Directors approved the new Internal Audit Charter in line with

the new Standards.

2024

PURPOS,

~

Glokbal
Internal Audit
Standards™

Source 1: 1I1A IPPF

Internal Auditing is an independent and objective assurance and advisory activity, aimed at
improving the effectiveness and efficiency of the organisation. It assists the organisation in
the pursuit of its objectives through a systematic professional approach, which generates

added value as it aims to assess and improve the processes of governance, risk managemer

and control.
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Internal Auditing enhances the organisation's ability to create value and maintain it
over time by providing the Board and management assurance, advisory, insights and
forecasts, in an independent, objective and risk-based manner.

Internal Auditing supports the organisation:

in achieving their goals;

in governance, risk management and control processes;
in decision-making and supervisory processes;

in building reputation and credibility with stakeholders;
in the ability to serve the public interest.

Internal Auditing is most effective when:

activities are performed by competent professionals, in accordance with the Global
Internal Audit Standards, which are defined in the public interest;

the Internal Audit function is independent and reports directly to the Board;

the Internal Auditors are free from any conditioning and are committed to making
objective assessments.

2.5 The Internal Control and Risk Management System

The Internal Control and Risk Management System (ICRMS) adopted by ATM consists of a set
of rules, procedures and organisational structures aimed at an effective and efficient
identification, measurement, management, monitoring and reporting of the main corporate
risks, in order to contribute to the sustainable success of the Group in the long term.

The ICRMS, which constitutes a fundamental and indispensable element of the ATM Group's
Governance, guarantees management in line with the corporate objectives defined by the
Board of Directors, the safeguarding of corporate assets, the effectiveness and efficiency of
corporate processes, the reliability of information provided to corporate bodies and the
market and compliance with laws, regulations and internal procedures.

This system is integrated into the more general organisational and corporate governance
structures and consists of the following key elements:
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e Governance, including the design of the Internal Control and Risk Management System
(ICRMS), and the evaluation of its adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency;

e actions and, therefore, the definition and periodic updating, implementation and
monitoring of the System, which include:

- the implementation of the guidelines of the Board of Directors;
- theidentification and management of business, process (including irregularities)
and strategic project risks;
- the definition and implementation of risk-mitigating controls on processes
under the responsibility of the various Process Owners;
e Assurance, i.e. independent and professional Internal Control and Risk Management
System audits conducted by the relevant control functions.

Each actor in the corporate governance structure has specific tasks and responsibilities
relevant to the said System; indeed, all employees maintain their own level of responsibility
for the adequacy, effectiveness and efficiency of the System in relation to their duties.
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The System, in line with the applicable regulations and inspired by the leading practices in the
field, assigns a clear position to all corporate functions within the three lines of responsibility,
ensuring effective coordination, in order to maximise the efficiency of the system itself. The
Audit and Internal Control, Enterprise Risk Management, Compliance and the other control
functions (see table above), formally established and regulated, collaborate with the Auditing
Company and the Supervisory Body to perform their duties, ensuring adequate policy sharing
with the Board of Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors.

Board of Directors Defines the guidelines of the internal control and: risk
Bﬂm’d IIEVEI management system in line with the company’s strategles and
annually assessas its adequacy and effectiveness

First level Second lewvel Third level
Identifies, assesses,
manages and manitors Dipect reports of Fumctions in Audit and Inpernal
the risks for which it is the Gk - risk charge af rigk Coantrol
responsible and identifies, L=lb L) moniaring ancd I}
proposes and implerments adequacy of

specific treatment actions controls
Baard of Dire

sustainable success of t

Lroup

The Coordination Board and Control Functions
Coordination Committee

—

The Coordination Board (CB), chaired by DACI, discusses the efficlency and operational status of processes, policles, procedures, controls

and alignment to internal and external regulations tar the sustainable swecess of the ATM Group, acrods the three Lines of Responsibility.

When anly the control functions meet, the Coordination Board (CB} is also called the Control Functions Coordination Committee [CCFC) and:

- Monitors the main risks in order 1o ensure thelr effective and effident handling

- Monitors compliance with the tmetable for taking measures to mitigate the main rigks

- Prowides support to the first line of responsibility in the definition and implementation of adequate management systems for the main risks
and related controds, always In compliance with the respective professional standards

2.5.1 Actors and tasks

The Parent Company's Board of Directors has defined the Guidelines of the Internal Control
and Risk Management System (ICRMS GL), last updated on 22 November 2021, which set out
the principles on the coordination and information flows between the various parties involved
in the internal control and risk management system, in order to maximise the efficiency of the
system itself, avoid duplication of activities or possible omissions and ensure that the tasks of
the control body are carried out effectively. The Guidelines also define the system's
governance model, and in particular the main roles, duties and responsibilities of the Bodies
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and Structures of the Parent Company and of the Group's Subsidiaries, as well as the methods
of collaboration and coordination.

The Board of Directors annually assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of the System with
respect to the company's characteristics and risk profile, and in 2024 considered the ATM
Group's organisational, administrative and accounting structure to be adequate for its current
size and business activities.

The Chief Executive Officer and General Manager, understood as the Body with a
Management Function, is responsible for the establishment and maintenance of the Internal
Control and Risk Management System and prepares measures to ensure and maintain the
effectiveness and efficiency of the System, through the understanding and integrated
management of all corporate risks. In particular, the Chief Executive Officer and General
Manager, on the one hand, handles the identification of the main corporate risks, taking into
account the characteristics of the activities carried out by the company and its Subsidiaries,
and periodically submits them to the Board of Directors for examination; on the other hand,
he/she implements the guidelines defined by the Board of Directors, taking care of the design,
implementation and management of the Internal Control and Risk Management System and
constantly verifying its adequacy and effectiveness.

The Board of Statutory Auditors, i.e. the body with control functions, also in its capacity as
"Internal Control and Audit Committee" pursuant to Article 19 of Legislative Decree no.
39/2010, performs the tasks assigned to it by law, the Bylaws and internal regulations and
monitors compliance with the law, regulations and the Bylaws, compliance with the principles
of proper administration and the adequacy, functionality and reliability of the organisational,

management and accounting structure.

The Supervisory Body ("SB") oversees the effectiveness and adequacy of the Organisation
Model pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 231/2001 (hereinafter also "Model 231") adopted by
the Parent Company, recommending necessary additions and/or adjustments to Top
Management. The same applies to the Supervisory Bodies of directly controlled companies
with their own Model under Decree 231.

Within the System, three lines of responsibility can be distinguished as follows:

e Third line: Audit and Internal Control

e Second line: Enterprise Risk Management, Compliance, Privacy and Data Protection,
Security Prevention and Environment and Quality, Cybersecurity;

e First line: Operational business functions

e Second and third lines together represent the Control Functions.
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Third and second line: control functions

Audit and Internal Control

The Group's Internal Audit verifies, on the basis of an integrated risk-based audit plan approved
periodically by the Board of Directors, that the internal control and risk management system
is functional, adequate and consistent with the guidelines defined by the Board of Directors
and the organisational development of the Group and the external regulatory framework.

In line with the Internal Audit Charter#, the Function operates in an independent and objective
manner, in accordance with the Professional Standards of reference, monitoring the regular
course of operations and the evolution of risks and assessing the completeness, adequacy,
functionality and reliability of the organisational structure and the other components of the
ICRMS and notifies the Corporate Bodies of possible and/or necessary improvements, also with
regard to the Risk Appetite Framework ("RAF"), the risk management process as well as the
tools for measuring and controlling risks. On the basis of the results of the checks carried out
and of the information flows actually received, the Internal Audit formulates, if necessary,
recommendations to the corporate structures, providing appropriate information to the
Group's Corporate Bodies and Supervisory Bodies, in line with the regulations in force.

Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)

Within the framework of the Internal Control and Risk Management System, an Enterprise Risk
Management system ("the ERM Model") has been adopted to foster and oversee the
integrated corporate risk management process for all ATM Group companies - in line with
national and international best practices, and in particular with the COSO®> ERM Framework
and 1SO 31000 and the COSO ERM WBCSD? reference models, with reference to sustainability
risks.

4The Internal Audit Charter, on the basis of the new Professional Standards of Internal
Auditing, is a formal document, which includes the Internal Audit Function Mandate and its
positioning within the organisation, the information flows, the scope of coverage, the types of
activities and other specifications..

5 Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission

6 World Business Council for Sustainable Development
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The Risk Management function, reporting directly to the Chief Financial Officer, is responsible
for the maintenance and continuous evolution of the Model, also in relation to the changing
operating context as well as the continuous updating of the reference regulations/models. This
integrated management and assessment process is governed by the Enterprise Risk
Management Guidelines (ERM Guidelines), approved by ATM's Board of Directors on 27
January 2020. The Guidelines apply to the ATM Parent Company and to the companies
controlled by it and subject to its management and coordination, suitably adapted to the
context of each of them. Moreover, complementary to the ERM Guidelines, the Risk Appetite
Framework Policy, approved by the Board of Directors on 28 January 2021, defines the general
principles of risk appetite, of risk response and the related escalation rules, representing a
functional management tool for the pursuit of strategic and operational objectives.

Risk management is an essential aspect of ATM's Corporate Governance in order to identify,
measure, manage and monitor significant risks so that they are compatible with the company's
strategic objectives in a logic of value creation in the medium to long term. In this regard, ATM
has adopted a structured and systematic approach to risk management based on the following
principles to:

e promote and disseminate ethical values and a culture of correct and transparent risk
management to all ATM personnel;

e conduct and manage all company activities with a view to risk prevention, where
possible, in compliance with the law, the Code of Ethics and company policies and
procedures;

e ensure effective, efficient and consistent risk management in all corporate processes,
in line with the company's strategic objectives and the guidelines of the Internal
Control and Risk Management System (ICRMS);

e ensure, by means of appropriate organisational, management and procedural systems,
that risks are effectively identified, assessed, managed, periodically monitored and
promptly reported;

e promote the continuous improvement of the risk governance system in accordance
with the evolution of the external environment, corporate strategies, and the interests
of stakeholders.

The Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Model helps to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of business processes with the main objective of safeguarding corporate assets.

The ERM Model provides for an integrated, across-the-board and dynamic risk assessment that
enhances existing management systems and supports the risk-based analyses required by
specific reference standards and regulations.
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The identification of the main risks and the safeguards put in place to manage them, the

assessment of their adequacy, and the identification of further plans to improve the control

system is carried out periodically. The risk assessment process is initiated and coordinated by

the Parent Company's Risk Management function and envisages the involvement of all

corporate structures through the Risk Owners who are responsible for identifying, assessing

and updating risk scenarios. The results of the evaluation and monitoring activities and the
related management strategies are periodically presented to the CEO and General Manager
and, subsequently, to the Board of Directors and are shared with the Internal Audit function,

which uses them when preparing the audit plan.
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The most valuable features of the adopted model are:
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e the across-the-board nature of the assessment of impacts, i.e. the assessment of
multiple impacts related to economic-financial, health and safety, reputational, service
disruption, operational efficiency, legal and Compliance issues, where applicable;

e the integration with the Dual Materiality process, comprising in turn the analysis of
Impact Materiality and Financial Materiality.

In 2024, work continued on improving the ERM system through actions aimed at strengthening
the periodic cross-functional sharing of mapped risks. These actions, also within the scope of
managerial committees set up to share the results of ERM assessment processes, facilitate the
sharing of information on specific risk factors, raise awareness and promote the dissemination
at an organisational level of a risk-based culture in the management of business processes and

projects.

In addition, in line with the company's corporate will and following the regulatory drive
deriving from the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) and the European
Sustainability Reporting Standards (ESRS) the ATM Group has embarked on the evolution of its
Framework of Enterprise Risk Management from an integrated perspective with respect to
sustainability and Climate Change management. A new process of identifying, assessing and
managing ESG impacts, risks and opportunities was defined, which took the form of the Double
Materiality exercise, which was accompanied by the definition of a new governance structure
and operating model, aimed at ensuring the smooth running of the process itself. In addition,
work has begun on the implementation of the Climate Change Risk Assessment model for the
analysis of potential physical hazards and transition risks/opportunities, derived from climate
change, following the classifications and normative references of the main international bodies
such as the IPCC and the guidelines provided by the TCFD.

Additionally, the Internal Control and Risk Management System was updated to include the
identification of possible risks related to sustainability reporting activities. For more
information on the identification of these risks and the activities put in place to guard against
them, see the Sustainability Document.

Reference is also made to the Sustainability Document with regard to how the identified

sustainability risks and opportunities are managed.

With regard to the risk areas identified and related to the Group's economic and financial
performance, please refer to the information contained elsewhere in this document.

Compliance

ATM's Compliance System is diffused and distributed among different actors, such as the
specialised Compliance Functions and the Control Functions dedicated to specific regulatory
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areas, including the Compliance Function which presides over and monitors certain regulatory
areas and carries out an overall coordination activity. This System consists of various elements
such as, for example, Compliance Governance, the legal inventory (inventory of relevant
legislation), the risk assessment of Compliance, training, management of reports on potential
cases of non-Compliance.

In particular, the Compliance Function supports the corporate structures in charge of
supervising specific regulatory areas in the definition of regulatory monitoring and non-
compliance risk assessment tools; it proposes and requests the adoption of suitable controls
and/or organisational and procedural measures aimed at ensuring adequate monitoring of
non-compliance risks; it verifies over time the effectiveness and correct application of the
controls and organisational and procedural measures defined, also in connection with the
development of special projects; it coordinates and supervises training and information
initiatives in the field of regulatory compliance, also in order to disseminate a corporate culture
based on the principles of honesty and fairness, and prepares adequate information flows to
the corporate bodies of the company and the other structures involved.

Privacy and Data Protection

The European Data Protection Regulation (GDPR - General Data Protection Regulation EU
2016/679), applicable since 2018, strengthened the management and protection of personal
data acquired by companies. The GDPR has introduced the role of the Data Protection Officer
(DPO), who supports the Data Controller and the Data Controller's delegates (Data Manager
companies) in the management of data so that they are processed with full protection of the
data subject (owner of the data) and in compliance with European and national privacy
regulations.

For ATM, which aims to increasingly become a data-driven company, it is essential to
constantly update processes, products and services in line with the changing regulatory
environment in terms of privacy, for these reasons it is imperative to have an adequate
structure in place to ensure the correct use of personal data, balancing individual privacy with
the Group's business needs.

Safety Prevention and Environment and Quality

The Safety Prevention and Environment and Quality function ensures the definition of quality,
occupational health and safety and environmental guidelines, in tune with the Group's
strategic guidelines and in full compliance with the mandatory standards and management
systems implemented thereby (e.g. 1ISO 9001, ISO 14001, I1SO 45001, etc.). It oversees the
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activities delegated to the Prevention and Protection Service Managers (RSPP), preparing
health and safety and environmental risk assessment documents, collaborating in the
identification of actions for the elimination or reduction of risk and the related training and
information programmes.

The function ensures the maintenance of certifications related to the Quality, Health and
Safety, Environment Management System and is responsible for planning and carrying out
QHSE "internal system audits" and determining the legal requirements of the scope of
responsibility. It also oversees, for the issues within its remit, all relations and communications
with the Supervisory Authorities (e.g. ATS, ARPA, Region, Metropolitan City and Provinces,
Municipalities, etc.) and the Workers' Safety Representatives and Certification Bodies.

Cybersecurity
The Cybersecurity function defines cyber defence policies and in particular:

e detects and monitors cybersecurity maturity;

e outlines short- and long-term cybersecurity strategies and policies, starting from the
detected state;

e implements programmes, conceives and implements processes to mitigate the so-
called cyber risks detected and shared at company level.

First line: Operational business functions

Operational structures are primarily responsible for the risk management and control process.
These structures must, in the course of their daily operations, identify, evaluate, monitor (so-
called "line monitoring"), mitigate and report risks arising from ordinary business activities, in
accordance with the risk management process and in compliance with applicable laws, internal
and external regulations, and the operating powers assigned to them, consistently with
business objectives weighted by the level of risk deemed acceptable by the governing body.

2.5.2 Governance Tools

In order to facilitate the proper implementation of its Corporate Governance system, as well
as the control over it, ATM adopts a number of tools that collectively guarantee the
effectiveness and efficiency of the System. In addition to the aforementioned ICRMS
Guidelines and ERM Guidelines, other instruments adopted by the Group are listed
below:Regulations, Policies and Operating Procedures
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ATM's regulatory system consists of a set of regulations, policies and operating procedures,
including:

e the Group's Regulation, which governs the Group's operating procedures and intra-
group relations and was updated in 2018 as a result of the evolution of its
organisational structure and of transparency and anti-corruption updates;

e the Rules for contract award, updated in June 2023, which govern the procedures for
awarding works contracts, the procurement of goods and service contracts for all
Group companies;

e the sales regulation, updated in December 2024, which governs the procedures
relating to the sale of goods, materials and services and the awarding of contracts for
the commercial exploitation of areas and spaces to ensure maximum economic return,
with a view to rationalising and efficiently managing the company's resources and
assets;

e Policies on taking specific business risks;

e the procedures and operating instructions, which describe and regulate the company's
processes and which ensure, among other things, compliance with the Management
System QHSE ISO 9001, 14001, 45001, the SA8000 Certification System and the
Transport Safety Management System.

The Coordination Board

The Coordination Board (hereinafter also referred to as "Board" or "CB") represents, within
the Internal Control and Risk Management System, an institutional moment for the sharing
and discussion of the main risk and control issues, areas of improvement and possible critical
issues, according to the roles and responsibilities of each participant and the architecture and
mapping of the Group's information flows in the Three Lines of Responsibility. As required, the
Control Functions, the Top Managers of the ATM Parent company and of the subsidiaries, as
well as other Directors and/or relevant persons for the topics specifically covered from time to
time, take part in the Board.

Chaired by the Director of Audit and Internal Control, the Board operates as the Control
Functions Coordination Committee (or 'CCFC') when meetings involve only the Control

Functions.
The Coordination Board aims to:

e Mitigate and manage the risk of insufficient, partial or misaligned information;
e Make systematic follow-ups and make informed decisions based on correct
information.

The coordination and exchange of reciprocal information flows between the various parties
involved in the Internal Control and Risk Management System maximises the efficiency of the
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system itself, avoids duplication and/or omission of activities and facilitates the effective
performance of the duties of Corporate and Supervisory Bodies.

The Organisation, Management and Control Model pursuant to Leg. Decree 231/2001 and
the Supervisory Body

One of the main governance tools implemented by ATM is represented by the Organisation,
Management and Control Models pursuant to Legislative Decree No. 231/2001 (also 'Models
231' or 'Models'), adopted by the parent company ATM S.p.A in 2008 and, subsequently, by
the subsidiaries Rail Diagnostics S.p.A. (2008) Nord Est Trasporti S.r.l. (2011), Gesam S.r.l.
(2011), CityLink S.r.l. (2019) and International Metro Service S.r.l. (2019). These Models are
periodically updated through risk assessment and gap analysis processes, in coordination with
the evolution of the Group's Anti-Corruption and Transparency Model ("ACT").

The periodic updating of the Models 231 considers:

e regulatory changes and internal organisational developments;

e an integrated Risk Assessment under Legislative Decree No. 231/01 and Anti-
Corruption, which identifies the company activities at greatest risk of the offences
referred to in Legislative Decree no. 231/2001, describes the potential conduct at risk
(including corruption) and prioritises the sensitive and instrumental activities
identified. The Risk Assessment is also integrated into the Group's ERM process;

e the need to ensure that the Model is increasingly accessible to its recipients;

e the establishment of control standards in relation to sensitive activities identified;

e the process of identifying how to manage financial resources in such a way as to prevent
offences;

e the management of information flows to and from the Supervisory Body and specific
obligations to inform the latter;

e adisciplinary system to penalise the violation of the provisions contained in the Models;

e atraining plan for employees and members of governance bodies (for Model 231, Anti-
Corruption and Business Ethics);

e communications to employees and other persons interacting with the respective
company.

The constituent elements of the ATM Group's Models 231 (represented below) are inspired by

leading practice, the Confindustria Guidelines and the evolution of majority jurisprudence and
are duly communicated both inside and outside the organisation in Models 231 - General Part.
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MODEL 231 _Zamr

SUSTAINABLE SUCCESS

The correct functioning of ATM's Model 231 is entrusted to ATM S.p.A.'s Supervisory Board,
which has autonomous powers of initiative and control, currently in office since February 2019
and reconfirmed for the three-year period 2022/2024. ATM's Supervisory Body is made up of
two members who are external to the company, chosen from academics and professionals
with proven expertise and experience in the issues of Legislative Decree No. 231/2001 and 1
internal member, identified as the Director of Audit and Internal Control.

In addition to ATM S.p.A.'s Supervisory Board, the Parent Company's Board of Directors
recommended the reconstitution of the Supervisory Boards of its Italian subsidiaries (Gesam
S.r.l., Nord Est Trasporti S.r.l.,, Rail Diagnostics S.p.A., CityLink S.r.l. - formerly ATM Servizi
Diversificati S.r.l. - and International Metro Service S.r.l.), which reconfirmed the previous
composition for the three-year period 2022/2024.

With the support of external consultants and the DACI Department, all the Supervisory Bodies
monitor the functioning of the respective 231 Models and, if necessary, recommend their
updating, ensuring that the contents of the Models are adequately communicated and the
subject of specific training. To this end, they use specific information flows and receive timely
briefings on the reports received and handled under the Whistleblowing process, with respect
to which they can ask for further details.

The Supervisory Bodies of the Parent Company and the directly controlled companies meet
periodically with the Control Bodies and the Group's Sole Auditor, in addition to providing a
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periodic report to their respective Management Bodies. They also approve, on an annual basis,
a coordinated and risk-based programme of 231/Anti-corruption supervisory activities.

The Anti-Corruption and Transparency Model

Since 2018, ATM has voluntarily adopted for itself and its subsidiaries a Group Anti-Corruption
and Transparency Model (hereinafter also referred to as the "ACT Model"). The Parent
Company identified the Anti-Corruption Representative ("ACR"), namely the Audit and Internal
Control Director, who works for the Company and all the Group's subsidiaries.

The ACT Model aims to imbue the Group's operations with the principles inspiring the rules on
transparency and anti-corruption and has the purpose of building a structured and organic
system of principles and controls that repudiates and prevents any form of corruption, through
the identification of specific and/or transversal activities exposed to the risk of corruption (or
instrumental to the same) and the related mitigation.

The ACT Model enables its recipients to be aware of their obligations as to what should be
done (compliance with procedures, reporting) and what should not be done (compliance with
prohibitions). These obligations have legal force and the application of a disciplinary and
sanctioning system, also specifically shared, is provided for in the case of non-compliance.

The ACT Model, in its latest version approved by the Board of Directors on 13 December 2021,
is published on the Company's institutional website. Employees and collaborators are notified
of the publication on the company intranet, so that they may take note of it and comply with
its provisions. For those who do not have access to the intranet, the documentation is made
available by alternative means and, upon request, by distribution by the hierarchical superior.
The ACT Model is also given to new employees joining the ATM Group, for the purpose of
acknowledgement and express acceptance of its contents.

The Group Anti-Corruption Contact Person works in synergy with the Supervisory Bodies and
promotes the efficiency and coordination of activities, carrying out audits, always within their
respective competences and from a third line perspective, within the framework of the Risk
Based Integrated Audit Plan and on areas sensitive to corruption risks and related prevention
protocols. Specifically, the ACR, through the structure (Audit and Internal Control - DACI
Department):

e monitors the adoption and effective implementation of the ACT Model by all those
involved in the Internal Control and Risk Management System through their respective
internal regulatory instruments and key safeguards to mitigate the risk of corruption;
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e promotes and supervises the training of the Group's personnel in ACT and monitors the
adequacy of specific training activities for employees working in sectors that are
particularly exposed to the risk of corruption;

e ensures, where necessary and in agreement with the Legal and Corporate Affairs
Department and/or the Compliance Function, the constant monitoring of anti-
corruption legislation and case law, the adoption of leading practices, promoting the
adaptation, updating and improvement of this ACT Model;

e represents the focal point for any specialised anti-corruption assistance for employees
of the Company and its Subsidiaries;

e promotes the review and possible updating of the ACT Model, recommending additions
and/or adjustments to Top Management;

e submits a periodic report on his/her activities to the Board of Directors of ATM in the
Annual Internal Audit Report.

Communication and training activities on the ACT Model are coordinated with those on Models
231 and Code of Ethics. It is differentiated according to the recipients to whom it is addressed
and is based on the principles of completeness, clarity, accessibility and systematicity, to
ensure that the various recipients fully understand the corporate provisions and the ethical

standards to be observed.

The ACT Model also incorporates the disciplinary system already adopted in the Model under
Decree 231.

The Whistleblowing System

ATM has adopted an integrated and systematic approach to the management of reports of
suspected/presumed violations and/or offences, following procedures and policies that are up-
to-date and compliant with regulations. Legislative Decree no. 24 of 10 March 2023 transposed
EU Directive No. 2019/1937, which considerably extended the scope of reporting beyond that
of Decree 231/ACT/Code of Ethics, thus requiring a different reporting organisation,
management and new skills.

For this reason, ATM traces and handles reports by adopting suitable and effective measures
so that the identity of the person making the report or of the person who provides information
useful for identifying non-compliant conduct is always ensured, using a special computerised
tool compliant with current regulations.
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3.1 Macroeconomic Scenario

3.1.1 Macroeconomic Framework

The global scenario during 2024 was characterised by generalised growth, but with different
dynamics in the main economic areas. Compared to a year-on-year growth rate of 2.8% in the
US (OECD estimates), growth in the Eurozone slowed down in the second half of the year,
despite the gradual easing of monetary policy by the ECB, as a result of subdued consumption
and investment, together with a reduction in exports. The OECD's end-of-year assessments
indicate a growth rate of the world economy for 2024 at around 3.2%, in line with the level
estimated for 2025 (3.3%). According to Bankitalia data (see Boleco 1/2025), the volume of
international trade slowed down in the latter part of 2024 to +2.8% compared to the previous
year. For 2025, the trend will be conditioned by the introduction of trade tariffs by the new US
administration.

The EU economy showed modest growth. According to the macroeconomic projections made
by the ECB in December 2024, the area's GDP grew by 0.7% in the year, with projections for a
furtherincreaseto 1.1%in 2025, and 1.4% in 2026. The value for 2024 was affected by subdued
consumption and investment, held back by still restrictive financing conditions, despite the
further reduction of the interest rate on deposits with the ECB to 3% in December 2024. The
dynamics of credit to manufacturing companies remained weak. The latter part of the year was
also affected by the weakness of manufacturing in Germany, which accounts for about one
third of the region's total, and the crisis in the automotive sector, partly attributable to the
regulatory uncertainty related to the transition to the production of purely electrically-
powered vehicles. The labour market remained robust, however, with an unemployment rate
in the area at 6.1% (see European Commission Autumn 2024 Economic Forecast).
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The generalised deflation process was confirmed, driven by the restrictive monetary policy
actions taken by the Central Banks, in particular by the FED and ECB between the end of 2022
and the autumn of 2023. According to data collected in December 2024, consumer inflation in
the US stood at 2.9% and in the Eurozone at 2.4%, down sharply from 5.4% in 2023, with
expectations of a further decline to 2.1% in 2025 and 1.9% in 2026 (see European Commission
Economic Forecast, Autumn 2024). This scenario has fuelled expectations of a gradual

normalisation of monetary policies in 2025.

Energy commodity prices fluctuated in 2024. Oil prices exceeded USS 85/bbl in the second half
of March, then fell over the summer, as a result of weaker than expected global demand, and
returned to around USS 80/bbl in the autumn. The outcome of the US elections fuelled
expectations of supply expansion, mitigating the potential price impact of OPEC+ countries'
decisions to increase supply cuts. Natural gas also rose to around EUR 50 per MW/h, driven by
demand factors and geopolitical tensions, including the interruption of Russian gas flows to

Europe via Ukraine.
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In 2024, the Italian economy showed stagnant growth at around 0.5% (see document
Macroeconomic projections for the Italian economy, Bankitalia, December 2024), in line with
the trend in the Eurozone, with forecasts of an average expansion at 1% for the three-year
period 2025-2027, a figure that is, however, subject to possible effects of protectionist trade

policies.

According to the "Survey on Inflation and Growth Expectations”, conducted by Bankitalia on a
qguarterly basis, and the ISTAT forecasts, the assessments of the sample of companies
interviewed between November and December 2024 (including ATM), point to a weakening of
demand, with uncertain prospects, linked to still unchanged conditions of access to credit.

With regard to the employment rate, according to ISTAT estimates, the number of employed
persons increased slightly in the autumn, driven by both the permanent and the self-employed
component. The unemployment rate fell in November to 5.7% (youth unemployment to
19.2%).
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3.1.2 The Local Public Transport Sector

In 2024 the sector, at an aggregate level, has almost completely realigned itself to pre-
pandemic demand levels, with a gap of around 3% compared to 2019 (see report "The
performance of local public transport companies 2024" by Intesa Sanpaolo). The companies
guaranteed similar levels of supply in order to ensure the right to mobility.

A further acceleration of investment in environmentally friendly vehicles, and technologically
advanced, is estimated for 2025, using funds from the NRRP and the National Transport Fund.

The mobility of people will tend to be characterised by paradigm shifts in service provision,
organisational systems and demand culture. In this sense, the development of digital platforms
for the integration of new and traditional transport services can facilitate the evolution of
mobility by exploiting the opportunities opened up by the ongoing technological and digital
evolution.

3.2 The regulatory framework for the Local Public Transport sector

The year 2024 was characterised by the prolonged conflict between Russia and Ukraine and
the conflict between Hamas and Israel, which also had indirect effects on the public transport
sector. The Italian government, in order to allow LPT companies to continue normal
operations, has deployed a series of measures, detailed below by homogeneous areas.

3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies

Starting in 2022, there have been numerous government measures to cope with diesel price
increases. With Decree-Law No. 21/2022 'Urgent measures to counter the economic and
humanitarian effects of the Ukrainian crisis' as amended, the excise duty on diesel used as fuel
was temporarily reduced, with subsequent extensions until 31 December 2022 through the so-
called Aid Quater Decree (Decree-Law No. 176/2022). With reference to the latter, it should be
noted that the tax benefit provided for in point 4-bis of Table A, annexed to Legislative Decree
No. 504/1995, has taken effect again. The standard diesel fuel rate was thus raised to EUR
467.40 per thousand litres above the rate for subsidised use (EUR 403.22 per thousand litres).

Of further importance were, on the one hand, Law Decree No. 115/2022, which established a
fund of EUR 40 million to meet the cost of fuel and energy products incurred in the second
quarter of 2022 for local and regional public transport vehicles. The fund was subsequently
increased by EUR 100 million (Decree Law No. 144/2022) and then by a further EUR 320 million
(Decree Law No. 176/2022).
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On the other hand, Executive Decree No. 460/2022, authorised the commitment of EUR 40
million as a contribution for the increase in the cost of fuels incurred in the second quarter of
2022, for fuelling local and regional public transport vehicles in favour of the Regions,
Autonomous Provinces, and companies operating public transport services. The Lombardy
Region received EUR 4,594,688.49.

A further appropriation of EUR 80 million was authorised as an advance on the contribution to
the increase in fuel costs incurred in the third quarter of 2022. The Lombardy Region's share
was EUR 9,189,376.98.

In 2023, Interministerial Decree No. 128 allocated EUR 80 million as an increase in the cost of
fuel for the second quarter of 2022 to the competent territorial authorities and companies
operating regional public transport services. The Lombardy Region was allocated EUR
7,351,501.59 as an advance in the amount of eighty per cent. Additionally, Decree of the
Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport No. 398/2023 authorised the payment of EUR 40
million as a contribution for the second quarter of 2022 to the Regions, Autonomous Provinces
and companies operating LPT services. For the Lombardy Region, the authorised amount is EUR
4,594,688.49; The aforementioned decree also authorised the payment of EUR 78,966,368.12
for the third quarter of 2022. For the Lombardy Region, the authorised amount is EUR
9,189,376.98;

By Interministerial Decree No. 335/2023, a contribution of EUR 136,477,600.83 was allocated
to the Regions, Autonomous Provinces and companies operating regional public transport
services for the second quarter of 2022, and of EUR 96,807,703.33 for the third quarter of
2022. The amount allocated to the Lombardy Region was EUR 14,934,561.63 for the second
quarter and EUR 11,789,912.32 for the third quarter.

Finally, the Decree of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport No. 469/2023 authorised the
payment, for Lombardy, of EUR 10,339,873.14 for the second quarter of 2022 and EUR
2,600,535.33 for the third quarter of 2022.

In 2024, the Lombardy Region allocated the funds received from the State for the
compensation of higher fuel and energy costs for the second and third quarters of 2022
through the following measures:

e Deliberation of the Regional Council no. XI11/2818 of 2024, which allocated the amount
of EUR 25,220,046.55 to Trenord S.r.l., to the LPT Agencies, to the Lake Basin
Authority of lakes Iseo, Endine and Moro;

e Decree of the Directorate-General for Transport and Sustainable Mobility no. 11224 of
2024, which provided for the payment of EUR 12,342,088.75 to the Local Public
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Transport Agency of the Milan, Monza and Brianza, Lodi and Pavia Metropolitan City
Basin;

e Director Resolution no. 65 of 2024 of the Local Public Transport Agency of the Milan,
Monza and Brianza, Lodi and Pavia Metropolitan City Basin with which state resources
were paid to the Companies and Institutions.

3.2.2 Measures in favour of companies for the purchase of electricity

The year 2024 was a continuation of 2023 and no further decrees with new resource
allocations were issued. For further details, please refer to what has already been described in
the ATM Group's Integrated Annual Report for the year 2023.

3.2.3 Measures in favour of companies connected with lower fare revenues in 2021-2022 due
to Covid-19 restrictions

With regard to information on regulatory measures and resources allocated and paid in the
period prior to 1 January 2024, please refer to what is written in the Financial Report 2021,
2022 and 2023.

In 2024, Ministerial Decree No. 291/2024 was published, authorising the payment of EUR
156,865,998.97 to cover the integration of the advance allocated for the compensation of
lower fare revenues 2021, pursuant to Ministerial Decree 169/2023 in favour of the Regions,
Autonomous Provinces and companies operating public transport services.

We also report the publication of Interministerial Decree No. 329/2024 for the final allocation
among the Regions, Autonomous Provinces, and companies operating LPT services, of the total
resources allocated to compensate for the loss of fare revenues resulting from the COVID
epidemic. It provided for the amount of EUR 878,445,049.85 as the maximum compensation
recognisable to the Region of Lombardy. The decree then established that, downstream of the
'‘overcompensation’ verifications after 30 September 2024, if there should turn out to be lower
contributions to be allocated to the companies, compared to those calculated by the algorithm
(for the Lombardy Region, the amount is equal to EUR 878,494,077.74), it will be the Region or
the province concerned that will provide for the allocation of the contribution in the correct
measure, recovering what is necessary.

3.2.4 Measures for the extraordinary maintenance of fixed-route mass rapid transport
systems

With Decree no. 443/2021 of the Ministry of Infrastructure and Sustainable Mobility, the loan
to Local Institutions for EUR 182.9 million was ordered for the subsequent allocation to the
entitled Companies, who had presented extraordinary maintenance projects and programmes
for fire prevention in the metro lines.
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To the Municipality of Milan and, consequently, to ATM, contributions amounting to EUR 44.4
million have been allocated for the following maintenance works:

e Underground Rolling Stock General Overhaul (26 Meneghino trains): EUR 20.8 million
e Underground Rolling Stock General Overhaul of bogies (26 Meneghino trains): EUR 15.6
million
e Underground Contact Line Renovation of 1500 V catenary traction equipment (13 km,
including suspensions): EUR 8 million.
The deadlines originally set by Decree No. 443/2021 were rescheduled by Decree No.
343/2023, which waived the deadline for the completion of projects to 31 December 2025.

3.2.5 Regulatory measures for investments

Italy is one of the main beneficiaries of the NextGenerationEU, the European Union's economic
recovery plan, which through the Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) makes available
approximately EUR 724 billion in the form of grants and loans. In fact, in Italy, with a national
plan called NRRP (National Recovery and Resilience Plan), investments of over EUR 191.5
billion have been planned, supplemented by additional national and complementary
resources. Next to the NRRP, the REACT-EU (Recovery Assistance for Cohesion and the
Territories of Europe) programme provides additional funding for supporting territorial
cohesion, strengthening health systems and revitalising the labour market.

The NRRP is developed around seven strategic missions, structured along three main axes:
digitalisation and innovation, ecological transition and social inclusion. The latest mission,
called REPowerEU, was introduced to strengthen energy independence and accelerate the
transition to renewable sources. The implementation of the missions aims to improve the
competitiveness of the Italian economic system and to foster sustainable and inclusive
development, in line with the EU's long-term growth objectives. The measures are organised
into reforms and investments that address the country's structural criticalities, with a focus on
strengthening infrastructure and administrative capacity.

One of the central missions of the NRRP is Mission 2:. Green Revolution and Ecological
Transition, which benefits from a total allocation of approximately EUR 59 billion. The main
objectives include promoting energy efficiency, reducing greenhouse gas emissions, increasing
the use of renewable energy sources and developing a circular economy. Planned measures
include making public and private buildings more efficient, enhancing infrastructure for
sustainable mobility and strengthening green agricultural and industrial supply chains, thus
contributing to the achievement of the European climate targets for 2030 and 2050.
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As far as local transport is concerned, levers to increase its sustainability include the major
obsolete bus fleet renewal towards low/zero emission solutions (e.g. renewal of the bus fleet
of 5,540 vehicles and withdrawal of EURO 0, 1, 2 and some EURO 3 vehicles) and green trains
for the accelerated development of green Local Public Transport.

Investment 4.4 of the aforementioned mission on the renewal of green bus and train fleets,
amounting to EUR 3.64 billion (of which EUR 1.91 billion is dedicated to green buses), envisages
the purchase of around 3,360 low-emission buses by 2026, with the mandatory intermediate
step of at least 800 vehicles already by the end of 2024. In order to give a strong impetus to
sustainable mobility and improve air quality in areas with higher levels of PM10 and nitrogen
dioxide pollution, about one third of the resources are intended for major Italian cities
including Milan, to which EUR 249 million have been allocated.

The funds made available by Ministerial Decree 530/2021 will be used within ATM's "Full
Electric" plan to:

e replace 350 12- and 18-metre buses, of which 92 already replaced by 31 December
2024 and the remainder by the second quarter of 2026. This will complete the
replacement of the entire Euro lll and Euro V bus fleet;

e provide for the necessary infrastructural adaptation of existing depots (Palmanova,
Giambellino, Sarca, San Donato);

e implement online fast charging points.

For both bus procurement and recharging infrastructure works, the procurement procedures
have already been completed and deliveries are in progress, in line with the mission's timelines
and targets. In particular, the first milestone envisaged by the Decree for the city of Milan was
reached on 31 December 2024, when 92 vehicles were registered. ATM also contributes to the
national target of supplying new buses under measure M2C2 4.4.1 with an additional 44 buses,
financed with resources from Interministerial Decree 234/2020.

The ATM Group is working on the electrification of the local public transport (LPT) service also
for the city of Monza. In December 2023, the Municipality of Monza, ATPL, NET S.r.l.,, ATM
S.p.A. and Autoguidovie S.p.A. signed an agreement for the management of the public
contributions of the NRRP (EUR 7.4 million, resources provided by Ministerial Decree
530/2021) and the PSNMS High Pollution (EUR 7.7 million made available by Interministerial
Decree 234/2020). These funds are earmarked for the renewal of the bus fleet for the urban
LPT service, as well as for the realisation of recharging infrastructure. As far as the NRRP
contribution is concerned, foreseen by investment 4.4.1 and regulated by Ministerial Decree
530/2021, NET S.r.l. is responsible for the supply of electric buses, with a contribution of EUR
5.1 million, while ATM S.p.A. is involved in the electrification of the Monza depot in Via
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Aspromonte, with a contribution of EUR 2.3 million. PSNMS High Pollution contributions are
divided between NET S.r.l. (EUR 1.75 million for new electric buses), Autoguidovie S.p.A. (EUR
5.37 million for new electric buses) and ATM S.p.A. (EUR 600,000 for the electrification of the
Monza depot in Via Aspromonte). The bus deliveries planned for the city of Monza, financed
with Interministerial Decree 234/2020 resources, contribute to the achievement of the NRRP
target of placing vehicles in service on 30 June 2026. However, with regard to the part of the
work financed by the NRRP (funds from former Ministerial Decree 530/2021), some critical
issues were reported in connection with the supply of buses in charge of NET S.r.l. due to the
industrial crisis of the supplier Industria Italiana Autobus S.p.A. (now Menarini S.p.A.), resulting
in delays in achieving the intermediate target of registration of three buses by 31 December
2024. The MIT's NRRP mission unit reported that the new range of vehicle delivery and
registration timeframe, as of today, envisaged by the supplier, is in line with the EU assessment
period envisaged for the target.

Also in relation to the second mission of the NRRP, measure 4.2 dedicated to the development
of rapid mass transport is designed to reduce private car traffic by building 231 km of public
transport infrastructure that will have a positive effect on the demand for local collective
mobility, with works focused on the metropolitan areas of Italy's largest cities to reduce the
impact on the environment and road congestion.

Ministerial Decree 448/2021 allocated EUR 156 million to the Municipality of Milan. ATM is
currently working on a number of projects involving the purchase of 14 new trams and 10
trolleybuses for more than EUR 60 million. For both projects, the tendering procedures have
been carried out and supplies are in progress. The supply of trolleybuses will be completed by
the first half of 2025, while the supply of trams is still ongoing.

A further NRRP-funded measure is aimed at promoting MaaS systems for the digitisation of
local transport (M1C1 1.4.6: Mobility as a Service for Italy). Milan is the lead city for this
experimentation worth a total of EUR 40 million. ATM is involved as a public transport operator
in the implementation of Maa$S systems as well as in LPT digitisation activities, such as the
purchase of validators for the surface network, concluded in 2023. ATM is also making a
contribution within the LivinglLab project, financed by the same mission, which envisages the
creation of a laboratory with infrastructures and services aimed at experimenting technologies
and innovations related to connected and autonomous vehicles and advanced driver
assistance systems (on-board units for trolleybuses, development of an app dedicated to the
key users of the LivingLab experimentation, passenger counters installed on trolleybuses and
further work on stops on the 90-91 route).
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Furthermore, in order to reduce citizenship disparities, the NRRP, with mission M5C2,
investment 2.2, made available EUR 2.49 billion to implement new services for citizens,
upgrading logistics infrastructures, thus transforming the most vulnerable territories into
smart cities and sustainable realities In this context, for the development of the sub-project
"Integrated Urban Plans", ATM is working together with the Municipality of Milan to improve
the accessibility of the M1 and M2 metro stations.

Lastly, ATM, together with the Municipality of Milan, is implementing further works, financed
with MIT (Italian Ministry of Transport) 2017 and 2018 funds for the purchase of new rolling
stock (trolleybuses, trams and metro) and for the renewal of metro line installations, for a
financed amount of more than EUR 900 million.

3.3 ATM's Contractual Framework

Management of public transport services

The ways in which authorities entrust the management of Local Public Transport and related
and complementary activities can be traced to two contractual forms:

e Gross cost: the industrial risk is borne by the operator while the commercial risk is
borne by the entrusting entity, owner of the revenues from the sale of tickets. The
operator receives a fee commensurate with the actual output of the service,
revaluable from year to year on an inflationary basis. The fee is not influenced to any
extent by the trend in revenue from the sale of tickets, the effects of any fare changes
or changes in demand for mobility. As a result, it is necessary for the operator to
continuously pursue operational efficiency objectives, based mainly on cost control.

e Net cost: both the industrial and the commercial risk are in the hands of the operator,
which is the owner of the revenues from the sale of the tickets and receives from the
entrusting body a fee calculated with reference to the theoretical non-coverage of the
production costs by means of tickets.

Existing contractual relationships

The services covered by the Service Contract between ATM S.p.A. and the Municipality of Milan
under the gross cost regime are the management of intermodal Local Public Transport (metro,
tram, bus and trolleybus), transport on demand, ancillary activities such as the distribution of
tickets, related customer information and fare evasion control. With regard to the risk of fare
evasion, ATM, while not being directly affected by this as it is the manager of the service by
virtue of a gross cost contract, deploys all measures to combat fare evasion in order to
maximise revenue for the entrusting body.
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The contract regulates the obligations and responsibilities of ATM S.p.A. and the Municipality
of Milan:

e ATMS.p.A. is responsible for managing transport services and complementary services
on the basis of the guidelines and directives of the Municipality of Milan, which is
responsible for planning;

e the Municipality of Milan, owner of the revenue from the sale of tickets, is responsible
for defining and articulating the fare system; in this context, ATM S.p.A. plays a strategic
role as manager of the sales network on behalf of the Municipality. Investments for the
development and maintenance of the public transport network and related
infrastructure are the responsibility of the Municipality of Milan as owner.

In addition to transport services, ATM S.p.A. manages, by virtue of the same assignment,
complementary services, such as Parking Spaces on the road and in facilities and the removal
and custody of vehicles in accordance with the Highway Code. The pricing policy for Parking
Spaces is the responsibility of the municipality, while revenues are the responsibility of ATM
S.p.A., which pays a predetermined fee to the municipality. As of 2017, the allocation to the
municipality of the portion of annual revenue attributable to the fare increase conventionally
identified as those exceeding the level of EUR 18,490,000 annually was determined.

The operational management of the Service Contract is delegated to an equal-composition
Technical Committee, which evaluates all aspects related to the management and execution
of the Contract, such as monitoring contractual performance, determining bonuses and
penalties, evaluating changes to services and contractual variants, and evaluating
extraordinary maintenance work on municipal assets.

In addition, in the context of existing contractual relationships, the following are of particular

relevance:

e the single management contract for the M5 underground line between ATM S.p.A. and
the concessionaire company Metro 5 S.p.A. The contract, under the gross cost regime,
regulates the management and related activities entrusted to ATM S.p.A. for the entire
duration of the concession until 2040;

e the single management contract for the M4 underground line between ATM S.p.A.
and the concessionaire company SPV Linea M4 S.p.A. The gross cost contract
regulates the management and related activities entrusted to ATM S.p.A. for the
entire duration of the concession until 2047;

e the Service Contracts, under the net cost regime, between the subsidiary Nord Est
Trasporti S.r.l. and the Local Public Transport Agency of the Milan, Monza Brianza,
Lodi and Pavia Metropolitan Area ("Agenzia del Territorio" or "Agenzia di Bacino") for
the management of the non-urban auto service in force until 31 December 2025;

e the Service Contract entered into with Metroselskabet 1/S, under the gross cost
regime, for the management, through the Danish-registered subsidiary Metro Service
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A/S, of the operation and maintenance of the M1 and M2 metro lines in Copenhagen,
expiring on 29 September 2027;

the Subcontract Agreement with Hitachi Rail STS, expiring on 29 September 2027, for
the mobilisation, operation and maintenance of the M3 (Cityringen) and M4 metro
lines in Copenhagen. Metro Service A/S has completed the mobilisation of the M3
(Cityringen) and M4 metro lines, and in 2019 inaugurated the commercial and
operating activity for the M3 metro line, while the commercial and operating activity
for the M4 metro line was inaugurated in 2020;

the Contract with Hovedstadens Letbaneselskabet (The Greater Copenhagen Light
Rail), where Metro Service A/S performs the mobilisation of the Greater Copenhagen
Light Rail operations, a service for the suburban area west of Copenhagen. The 15-
year gross cost operation and maintenance contract envisages that commercial and
operational activities for the line begin in 2025, once the construction work is
completed;

the Contract, signed on 4 October 2023 under the gross cost regime and with a
duration of 10 years (plus one year of pre-operation), in partnership with Egis Projects
S.A.S,, for the operation and maintenance, through its subsidiary THEMA S.A., of the
automatic metro of the city of Thessaloniki;

the Service Contract for the management of the Como-Brunate funicular railway
signed in 2005 between the Municipality of Como and the temporary joint venture
(set up between S.P.T LINEA S.R.L. and A.T.M. S.P.A. on 23 September 2004). SPT
LINEA S.R.L. is entrusted with the entire car service (12 lines), and ATM with the Como
- Brunate funicular railway. In 2006, ATl was transformed into Co.Mo. Fun&Bus Scarl,
which manages the service contract with the Municipality of Como, and in 2007 SPT
Linea S.R.L. changed its name to ASF Autolinee S.r.l. The contract was extended to 31
December 2025;

the Service Contract for the management of the Varese Vellone - Santa Maria del
Monte funicular railway signed in 2023 between the Agenzia per il Trasporto Pubblico
Locale del Bacino di Como, Lecco e Varese and the RTI (set up between A.T.M. S.p.A.
and A.V.T. S.r.l. on 31 July 2023) extended to expire on 30 June 2025;

the Service Contract for the management of the Argegno-Pigra (CO) cable car signed
in 2024 between Agenzia per il Trasporto Pubblico Locale del Bacino di Como, Lecco e
Varese and A.T.M. S.p.A. extended to expire on 30 June 2025.Contract extensions
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The Contract with the Municipality of Milan for the management of LPT and complementary
services

The services performed by ATM S.p.A. for the Municipality of Milan are regulated by the
"Contract for the Local Public Transport service and related and complementary services", the
original expiry date of which, initially set for 30 April 2017, has been extended until 31
December 2026.

With reference to the contracts for services related and complementary to the Local Public
Transport service contract, the new contractual expiry dates following the latest extensions,
signed on 29 December 2023, are shown below:

e Local Public Transport Service and related and complementary services: until 31
December 2026;
e Parking Spaces control, Car park management and vehicle removal service: until 31
December 2026;
e Service for the implementation and operation of the Bike Sharing sustainable mobility
system: until 31 December 2026.
Lastly, on 12 January 2024, the Entity - Municipality of Milan and ATM S.p.A. signed the
continuation deed for the contract "Management of payment channels and collection, on
behalf of the Municipality of Milan, of revenues deriving from accesses to the L.T.Z. Cerchia
dei Bastioni - "Area C" as well as back office, front office and call centre services dedicated to
the management of the fulfilments required by the traffic regulations for L.T.Z. Cerchia dei
Bastioni - "Area C" and "Area B": until 31 December 2026.

The activities related to the routine maintenance and management of the systems,
technologies and equipment constituting the Integrated Traffic and Territorial Control System
(SCTT) and the activity related to the management of the payment systems for access to the
LTZ Cerchia dei Bastioni "Area C" and the subsequent adaptation of the computerised system
for managing transit and the recording procedures, shall be included in the concession, by
means of project financing pursuant to art. 183 - paragraph 15 of Legislative Decree no.
50/2016 as amended, for design, implementation and maintenance services of Smart City IT
systems and applications for "Minnovo” security and mobility. The concessionaire of the
agreement is the Temporary Grouping of Companies formed by A2A Smart City S.p.A. (agent)
and ATM S.p.A. (principal). The agreement will be effective from 1 April 2024 and will last for

twelve years.
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The Contract with the Agenzia di Bacino for the Management of Suburban Auto Services

The contract for the management of the services performed by Nord Est Trasporti S.r.l. for

the Basin Agency, already extended to the end of 31 December 2023, has been further

extended until 31 December 2025, in order to allow the necessary continuity of services in

view of the new procedures for the awarding of services.

3.4 Risk factors and uncertainty
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The identification of risk scenarios is carried out using a unique risk taxonomy for the ATM

Group, within which are found the main risks to which the company is exposed in the

ordinary management of its activities.

Changes in the regulatory, operational and financial reference context are constantly

monitored as part of a structured framework of risk management, which envisages the use of

a plurality of organisational structures and tools useful for the correct identification and

assessment of risks and the elaboration of the relative mitigation plans.

For an analysis of financial risks, see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements and

Note 5 to the separate financial statements.
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Below is an analysis of non-financial risks and the resulting uncertainties

3.4.2 Risks linked to the external context

i) Risk of legislative and regulatory developments

The new Public Contracts Code (Legislative Decree no. 36/2023) applies to all proceedings
commenced on or after 1 July 2023. The new legislation has been implemented by the
Company, which has adapted its internal procedures to ensure its regular application. On 31
December 2024, the corrigendum to the Procurement Code No. 36/2023 was promulgated:
the legislation, as amended by the corrigendum, was implemented by the Company, adapting
its procedures and acts, as of 2025.

ii) Cybersecurity and Information technology

The digital transformation of the transport sector, the evolution of Information and
Communication Technology (ICT) systems, as well as the sophistication and proliferation of
cyberthreats, also arising from the hybrid working mode, have broadened the attack scope by
malicious actors with potential reverberations in terms of assets, reputation and business
operations. Moreover, the ever-changing geopolitical framework and the growing need for
interconnections and interdependencies between information systems, have redefined the
technological risk scenario, confirming the need to implement a strategic information security
risk management process, adapted to corporate business priorities and consistent with the
potential related to the digitisation process.

Most of the cyberattacks observed in the Local Public Transport sector, such as against
passenger systems, ticketing systems, web and mobile applications, on-board displays, were
characterised by the common goal of rendering these systems unavailable, with consequent
impacts on operations. To combat these attacks, ATM has implemented specific mitigation
measures, adding solutions to its existing cyberdefence systems to absorb Distributed Denial
of Service ("DDoS") attacks on different levels.

In order to reduce the attack surface as much as possible, the company has equipped itself
with real time/near real-time monitoring systems to intercept any anomalies on the
infrastructure. These proactive monitoring services are provided by the (cyber) Security
Operation Centre with 24-hour coverage.

An additional aspect of the criticality in the ICT scene is the issue of obsolescence linked to the
Operational Technologies (OT) context, mainly due to the time span of the life cycle of assets,
which is much longer than in traditional ICT systems, which are increasingly interconnected,
effectively exposing infrastructures to known vulnerabilities and threats.
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In the implementation of cybersecurity controls, ATM is inspired by national and international
industry best-practices, combining them with the principles of Security by design and Security
by default, already from the technology demand processes. This is to enable its systems to
respond from the outset to potential disruptions and, more generally, to any action that
compromises and/or may compromise the confidentiality, integrity and availability of company
data and information, strategic technology assets and intellectual property.

In line with the evolution of the ICT security framework, ATM has designed and developed - in
coherence with the internal compliance system - processes that ensure an adequate level of
physical, logical and organisational security, for which continuous monitoring, measurement
and consequent reviews are foreseen. The company has therefore developed a cybersecurity
management strategy according to a multi-level (operational, management and strategic)
integrated approach for business continuity, information security and data protection. This
new integrated management allows for guaranteeing, both at the governance level and at the
level of operational management, all the necessary functional safeguards for an effective
protection process of its IT and information assets.

The strengthening and improving of its cyber risk governance continued with the allocation of
adequate resources in the Strategic Business Plan in addition to constant investments in
maintenance to avoid obsolescence of systems and ensure their reliability, safety and
efficiency. In particular, support was given to investments aimed at expanding system
monitoring activities and additional resources were allocated to strengthen the capacity to
respond to cyber security incidents. Further investments were also made in continuous training

plans for internal skills enhancement.

To this end, in the area of cybersecurity awareness, awareness-raising and continuous training
initiatives have been promoted, with periodic reviews, paying particular attention to the
professional profiles most exposed to cyber risk.

3.4.3 Operational Risks

i) Risks related to the performance of the service
The main risk factors, typical of its operations, can be traced back to the possible
malfunctioning and unforeseen interruption of the service caused by accidental events and/or

extreme weather events and/or extraordinary events; these situations could create damage to
people and lead to a negative economic impact.

The infrastructure and facilities through which ATM provides the service are exposed to
possible malfunctioning and/or failure, due to accidental and/or natural causes as well as acts
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and damages of third parties against the company's assets. In order to make assets more
resilient, attention is given to monitoring and maintenance implementation processes, with a
view to guaranteeing system security and full availability, and Security protection is
continuously active within the Security Function.

In order to mitigate and/or reduce the likelihood of malfunctions, including those related to
obsolescence, the ATM Group is committed to specific renewal, modernisation and
enhancement plans, also thanks to the resources made available by the National Recovery and
Resilience Plan, in order to maintain and increase the efficiency of the performance of the
assets required to provide the Local Public Transport service. The aforementioned activities
are in turn subject to certain uncertainties regarding, for example, the time and cost of
implementation, the efficiency, availability and operability of assets, as well as the
authorisation processes of projects by the competent authorities, the recruitment and skills of
personnel and the identification of suppliers.

For specific details on the modernisation actions undertaken during 2024, please refer to the
chapter "Investments" in the Financial Report.

At the end of 2023, the regulatory framework issued by Ansfisa, "Ansfisa Decrees", (Decree 28
December 2023, Official Register Int.0081906, Decree 29 December 2023, Official Register
Int.0082216, Executive Decree 07 December 2023, Official Register Int.0076655, as
subsequently amended and supplemented), which by introducing new requirements,
generates possible impacts on activities related to the provision of services on LRT systems
(metro, tram, trolley bus, electric bus, cable car systems, lifts and escalators).

In order to manage the relevant risk areas, i.e. business continuity and safety, the Company is
carrying out an Implementation Plan to achieve regulatory compliance that aims at a
reorganisation of the processes supporting Operations & Maintenance activities, enhancing
Design, Project Management and Training of operational staff, with a risk-based approach in
order to make the decision-making process more and more conscious. In particular, the
regulations require the implementation of a Transport Safety Management System (TMS) that
provides evidence of ATM's ability to subject each project to a transport safety risk assessment
and identify measures to control these risks.

3.4.4 Climate Change Risks

With a view to continuously improving its performance and with the ultimate objective of
always guaranteeing an efficient Local Public Transport service, between 2024 and 2025, ATM
launched a Climate Change Risk Assessment project in order to identify, in detail, the possible
risks related to climate change (both physical and transitional) that could affect ATM's assets
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and operations in the short, medium and long term. This process allows the Group to
accurately identify possible climate risks and, consequently, take appropriate mitigation
measures to prevent and/or remedy possible adverse effects. For more information on the
climate risks identified in 2024 and how the Climate Change Risk Assessment was conducted,
please refer to the Sustainability Document, within the Environmental Reporting, ESRS E1-1.

3.4.5 Risks relating to environmental aspects, health and safety of workers

Consistent with the QAS policy, the constant application of the QHSE management systems
ISO 9001, 14001 and 45001, together with established training and education processes, allow
for mitigating and minimising the major risk factors relating to environmental and
occupational health and safety aspects. Maintaining effective and efficient QHSE management
systems also allows for a rapid and effective assessment of potential risks arising from external
contextual factors, specific company site, depot and location characteristics and changes in
local, national and applicable voluntary international standards.

Audits by the control functions and those carried out by the certification companies help to
maintain the effectiveness of mitigation measures and make it possible to identify any
processes in need of improvement. Furthermore, efficient coordination between control
functions allows these activities to be carried out with minimal impact on operational
functions. This process, together with continuous training, and the allocation of adequate
resources, has made it possible to achieve high levels of performance in the QHSE area, also
positively assessed by external certification bodies, and to ensure the compliance of business

processes.

For more information on the entire process of identifying, managing and mitigating risks
concerning environmental aspects and workers' health and safety, please refer to the
dedicated sections within the Sustainability Document.

In 2024, the approach described above was fully extended to the main subsidiaries, Rail
Diagnostics spa and Net srl, with the maintenance of their ISO 9001, 14001 and 45001 QHSE
system certifications.

3.4.6 Legal and compliance risks

In connection with the activity performed by the ATM Group, legal and compliance risks relate
to the risk of incurring administrative, civil and criminal sanctions, and/or suffering losses or
reputational damage as a result of non-compliance with directly applicable laws, regulations
and European standards or supervisory authority measures, or self-regulatory standards; risk
arising from unfavourable changes in the regulatory framework or case law.
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This category includes the risks associated with the commission of the predicate offences set
out in Legislative Decree No. 231/2001, which provides for the Company's liability for
administrative offences in relation to certain expressly regulated cases. In this context, ATM
and its Italian-registered subsidiaries have adopted their own Model 231, periodically and
systematically updated with underlying risk assessment and gap analysis, in order to represent
the system of control measures in place to prevent the commission of the regulated offences.
Models 231 are harmonised with the Group Anti-Corruption Model (‘'ACT Model').

As far as environmental issues are concerned (Legislative Decree No. 152/2006 and other
applicable legislation) and health and safety (Legislative Decree No. 81/2008 and other
applicable regulations) ATM and its subsidiaries NET and Rail Diagnostics have adopted and
maintain Environmental (ISO 14001) and Health and Safety (ISO 45001) management systems,
all governed by ISO 9001 quality management systems certified and audited annually by an
external body.

With regard to the protection and processing of personal data, ATM monitors regulatory
developments (e.g. European Data Protection Reg. No. 679/2016, Personal Data Protection
Code - Legislative Decree 101/2018 and Guidelines and Recommendations from national and
European Supervisory Authorities - in particular from the European Data Protection Board), in
order to adapt their processes, services and products. Compliance with these regulations has
led ATM to implement a personal data protection system based on minimising processing, and
thus the risk of breach, through data protection techniques by design, where possible with
default settings. In addition, ATM has adopted training plans for the accountability of the data
controller (principle of accountability) and routinely carries out impact assessments on the
rights of individuals, for those processing operations that present high risks for the rights and
freedoms of individuals.

In 2024, European Regulation No. 1689/2024 was approved, the so-called Al ACT, on Artificial
Intelligence. ATM started the analysis for the provision of technical and organisational tools for
the protection of individuals with regard to the use of 'Al' and its ethical and anthropocentric
use, with a focus on regulatory developments and products and services on the market.

Finally, legal and compliance risks are related to the absence of or failure to comply with
internal procedures and regulations. In this regard, ATM has adopted:

e the Group Regulation, which governs the Group's modus operandi and intra-group
relations;

e the Regulation for the Awarding of Contracts, which governs the procedures for
awarding contracts for works contracts, the purchase of goods and service contracts
for all Group companies;
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e the Sales Regulation, which governs the procedures relating to the sale of goods,
materials and services and the awarding of contracts for the commercial use of areas
and spaces;

e the Operational Procedures and Instructions, which describe and regulate business
processes.

3.5 Main outstanding disputes

ATM is a party in criminal, administrative and civil proceedings, as well as in legal actions
related to the normal performance of its activities. Below is a summary of the most important
proceedings open before national authorities. Unless otherwise specified, in the pending
litigations, no evidence has emerged to date that would suggest an exposure to probable
liabilities or material losses that would have an appreciable impact on ATM's equity, economic
and financial position.

Labour disputes

The following table shows the cases considered to generate probable liabilities and for which
a specific provision for risks has been recognised under the item "Provision for disputes and
environmental risks" and commented on in Note 26 "Provisions for risks and charges" of the
Notes to these Consolidated Financial Statements:

e The number of newly opened disputes during 2024 was 79 (of which 4 NET). The most
frequent requests relate to: i) termination of employment; ii) requests for the
application of Royal Decree No. 8 of 8 January 1931, instead of Annex A; iii) requests
relating to allowances not recognised during holidays; iv) requests relating to
compensation for psychophysical wear and tear for overtime hours worked in excess
of the legal limit; v) deskilling/demotion; vi) requests for shift changes linked to
particular personal/family situations.

e The lawsuits concerning pay differences allegedly due during the holiday period taken
by workers concern an issue that affects the entire ATM workforce. On 3 April 2023,
an agreement was signed with the main trade unions, which determines the economic
criteria for remuneration of this allowance for the period prior to 1 July 2022 (with
the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement in 2022, a lump sum was
established, recognised from 1 July 2022 as holiday pay). Since June 2023, the
Company has implemented the procedure for signing minutes in a protected location
in order to correct holiday pay with the entire company workforce according to the
criteria of the above-mentioned agreement. At present, more than 90% of the
workforce has endorsed the agreement. To date, there are still pending one dispute
brought before the Court of Milan and one before the Court of Appeal of Milan on
this issue (for a total of 11 workers), as well as two disputes brought before the Court
of Monza by two NET employees.

e A case, instituted before 2023, concerning a work-related accident for which there
was a compensation claim of approximately EUR 900 thousand with a high risk of
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losing the case. With reference to the same event, criminal proceedings are also still
pending before the Public Prosecutor's Office of Milan, at the preliminary
investigation stage, registered against the Employer, against whom a request of end
of investigations has been issued.

The lawsuit challenging the dismissal of the former head of ATM Points, for which
ATM decided to file a formal complaint-suit, was settled in favour of ATM in both the
first instance and the appeal. The former employee sued before the Court of
Cassation, with the first hearing pending. The latest lawsuit brought by the other
former ATM Point employees who were involved in the same or similar facts ended
with a favourable ruling for ATM.

At the end of 2023, an appeal was filed by an employee of a contractor who, while
carrying out cleaning work on the tram in April 2020, suffered a serious accident. ATM
is sued as jointly and severally liable with the contractor for damages suffered by the
worker. Given the severity of the injuries (a permanent disability of 75% was
established), the counterparty's claim exceeds one million euros.

In March 2024, two appeals were lodged by 14 workers claiming damages for psycho-
physical wear and tear due to overtime hours worked in excess of the legal limits.
The Court of Appeal of Milan in March 2024 reformed the first instance rulings
concerning the request for application of the rules of the Royal Decree instead of
Annex A to the 2000 National Collective Labour Agreement by employees employed
as traffic wardens, parking attendants, ATM Point. The Company is appealing to the
Court of Cassation against the above-mentioned judgements. At the same time, 9
separate appeals were served by special security guards requesting the application of
the rules of the Royal Decree instead of Annex A. To date, 5 of the 9 appeals have
been concluded with a favourable ruling for ATM and are now at the Appeal stage; 2
appeals have been accepted by the Court and ATM has appealed. The last two appeals
are still pending at first instance.

In July 2024, an action was filed by 72 workers, graduates of the 193-parameter
exercise, who, since December 2022, have been assigned to perform duties pertaining
to the 151-parameter, and they are requesting a finding of demotion with consequent
compensation for damages. In another aspect, the workers demand that the non-
payment of the so-called shift/autoradio/motoradio allowance and the so-called
money handling allowance be established.

7 NET workers of the 193-parameter sued the employer, claiming recognition of their
superior qualification, non-payment of overtime and indemnity benefits, and alleged
differences in salary.
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Environmental Disputes

No significant penalties were found in connection with environmental laws and regulations
during 2024.

Public Transport Service Disputes

For all matters not expressed herein, reference should be made to the Annual Report, as at the

end of the 2023 financial year, a special provision for risks had been set up as commented in

Notes 26 and 24 "Provisions for risks and charges" of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements and Separate Financial Statements.

The dispute with Caronte S.r.l. is pending before the Court of Cassation. On 18 January
2024, the Court of Cassation discussed the case in Council Chamber and in April 2024
the case was remitted to another section of the same Court ratione materiae and a new
hearing is awaited. Taking into account the strategy adopted by the Company to oppose
and considering the probable risk of losing the case, it should be noted that adequate
provisions for risks and charges have been set aside in previous years. For anything not
mentioned here concerning the history and development of the case in question,
please refer to the annual and semi-annual reports of previous years.
In a judgement dated 9 April 2024, the Court of Monza declared the compulsory
liquidation of the company CTP. The receiver initially proposed the admission of ATM's
credit to the liquidation liabilities in the amount of EUR 6,642,592.37 as unsecured
credit and EUR 5,497.66 as preferential credit, considering the sum of EUR 9,768.262.57
requested by way of default interest, subject to the settlement of the pending litigation
before the Court of Cassation (RG 24517/2023 and 24579/2023), at the end of which
the receivables would be offset against ATM's debts that also arose prior to the
liguidation, for EUR 7,957,130 plus legal interest as ascertained by the Court of Appeal's
ruling also appealed to the Court of Cassation. At the hearing of 25 June 2024, having
regard to the receiver's proposal and ATM's objections, the Delegated Judge invited the
parties to find a settlement solution and, at the subsequent hearing of 23 July, the
receiver "proposed to settle the position and all outstanding disputes in the following
terms: acceptance of the claim for EUR 785,625 including also the sum of EUR 50,000.00
offered as contribution to legal costs". Negotiations between the parties followed, as a
result of which the settlement was entered into on 4-5 November 2024, whereby the
parties agreed that:
once the statement of liabilities has become final, the procedure will pay ATM
the sum of EUR 785,000;
- payment will be made in the first repartition;
- the liguidation of CTP waives the enforcement of its claim against ATM of EUR
9,238,121.89;
- formally, ATM was admitted as a creditor in the bankruptcy proceedings for a
total of EUR 5,497.66 on a preferential basis and EUR 15,781,468.40 on an
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unsecured basis, subject to set-off against CTP's counterclaims at the outcome
of the pending litigations;

- any further claims of ATM against the receiver will be waived after the agreed
sum is collected;

- following payment, the parties will abandon all pending litigation between
them, thus avoiding the risk of negative outcomes.

No oppositions to the statement of liabilities were filed and it became final. It is likely that the

payment of the first instalments of the sums will take place around May/June 2025, after the

deadline for filing late applications expires on 5 May 2025.

ATM notified Caronte, Consorzio Trasporti Pubblici in liquidation, the Municipality of
Cinisello Balsamo and the Municipality of Sesto San Giovanni of a writ of summons
for negative assessment aimed at clarifying who and to what extent should proceed
with the payment of sums in favour of Caronte in order to avoid ATM being in the
position of making multiple payments for the same reason to different parties.
Following CTP's declaration of judicial liquidation, the judge discontinued the
proceedings which were then resumed by ATM against the receiver. The next hearing
was set for 12 March 2025 for closing arguments.

Among the most significant causes of probable liabilities that have been recognised in a special

provision for risks as commented in Note 26 "Provisions for risks and charges" of the Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements, the following should be noted:
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ATM has filed an appeal before the administrative justice system against the Agenzia
per la Coesione Territoriale (Agency for Territorial Cohesion) and the Ministry of
Economy and Finance for the annulment of the measure of 6 April 2021 issued by the
Agenzia per la Coesione Territoriale (Agency for Territorial Cohesion) by which the
latter asked the Municipality of Milan, in its capacity as intermediate body, to revoke
and recover the grant paid to Azienda Trasporti Milanesi S.p.A. for the project "PON
Metro Milano 2014/2020. Operation MI2.2.4.b Areas for Bicycle Mobility" and the
final report of the Audit carried out by the Ministry of Economy and Finance, State
General Accounting Office.

With its ruling of 14 June 2023, the Regional Administrative Court rejected both
ATM's and the Municipality of Milan's appeal as it considered that the measure of
the Agenzia per la Coesione Territoriale was legitimate, in relation to the alleged
breach of Articles 20 and 57, letter a), of Legislative Decree no. 163/2006, insofar as
the negotiated procedure without prior publication of a contract notice, carried out
by ATM, contained transformed contractual conditions in relation to the essential
element of the duration of the contract. ATM appealed the ruling within the legal
deadlines and is awaiting the setting of the hearing by the Council of State. Given the
outcome of the first instance proceedings, the risk of losing the case on appeal is
likely. For anything not mentioned here concerning the history and development of
the case in question, please refer to the annual and semi-annual reports of previous
years.
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With regard to disputes falling under the jurisdiction of civil courts (District Courts, Courts of

Appeal, Justice of the Peace Offices), these take the form of both out-of-court and in-court

disputes relating to ATM's role as Manager of the Local Public Transport service and related

and complementary activities (by way of example, but not limited to claims for damages for

transport; claims for damages due to the interruption of public services; credit recovery; lease

relationships, vitiated contracts). In 2024, 811 civil law positions were dealt with (both in and

out of court). The most significant updates of the most significant causes are outlined, referring

for anything not expressed here to the annual report of previous years:

On 3 December 2021, ATM was served a writ of summons with which Bluestone Verona
S.r.l. and Bluestone Holding S.r.I. requested that ATM's pre-contractual and contractual
liability be ascertained and that it be ordered to pay the sum of EUR 3,039,444.52 by
way of compensation for damages suffered by the plaintiff companies for higher direct
and indirect costs for clearance of war devices, the removal of unmarked tanks, the
reworking of the construction plan and for the increased costs of raw materials and the
price offered in the tender, in addition to the damage to their image quantified at EUR
1,000,000.00. In addition, the plaintiffs reserved the right to demand further sums to
be paid by the purchasers for cancellations due to the accumulated delay, with the
obligation to return double the deposit. On 21 April 2024, the Court of Milan
pronounced its ruling with which, on the one hand, it upheld ATM's preliminary
objections regarding the lack of active legitimacy of the plaintiffs and, on the other
hand, it rejected the opposing claims on the merits, considering them unfounded.
Bluestone Verona S.r.l. and Bluestone Holding S.r.l. appealed against the judgement
before the Court of Appeal of Milan, which set the final hearing for the clarification of
the conclusions for 5 February 2025. For anything not mentioned here, please refer to
the annual and half-yearly reports of previous years.

By certified e-mail communication dated 11 November 2021, the bankrupt Olicar
Gestione S.r.l., through its counsel, requested payment of the sum of EUR 998,636.41
by reason of invoices Nos. 102949 dated 30 June 2019, 103557 dated 29 August 2019,
103990 dated 23 September 2019, 104301 dated 21 October 2019 and 104728 dated
31 December 2019. In addition to the foregoing, the bankrupt company claims the
additional sum of EUR 507,695.24 for services rendered by the bankrupt company in
the period from October 2019 to February 2020: this amount is being invoiced and has
been quantified by taking as a reference the average of the amounts invoiced by Olicar
Gestione in the year 2019.

ATM suspended payments following the notification of third-party seizures against
Olicar for approximately EUR 380,655.85: to date, ATM has paid the sum of EUR
49,738.63 following an order to assign sums, and no news has been received for the
other enforcement procedures, which in any case became ineffective following Olicar's
declaration of bankruptcy.

Invoice no. 104728 of 2019 for EUR 509,218.90 including VAT was formally rejected by
ATM in a letter dated January 2020, as the amount is not due and is not pertinent to
the object of the contract and the manner of invoicing fees, as set forth in the
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Integrated Energy and Heat Service contract: following this rejection, ATM requested,
to no avail, the issuance of a credit note for the same amount. As for the rest, the claims
of the insolvency procedure are rejected by the competent Technical Directorate on
the grounds that, during the performance of the contract, Olicar was in breach of
numerous contractual obligations but continued to charge ATM the relevant
consideration. ATM therefore turned to third-party suppliers to obtain services not
rendered by Olicar and bore the associated costs. After reconstructing the accounting
position and taking into account the works carried out by third parties, although
included in the fees invoiced by Olicar, a receivable in favour of ATM of EUR
1,096,969.08 accrued before the declaration of bankruptcy and of EUR 420,256.04
accrued thereafter, against a payable quantified to date by the bankruptcy into EUR
1,506,058.65.

By certified e-mail of 22 December 2021, ATM therefore set off against the claim
claimed by the bankruptcy its own claim as quantified above. On 14 September 2022,
ATM received a new request for payment for the same amounts, to which ATM
responded by reiterating the objections already formulated. ATM recently received a
request from BFF (Banca FarmaFactoring) for information on Olicar's claim in the
context of due diligence for the purpose of acquiring the claim. On 15 May 2023, ATM
replied that the claim did not exist because ATM had offset the sums owed by Olicar as
compensation for damages suffered by the company.

With contract no. 3000109764 of 10 December 2021, ATM has entrusted the company
Galassia S.r.l. with the full service maintenance and vandalism and/or accident repair
services on 125 Solaris buses, for a duration of four years starting from January 2022
and with the right, at ATM's sole discretion, to extend the service for a further three
years. Galassia complains that during the performance of the contract, circumstances
occurred that led to a significant alteration of the contractual synergies, including the
contractual amendment made by ATM to the Service Control Plan (PCS) and the
progressive decrease in the mileage of buses to be serviced. Not having found
satisfaction of the requests made in the out-of-court proceedings, with a writ of
summons dated 14 June 2024, Galassia S.r.l. sued ATM to ascertain and declare its
serious breach of contract and, consequently, to order ATM to pay damages quantified
at EUR 1,235,016.80. ATM entered an appearance contesting the opposing claims. In
the meantime, ATM terminated the contract due to Galassia's non-performance and
applied penalties amounting to approximately EUR 393,000 by offsetting them against
Galassia's still open invoices. In addition, it demanded the enforcement of the sureties
for the recovery of the contract advance of EUR 212,500 and for the coverage of costs
of EUR 300,000 for the contractor's breach of contract. In response, Galassia brought
the urgency judgement to avoid the enforcement of the sureties. The judge rejected
Galassia's claims. The case on the merits was called for 28 March 2025 for the
examination of the admitted witnesses. Given the overall situation, in the absence of
any settlement agreement, it is likely that the judge may grant part of the plaintiff's
claims. The risk of disbursement can conservatively be quantified at EUR 500,000.
With contract no. 3000118596 NET - as second-tier implementing party on behalf of
the Municipality of Monza - entrusted Industria Italiana Autobus S.p.a. - today Menarini
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S.p.a. - the supply of 10 electric buses. The purchase is financed under the project Next
Generation EU - EU Regulation 2021/241- NRRP - Measure M2C2 investment. In order
to obtain the first part of the funding, according to Ministerial Decree 530/2021, the
registration of the first three buses should have taken place by 31 December 2024.
However, the supplier announced that the delivery of the three buses would not take
place before February 2025. Considering that this situation of delay is also common to
other Italian LPT companies that have supply contracts with Menarini S.p.a. and that
the situation is known to MIMS, the latter is preparing amendments to the decree in
order to reshape the timeline for the allocation of funding. If the financing is not
obtained, NET will bear the full cost of the buses, totalling EUR 1,404,000.

In 2017, a girl was run over by a tram with serious physical consequences. As part of
the criminal trial, the ATM driver was convicted of the offence of grievous bodily harm
and ordered to pay a provisional compensation of approximately EUR 25,000. The
judgement was appealed by Mr Favale and the Court of Appeal confirmed the ATM
employee's liability, reducing the prison sentence. The injured girl's parents brought a
civil action against Mr Favale and ATM without quantifying the claim for damages,
which, however, will be significant given the girl's physical impairment. The case is at
the pre-trial stage and is adjourned until 16 July 2025.

In 2020, a lady was hit by a tram while crossing the tracks with fatal results. The criminal
trial ended with the acquittal of the ATM driver because 'the fact does not constitute
an offence'. The deceased's father, mother and sister sued ATM and the tram driver to
obtain damages for the loss of their relative in the amount of not less than EUR
855,046.00. The first hearing was set for 8 April 2025.

On 5 September 2024, water leaking from manholes at street level during a heavy storm
caused flooding of the -1 floor of the Romolo car park, damaging 123 cars. Pending the
definition of the respective responsibilities for the incident between the Municipality
of Milan, owner of the infrastructure, MM S.p.a., manager of the water network, and
ATM, the company has paid each injured party the sum of EUR 3,000 for an outlay to
date of EUR 354,000. Some owners of the damaged cars have asked ATM out-of-court
for full compensation for the damages suffered and may take legal action. The
Insurance Strategies Department estimated the total damage to cars at about
2,000,000.

Civil litigation

In relation to disputes and lawsuits concerning civil liability (traffic accidents, transport

accidents, liability for property in custody), the exposure and probable risk for the ATM Group

appears to be largely covered by the "Provision for damages/claims" (Note 26 of the Notes to

the Consolidated Financial Statements). The provision is estimated by the Insurance Strategies

Department, which updates the economic risk of each case, originated out-of-court, also taking

into account the trend of pending litigation. With regard to disputes of a different nature (debt

collection, contract pathology, etc.), the Legal Department acts, on the basis of a constant flow

of information, in synergy with the Departments concerned in order to quantify the risk, as the
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Reference Scenario

case may be. These cases are covered by the "Devaluation of Receivables Provisions" disclosed

in Note 19 of the Notes to the Financial Statements.

Criminal litigation

As at 31 December 2024, ATM was a civil plaintiff in 25 criminal proceedings in order to obtain

compensation for damages suffered as a result of offences committed by third parties, who

were defendants in the aforementioned proceedings.

The company has also been held civilly liable in criminal proceedings in which an ATM

employee is accused of the crime of road homicide.

The most significant criminal litigation cases are set out below:
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With regard to the complaint-suit filed by ATM concerning the facts related to the ATM
Points for which the above-mentioned labour lawsuits are pending, two criminal
proceedings have resulted. The first is against the former ATM Point manager
sentenced in first instance for the crime of embezzlement to six years and ten months'
imprisonment and declared perpetually banned from public office and from contracting
with the public administration. The Court also ordered compulsory and
disproportionate confiscation, and ordered the former manager to compensate the
damage caused to ATM, to be settled in civil proceedings, and to pay the court costs
incurred by the civil plaintiff. Finally, the former manager was ordered to pay a
provisional compensation (immediately enforceable) to ATM in the amount of EUR
500,000. The counsel of the convicted woman have lodged an appeal.

The second trial is against all other employees involved. ATM has also joined the civil
action in this last case and the next preliminary hearing, scheduled for replies and
reading of the decision, was set for 27 January 2025.

Criminal proceedings are still in progress in connection with the emergency braking that
has occurred on the M1 and M2 metro lines in recent years in order to establish the
causes and possible responsibilities. Following the conclusion of the preliminary
investigation against the top management of Alstom Ferroviaria S.p.A. and Engie Eps
Italia S.r.l., the Public Prosecutor ordered additional investigations, which are still
ongoing.

Following the collapse of the crane on the metro tracks at the Bussero station on 30
August 2022, criminal proceedings were initiated for the offence of "Construction
collapse or other malicious disaster", in which a former ATM official, among others, was
implicated. The investigations ended with the issuance of the notice pursuant to Article
415-bis of the Italian Code of Criminal Procedure for some subjects and the request for
dismissal for others. With regard to the position of the former ATM employee, a request
for dismissal was issued by the public prosecutor. Negotiations are ongoing between
the Company and the suspects for compensation for the damage caused to ATM as a
result of the event.
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e The preliminary investigation phase is currently underway in the so-called Subway
investigation, in which ATM is a civil plaintiff. The next hearing before the Court in
collegiate composition, 7th criminal branch, was scheduled for 18 February 2025.

To date, no criminal proceedings have been brought against ATM pursuant to Legislative
Decree No. 231/2001 before the Court of Auditors or national or EU authorities.

Tax disputes

ATM S.p.A. started the litigation process against tax assessments for the tax years 2015, 2016,
2017 and 2018, both for IRES and IRAP purposes. The subject of the claim relates to the tax
treatment (deductibility for income tax and IRAP purposes) of the grant paid to Fondazione
ATM for the tax years indicated.

IRES assessments, following the submission of the IPEC and IPEA forms, amounted to about
EUR 200 thousand for tax and penalties, while IRAP assessments amounted to about EUR 1,600
thousand, again for tax and penalties, for a total of about EUR 1,800 thousand (for tax and
penalties), plus interest by law.

Currently, the litigation is as follows:

e |RES 2015 and 2016 and IRAP 2015 lawsuits: the Company obtained a favourable
judgement in the first instance and an unfavourable judgement in the second instance,
so they are now pending before the Court of Cassation.

e IRAP case 2016: pending in the Court od Cassation, the Company having obtained an
unfavourable judgement at both instances.

e |RAP case 2017: appealed in second instance.

e |RAP case 2018: appealed in the first instance.

e |RES cases 2017, 2018 and 2019: Inland Revenue accepts the IPEA model for full use of
past tax losses (full deduction of the higher income assessed);

e |RES case 2017: appeal will be brought in the second instance;

e |RES case 2018: first instance appeal will be filed.

e Year 2019: both the IRAP and IRES schemes for which ATM has already filed
counterclaims have been notified.

The risk of losing the case in connection with the above-mentioned assessments is currently
deemed possible.

Three appeals regarding cadastral classification concerning the assignment of a different
category by the Italian Revenue Agency Agenzia delle Entrate - Ufficio Provinciale di
Milano/Territorio are also active. It is currently considered that the risk of losing is possible.
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4.1 Commentary on the ATM Group's economic and financial results

The ATM Group's financial statements as at 31 December 2024 are prepared in accordance
with IAS/IFRS.

Below are the comparative consolidated economic and financial results determined taking
into account the foregoing:

» The 2024 operating profit was positive and amounted to EUR 14,933 thousand

>

>

(negative and amounted to EUR 11,230 thousand as at 31 December 2023).

The Group's profit for the year amounted to EUR 5,812 thousand (profit for the year
of EUR 753 thousand as at 31 December 2023).

Current assets increased from EUR 510,225 thousand at 31 December 2023 to EUR
536,836 thousand at 31 December 2024.

Current liabilities decreased from EUR 478,950 thousand at 31 December 2023 to EUR
465,475 thousand at 31 December 2024.

Net financial debt was negative, increasing by EUR 17,384 thousand to EUR 78,285
thousand at 31 December 2024, whereas it was negative and amounted to EUR
95,669 thousand last year.

Net Invested Capital increased from EUR 1,517,431 thousand as at 31 December 2023
to EUR 1,537,312 thousand as at 31 December 2024 and is 76.16% covered by Equity.
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Income statement

Revenues and other operating income
Revenues from core business

Revenues from Local Public Transport of which;

Municipality of Milan Service Contract Fee

Copenhagen Service Contract Fee

Regional Area Service Contract Fee

Line 5 management contract fee

Line 4 management contract fee

Thessaloniki line manogement confract fee

Fare income - Regional area

Speciol/dedicated transport services
Revenues from Parking Spaces management
Revenues from car park management
Revenues from car removal management
Other Revenues from core business
Other revenues
Other proceeds of which:

National Collective Labour Agreement contributions

_ Total revenues and other operating income
Crperating costs and other charges

Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in inventories

Costs for services
Maintenance and cleaning costs
Troction electricity
Subcontrocted tronspart services
Utilities
Production and distribution of tickets
Insurance
Custamer services, advertising and marketing
Services for employees
Various services
Professional services
Supervisory costs
Operating Leases Costs
Costs for employee benefits
Wages ond solaries
Social security contributions
Charges for defined contribution plans
Other costs
Personnel costs for internal work
Other operating costs and charges
Total operating costs and other charges
EBITDA
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995,346
952,553
724,416
130,070
19,278
30,154
29,081
8,136
15,716
4,702
18,441
10,430
3,470
452
82,175

83,763

50,190

1,161,284

(74,824)
(351,300)
(155,638)
(74,669)
(26,154)
(24,877
(6,767)
{7,060)
{6,343)
(8,178)
(12,723)
(26,141)
(2, 7501
(5,434)
(615,310)
(437,493)
{116,093)
(23.967)
(39,175)
1,418
(14,319)
(1,061,187}

Bl

925,458
296,266
693,567
117,242
18,943
28,868
19,105
450
12,762
5,329
15,876
9,519
3,570
227
81,156
90,718
50,190

11,097,332

(86,756)
(360,341)
[164,841)
(83,415)
{25,173)
{27,599)
{8,212
(6,621)
(5 734)
(5,367)
{11,368)
{19,647)
{2,264
[3,250)
[557,738)
{418 719)
{111,810)
[24,948)
{2,563
302
(14,144)

(1,022,229)
75,103

Change

69,888
66,287
30,849
12,828
335
1,286
9,976
8,686
2,954
(627)
2,565
911
(100)
225
1,019
(6,955)

63,952

11,932
9,041
9,203
8,746
(981)
2,822
1,445
{433)
(609)
{2.811)
{1,355)
{6,494)
{488)
(2,184
(57,572
{18,774)
{4,283)
981
{36,612)
1,118
{175)
(38,958)

24,994
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Table showing the ATM Group’s profit or loss for the year, highlighting the impact of non-
recurring economic effects in 2024 and 2023.

The 2024 net profit amounts to €5.8 million, which increases to €9.1 million in the adjusted
version, excluding extraordinary components.

In 2023, the net profit of €753 thousand turns into an adjusted loss of €30.5 million.

Adjustments include:

e Extraordinary contributions
e Personnel disputes

e Impairments

e Settlements of tax disputes

Amortisation, Depreciation and Impairment Losses (85,164 [86,333) 1,169
Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment (129,230) [126,8976) [2,254)
Plant and machinery {117 781) (114,997) (2. 784)
Buildings {4, 786) [5,465) 683
Industrial and commercial equipment (3.529) (3,222) (307)
Other assets {3.134) (3.288) 154
Equipment grants 49,346 44,850 4,496
Amaortisation - Intangible assets (1,541) (1,473) (B8)
Software licences (1.541) (1,473) (68)
Amortisation of right of use for leased ossets {3.267) (2,734) (533)
Depreciation - Property, Plont and Equipment {472 - (472)
Operating result 14,933 (11,230) 26,163
Financlal income 17846 13,460 4,386
Finoncial expenses {16.257) (9.176) (7.081)
MNet financial income (expense) 1,589 4,284 (2,695)
Met result of companies accounted for using the equity method  (5,724) 4,477 (10,201)
Profit before tax 10,798 (2,469) 13,267
Income taxes (4,986) 3,222 (8,208)
Profit/(Loss) for the period 5,812 753 5,059
Profit/(Loss) for the period attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent company 931 (3,941) 4,872
Minaority shareholdings (%) 4,881 4,694 187
Total 5,812 753 5,059

(*) Values mainly attributable to the minority shareholder of the direct subsidiary International

Metro Service S.r.l. and the indirect subsidiary Metro Service A/S.
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For a better understanding of the economic trend and to allow the comparability of the 2024
and 2023 financial statements characterised by significant non-recurring economic effects, the
Directors decided to highlight the non-recurring effects in the following table to allow the
"normalised" trend of the economic result to be identified. As required by the ESMA
Recommendation, guidance is provided related to the nature of the items considered in the
reconciliation.

The impact of non-recurring effects is shown below:

Profit for the period 5812 753
Penalties (1 - 552

Tax credits and contributions = . (6,199)
Ristori Decree fuel 2022 {7,819)

Provision for obsolescence 14 - 1,750
Amartisation, Depreciation and Impairment Losses 31 o 4,757
Non-Recurring Costs - Employees (6 12,696 (20,512)
Investment grants from previous years 7 (2,086)

Depreciation - Property, Flant and Equipment 1# 472

Settlement of disputes with Italian Revenue Agency ¥ . [11,557)
Total non-recurring effects 3,263 (31,209)
Adjusted (Loss)/Profit 9,075 (30,456)

(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 refers to non-recurring penalties for quality
standards in the amount of EUR 552,000. This component is included in item "Revenues from
core business" of the consolidated income statement.

(2) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199 thousand. This component is included in item "Other income" of the
consolidated income statement.

(3) The item includes the collection of the contribution of the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand referred to the Parent Company and for EUR 802 thousand referred to the subsidiary
NET S.r.l. In addition, the item includes the contribution related to the loss of revenues for the
years 2021 - 2022 for EUR 1,293 thousand related to the subsidiary NET S.r.l.

(4) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
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that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the consolidated income statement.

(5) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes incremental depreciation related to
10 trams following the reduction of their economic and technical life. This component is
included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the consolidated
income statement.

(6) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits"
of the Consolidated Income Statement.

Non-recurring personnel items for the year ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of
the provision for risks and charges related to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR
24,037 thousand, which took place following the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between
the Group and the trade unions, and (ii) the provision accrued in the amount of EUR 3,525
thousand and related to the costs of redundancy incentives recognised to personnel nearing
retirement. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits" of the
Consolidated Income Statement.

(7) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the consolidated income statement.

(8) The item for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes the EUR 472 thousand impairment
of goodwill related to the subsidiary Rail Diagnostics S.p.A., which had been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at the time of the acquisition of this company. This
component is included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the
consolidated income statement.

(9) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly includes the settlement of certain tax
disputes with the Italian Revenue Agency relating to the calculation of IRAP for the years 2007,
2008, 2010 and 2012 relating to ATM S.p.A. and the refund for the years 2012, 2013 and 2014
relating to the subsidiary Net S.r.l. This component is included in the item "Income Taxes" of the
consolidated income statement.
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Profit for the period 5,812 753
Income taxes 4,986 {3,222)
Met profit of companies accounted for using the equity method 5,724 (4,477
Met financial income/{expanse) (1,589) (4,284)
Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment 129,230 126,976
Amortisation - Intangible assets 1,541 1,473
Amortisation of right of use for leased assets 3,267 2,734
Penalties - 552

Tax credits and contributions '# - {6,199)
Ristorl Decree fuel 2022 13 (7.818) -
Provision for obsolescence 14 - 1,750
Capital grants [*! (45,346) (44, 850)
Mon-Recurring Costs - Employess ' 12,696 {20,512)
Investment grants from previous years [7) (2,088) -
Depreciation - Property, Plant and Equipment 1# 472 -
Adjusted EBITDA 102,416 50,694
Adjusted EBITDA margin B.82% 4.60%

(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 refers to non-recurring penalties for quality
standards in the amount of EUR 552,000. This component is included in item "Revenues from
core business" of the consolidated income statement.

(2) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199 thousand. This component is included in item "Other income" of the
consolidated income statement.

(3) The item includes the collection of the contribution of the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand referred to the Parent Company and for EUR 802 thousand referred to the subsidiary
NET S.r.l. In addition, the item includes the contribution related to the loss of revenues for the
years 2021 - 2022 for EUR 1,293 thousand related to the subsidiary NET S.r.1.

(4) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the consolidated income statement.
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(5) This item includes the deferral effect of the grant that has been classified as a reduction of
capital expenditure in the consolidated balance sheet and as a reduction of depreciation in the
consolidated income statement.

(6) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits"
of the Consolidated Income Statement.

Non-recurring personnel items for the year ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of
the provision for risks and charges related to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR
24,037 thousand, which took place following the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between
the Group and the trade unions, and (ii) the provision accrued in the amount of EUR 3,525
thousand and related to the costs of redundancy incentives recognised to personnel nearing
retirement. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits" of the
Consolidated Income Statement.

(7) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the consolidated income statement.

(8) The item for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes the EUR 472 thousand impairment
of goodwill related to the subsidiary Rail Diagnostics S.p.A., which had been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at the time of the acquisition of this company. This
component is included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the
consolidated income statement.
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Profit for the period 5,812 753
Income taxes 4,986 (3,222)
Net profit of companies accounted for using the equity method 5,724 (4,477)
Net financial income/(expense) (1,589) (4,284)
Penalties - 552

Tax credits and contributions iz - (6,199)
Ristori Decree fuel 2022 13 (7.819)

Provision for obsolescence 4 - 1,750
Amortisation, Depreciation and Impairment Losses - 4,757
Mon-recurring costs - Employees i 12,696 [20,512)
Investment grants from previous years {2,086}

Depreciation - Property, Plant and Equipment (8) 472

Adjusted EBIT 18,196 (30,882)
Adjusted EBIT margin 1.6% (2.8%)

(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 refers to non-recurring penalties for quality
standards in the amount of EUR 552,000. This component is included in item "Revenues from
core business" of the consolidated income statement.

(2) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199 thousand. This component is included in item "Other income" of the
consolidated income statement.

(3) The item includes the collection of the contribution of the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand referred to the Parent Company and for EUR 802 thousand referred to the subsidiary
NET S.r.l. In addition, the item includes the contribution related to the loss of revenues for the
years 2021 - 2022 for EUR 1,293 thousand related to the subsidiary NET S.r.1.

(4) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the consolidated income statement.

(5) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes incremental depreciation related
to 10 trams following the reduction of their economic and technical life. This component is
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included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the consolidated
income statement.

(6) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in item "Costs for employee
benefits" of the Consolidated Income Statement. Non-recurring personnel items for the year
ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of the provision for risks and charges related
to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR 24,037 thousand, which took place following
the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between the Group and the trade unions, and (ii) the
provision accrued in the amount of EUR 3,525 thousand and related to the costs of redundancy
incentives recognised to personnel nearing retirement. These components are included in item
"Costs for employee benefits" of the Consolidated Income Statement.

(7) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the consolidated income statement.

(8) The item for the year ended 31 December 2024 includes the EUR 472 thousand impairment
of goodwill related to the subsidiary Rail Diagnostics S.p.A., which had been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements at the time of the acquisition of this company. This
component is included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the
consolidated income statement.

Revenues and other operating income

"Revenues and other operating income" in 2024 amounted to EUR 1,161,284 thousand (EUR
1,097,332 thousand as at 31 December 2023) and increased by EUR 63,952 thousand. Total
revenue includes "Revenues from core business" of EUR 995,346 thousand, "Other Revenues"
of EUR 82,175 thousand and "Other Income" of EUR 83,763 thousand.

"Revenues from core business" amounted to EUR 995,346 thousand (EUR 925,458 thousand as
at 31 December 2023) and increased by EUR 69,888 thousand. This is broken down as follows:

e The "Municipality of Milan Service Contract Fee" increased by EUR 30,849 thousand.
The change is linked to contractual trends. The amount includes EUR 3,290,000 in
penalties attributable to the non-achievement of KPIs related to quality standards;
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e The "Copenhagen Service Contract Fee" increased compared to 2023 by EUR 12,828
thousand. The higher revenues are related to the inflation adjustment and the new
contract for the operation of the new Light Rail line;

e The "Regional Area Service Contract Fee" increased by EUR 335 thousand compared to
2023 as the main consequence of the adjustment of the fee agreed with Agenzia di
Bacino by the subsidiary NET S.r.1.;

e The "Line 5 Management Contract Fee" increased by EUR 1,286 thousand compared to
last year. The increase is related both to the adjustment of the fee according to the
change in the inflation rate and to the increase of the service due to more mileage
travelled;

e '"Line 4 Management Contract Fee" increased by EUR 9,976 thousand compared to
2023; The change is linked to both the full calendar year operation of the functional San
Babila-Linate Aeroporto section and the opening to service of the last San Babila - San
Cristoforo section on 12 October 2024;

e The "Thessaloniki management contract fee" increased by EUR 8,686 thousand and is
related to the revenue recognised for the management of the Thessaloniki metro line,
which commenced operations on 30 November 2024;

e "Fare income - Regional Area" increasing by EUR 2,954 thousands. The increase is due,
as far as the subsidiary NET S.r.l. is concerned, to the higher income related to the
increase in passengers, which led to a consequent increase in the fare income related
to the STIBM share due to NET S.r.l. As far as the Parent Company is concerned, there
were higher revenues from passenger traffic related to the management of the Como
- Brunate, Varese - Sacro Monte and Argegno - Pigra funicular railways and higher
revenues from fares deriving from adjustments referring to previous years;

e "Special/dedicated transport services" decreased by EUR 627 thousand. This change is
mainly due to the reduction in additional services requested by the Awarding Bodies in
the amount of EUR 421,000, partly offset by the activity of the Tram Ristorante, which
increased by EUR 120,000 compared to the previous year;

e Services complementary to the Service Contract with the Municipality of Milan such as
Parking Spaces, Car Parks, Removal and other core business revenues increased by a
total of EUR 3,376 thousand. Specifically, "Revenues from parking spaces management"
increased by EUR 2,565 thousand, "Revenues from car park management" increased by
EUR 911 thousand, and "Revenues from car removal management" decreased by EUR
100 thousand.

"Other Revenues from core business" amounting to EUR 452 thousand (equal to EUR 227
thousand at 31 December 2023) refer to the reimbursement of the secondment of personnel
from the ATM Group to other companies.

With regard to other operating income and proceeds, it should be noted that, "Other revenues”
in 2024 amounted to EUR 82,175 thousand (EUR 81,156 thousand at 31 December 2023) and
decreased by EUR 1,019 thousand. The increase in the item is attributable to the higher
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"Revenues for services rendered" up by EUR 870 thousand compared to 2023 due to the higher
services rendered by the Danish subsidiary Metro Service A/S in favour of the owner entity and
to the higher "Advertising and sponsorship revenues" by EUR 2.244 thousand caused mainly by
the higher fee paid to IGP Decaux in the amount of EUR 996 thousand and EUR 115 thousand
by Findomestic's recognition of an advertising contribution. These increases were partially
compensated by minor revenue for “Rental of commercial premises in metro stations” and
“Other revenue”, which decreased by EUR 721 thousand and EUR 1,374 thousand,
respectively.

"Other proceeds" in 2024 amounted to EUR 83,763 thousand (EUR 90,718 thousand as at 31
December 2023) and decreased by EUR 6,955 thousand. The decrease in this item is mainly
due to the item "Contributions" , which decreased by EUR 6,523 thousand. This includes: i)
contributions for the production of electricity using photovoltaic systems and contributions for
personnel training amounting to EUR 622 thousand and EUR 1,021 thousand, respectively; ii)
EUR 50.190 thousand to the National Collective Labour Agreement contributions pertaining to
the year, the amount of which is unchanged from the previous year, allocated by Law No. 47
of 27 February 2004 to cover the charges deriving from the renewal of the collective labour
agreement for the two-year period 2002/2003, by Law No. 58 of 22 April 2005 to cover the
charges deriving from the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement for the two-
year period 2004/2005, and by Law No. 296 of 27 December 2006 (2007 Budget) to cover the
charges deriving from the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement for the two-
year period 2006/2007; iii) grants received for a total of EUR 609 thousand against the price
compensation fund for the adjustment of maintenance costs; iv) grants for investments
accrued in previous years for EUR 4.055 thousand.

Against the above decreases, the item "Insurance Reimbursements and Costs Incurred on
Behalf of Third Parties" increased by EUR 1,059 thousand, due to the adjustments related to
the STIBM fare adjustment referred to previous years for EUR 737 thousand.

Operating costs and other charges

"Operating costs and other operating expenses" amounted to EUR 1,061,187 thousand (as at
31 December 2023, EUR 1,022,229 thousand) and increased by EUR 38,958 thousand.

The main changes relate to:

e "Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in inventories" amounted to EUR 74,824
thousand (EUR 86,756 thousand as at 31 December 2023), which decreased by EUR
11,932 thousand compared to 31 December 2023. The decrease for the period is
related mainly to the item “Purchases of goods” due to lower purchases of materials
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to meet maintenance requirements and the inventory dynamics of the related
obsolescence provision. In addition, lower costs related to traction diesel fuel were
incurred and the receipt of the state contribution related to the reimbursement of
fuel purchase expenses incurred during 2022 occurred (the latter contributed
positively to the cost reduction in the amount of EUR 5,724,000);

"Service costs" amounted to EUR 351,300 thousand (EUR 360,341 thousand as at 31
December 2023), which decreased by EUR 9,041 thousand. The main entries are:

o "Maintenance and cleaning costs” decreased by EUR 9,203 thousand. The
decrease in maintenance costs incurred during the year, totalling EUR 8,697
thousand, is mainly related to: i) lower charges incurred for rolling stock
maintenance activities totalling EUR 6,667 thousand; ii) lower charges for the
period relating to maintenance work carried out on the rolling stock and
infrastructure, totalling EUR 5.910 thousand; jii) higher positive adjustments
relating to prior years of EUR 2,835 thousand, partly offset by higher charges
relating to maintenance of hardware and software of EUR 1,828 thousand.
Cleaning costs incurred during the year, totalling EUR 34,754,000, were in line
with the previous year's figure of EUR 36,105,000. In 2024, the specific provision
for environmental risks set up in previous years was used in the amount of EUR
446 thousand for specific maintenance work performed. EUR 5,174 thousand
was set aside for the provision for restoration costs of the Danish subsidiary
Metro Service A/S.

"Electric traction energy", a decrease of Euro 8,746 thousand. The item discounts minor
costs incurred in the period by both the parent company and the Danish subsidiary
Metro Service A/S. The change from the same period last year shows the effect of the
generalised decrease in raw material prices. There was also an increase in revenues
from the hedging of traction electricity in the amount of EUR 9,856,000, obtained as a
result of hedging transactions on forward purchase prices. In an effort to take all
possible actions to mitigate the effects of the variability of electricity prices during
2024, the parent company continued monitoring the energy price per Mw/h. During
this period, market benchmarks were below budgeted levels, so between March and
April, three hedging transactions were concluded (using the so-called ‘commodity
swap') for the period April - December 2024 on a total reference quantity of 114,990.00
Mw/h;

"Utilities" decreased compared to 2023 by EUR 2,822 thousand due to a decrease in
costs related to "Gas and district heating" for EUR 1,913 thousand as well as an increase
in revenue from the hedging of lighting electricity for EUR 2,324 thousand. This positive
effect is partially adjusted by the increase in lighting costs, which rose by EUR
1,019,000;

"Production and distribution of tickets" decreased by EUR 1,445 thousand, as a direct
result of the ticket sales volumes;

"Customer services, advertising and marketing" increased by EUR 609 thousand
compared to 2023. The higher expensesincurred in 2024 mainly refer to new marketing
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initiatives in the amount of EUR 641 thousand, offset by minor costs related to various
advertising;

"Services for employees" increased by EUR 2,811 thousand compared to 2023. The
increase is attributable to training activities for employees, which increased by EUR
2,167 thousand, travel expenses, which increased by EUR 502 thousand compared to
2023, and medical expenses, which increased by EUR 80 thousand.

"Miscellaneous services" increased by EUR 1,355 thousand compared to 2023; this
refers to bank commission charges of EUR 7,761 thousand (EUR 6,475 thousand in
2023) and charges related to transport and material handling and waste disposal
services of EUR 3,221 thousand (EUR 3,085 thousand in 2023).

"Professional services" increased by EUR 6,494 thousand compared to 2023, the
change is related to the greater number of assignments carried out in the period by the
Parent Company and the Danish subsidiary Metro Service A/S in reference to the
support requested from professionals for preliminary operations for the placement of
the bond issue, participation in international tenders, the expansion of ATM S.p.A.'s
business and IT services;

"Subcontracted services" increased compared to 2023 by EUR 981 thousand, the
adjustment compared to the previous year is mainly related to the ISTAT 2024
adjustment;

"Operating lease costs" increased by EUR 2,184 thousand compared to the previous
year;

"Costs for Employee Benefits", which amounted to EUR 615,310 thousand (EUR
557,738 thousand as at 31 December 2023), increased by a total of EUR 57,572
thousand. This increase resulted from higher costs for "Wages and salaries" in the
amount of EUR 18,774 thousand, higher "Social security charges" in the amount of EUR
4,283 thousand, and an increase in "Other costs" in the amount of EUR 36,612
thousand. Finally, the item was affected by the decrease in "Charges for defined
contribution plans" by EUR 981 thousand and by the increase in recoveries for
"Personnel costs for internal work" by EUR 1,116 thousand;

The higher "Wages and salaries" are mainly related to the higher salaries of the
employees of the Danish subsidiary Metro Service A/S and the Greek subsidiary Thema
SA and, for the Parent Company, to the higher charges related to the second-level
company agreements signed in May and November 2024, of EUR 500 and EUR 350 per
person, respectively. The increase in the item "Other Costs" is related, for over EUR 20
million, to the release of provisions made in 2023 relative to disputes with personnel
concerning the possible recognition of specific pay indemnities during the holiday
period; also affecting the movement of the item is the amount of EUR 10,808 thousand
related to the provision made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel
concerning the performance of overtime. Finally, with reference to item "Social
Security Charges", this is affected by the contribution component linked to salary
increases;
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e "Other Operating Costs and Charges" which amounted to EUR 14,319 thousand (as at
31 December 2023 amounting to EUR 14,144 thousand) increased by EUR 175
thousand. The items that show the main changes refer to "Other Operating Charges" ,
which increased by EUR 1,219 thousand, to the change in the provision for bad debts
of EUR 499 thousand, and to lower provisions made to cover emerging risks of EUR
2,566 thousand. Included in this grouping are extraordinary contingent liabilities in the
amount of EUR 1,415,000 referring to the analysis performed on credit and debit items
for which the title of collectability and liquidity has ceased to exist;

e "Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses" amounted to EUR 85,164
thousand (31 December 2023: EUR 86,333 thousand) and decreased by EUR 1,169
thousand. The decrease compared to 2023 is attributable to higher depreciation
related to the revision of the useful lives of 10 Eurotrams carried out during the
previous year for EUR 4,756,000.

"Net financial income (expenses)" were positive and amounted to EUR 1,589 thousand (as at
31 December 2023 positive and amounted to EUR 4,284 thousand) and decreased by EUR

2,695 thousand.

The item "Financial income", totalling EUR 17,846 thousand (EUR 13,460 thousand as at 31
December 2023), increased by EUR 4,386 thousand. This increase was mainly due to higher
interest income of EUR 7,796,000, partially offset by other financial income, which decreased
by EUR 4,117,000 compared to the previous year. In particular, with regard to "Interest
income" , the item that contributed most to the positive change is represented by “Interest
income on loans to associates”, which refer exclusively to interest accrued on the loan granted
to SPV M4 S.p.A. These increased from the previous year because on 20 December 2023 ATM
S.p.A. increased its stake in the company to 31.53%, becoming its second largest shareholder.
On the other hand, the interest on the loan that had been granted to the company Metro 5
S.p.A. and that had been fully repaid on 29 April 2023 ceased to exist with respect to 2023.

The item "Financial expenses" totalled EUR 16,257 thousand (EUR 9,176 thousand as at 31
December 2023), an improvement of EUR 7,081 thousand compared to 2023. The change is
mainly related to higher “Interest expense on loans and bond issue”, which comprises not only
interest expense recognised on the bond loan and financial payables for European Investment
Bank disbursements totalling EUR 5,001 thousand (at 31 December 2023, EUR 4,334
thousand), but also interest expense accrued on credit lines totalling EUR 7,710 thousand,

totally referring to interest accrued on the Bridge to Bond.

The "Net result of companies valued using the equity method", totalling EUR 5,724 thousand,
includes the valuation of the companies Metro 5 S.p.A., SPV Linea M4 S.p.A. and Movibus S.r.l.
The economic effect was negative on the whole, specifically: a positive net effect of EUR 3,978
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thousand for Metro 5 S.p.A., a negative net effect of EUR 10,453 thousand for SPV M4 S.p.A,,
and a positive effect of EUR 751 thousand for Movibus S.r.l.

The item "Income Taxes" mainly include the release of deferred tax assets recognised against
taxed provisions. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities transferred to the Income
Statement amounted to EUR 2,183,000 and EUR 244,000, respectively. Current taxes mainly
refer to Metro Service A/S for EUR 2,439 thousand.

The "Profit for the Year" was EUR 5,812 thousand, including the profit attributable to minority
interests of EUR 4,881 thousand. The foreign subsidiary Metro Service A/S contributed a
positive EUR 6,164,000 to the profit for the year, and the foreign subsidiary THEMA S.A.
contributed a positive EUR 458,000.

Reclassified Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

- oierenc

MNET INVESTED CAPITAL

Property, plant and equipment 1,112,798 1,150,091 (37,283)
Intangible assets 4,830 4,163 667
Rights of use on leased assets 8,572 6,177 2,385
Financial fixed assets 285,670 286,234 (564)
Other receivables and non-current assets 54,081 39,491 14,580

A. CAPITAL ASSETS 1,465,951 1,486,156 (20,205)
Trade receivables 292,776 250,819 41957
Other current assets 135,796 154,446 118,650)
Inventories 108,264 104,960 3,304

B. CURRENT ASSETS 536,836 310,225 26,611
Trade payables 329,831 346,887 117,056)
Other current liabilities 135,644 132,063 3,581

C. CURRENT LIABILITIES 465,475 478,950 (13,475)

0. WORKING CAPITAL (D=B-C) 71,361 31,275 40,086

E. MNET INVESTED CAPITAL (E=A+D) 1,537,312 1,517,431 19,881
Mon-continuous assets and liabilities 7,863 3,200 4,663

TOTAL MET INVESTED CAPITAL AND NON-CONTINUOUS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 1,545,175 1,520,631 24,544

Total "Net Invested Capital and Discontinued Assets and Liabilities" as at 31 December 2024
amounted to EUR 1,545,175 thousand and increased by EUR 24,544 thousand compared to 31
December 2023.

"Capital assets" as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 1,465,951 thousand. During the

year, capital expenditure amounted to EUR 118,226 thousand (net of the increase in usage
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rights recognised in accordance with IFRS 16 in the amount of EUR 1,633 thousand), while
depreciation, amortisation and write-downs recognised in the income statement amounted to
EUR 134,510 thousand (including the amortisation of usage rights in the amount of EUR 3,267
thousand) and gross of the effect of grants for plant and equipment amounting to EUR 49,346
thousand.

"Current assets" as at 31 December 2024 showed a positive balance of EUR 71,361 thousand,
an improvement of EUR 40,086 thousand compared to 31 December 2023. The change is
attributable to the increase in trade receivables. The dynamics of changes in the various
components of Working Capital are better analysed in the Notes to the Financial Statements.

The Group's "Net Financial Debt" as of 31 December 2024 - determined in accordance with
ESMA Recommendations 32-382-1138 - for the purposes of this Report on Operations taking
into account bonds and UCITs held by the Group, was positive at EUR 78,285 thousand
compared to the positive value of EUR 95,669 thousand as of 31 December 2023. The change
compared to 31 December 2023 is mainly due to the bond issued by the Parent Company and
changes in portfolio liquidity.

The balance of the loan with the European Investment Bank decreased due to the repayments
made during the year in the amount of EUR 11,360 thousand.
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Notes -3 1.12.2023 Change

1 A) Cash and cash equivalents (179,824) 1142, 186) (37,638)
2 C) Current financial assets (145,750) (170,281} 24,531
D) Liquidity (A+B+C) (325,574) (312,467) (13,107

E) Current financial indebtedness

including debt instruments, but

3 ( . g - 151,278 220,193 (6&,915)
excluding the current portion of

non-current financial indebtedness)

F) Current portion of non-current financial

4 14,757 14,101 B
indebtedness 73 10 5
G) Current financial debt (E+F) 166,035 234,294 (68,259)
H) Net current finandial indebtedness (G+D)  (159,539) (78,173) (81,386)
1) Non-current financial indebtedness

5 {excluding current portion and debt 168,383 173,842 (5,459)
instruments)

g 1) Debt instruments 9,441 5 69,441
L) Non-current financlial indebtedness [I+1+K) 237,824 173,842 63,982
Total financial indebtedness (H+L) 78,285 95,669 (17,384)

1 - Includes the balance sheet item "Cash and cash equivalents" described in Note 21.

2 - Includes the balance sheet item "Current financial assets" described in Note 17.

3 - Includes the "Bridge to Bond” and the current portion of the bond. The items are recorded
under the balance sheet item "Current Financial Liabilities" described in Note 24.

4 - Includes the current portion of the loan with the European Investment Bank, the current
portion of the bond granted to the subsidiary THEMA SA and the current portion of lease
liabilities, recognised in accordance with IFRS16. The items are recorded under the balance
sheet item "Current Financial Liabilities" described in Note 24.

5 - Includes the non-current portion of the loan with the European Investment Bank, the non-
current portion of the bond issue granted to the subsidiary Thema SA and the non-current
portion of lease liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRS16, recorded under "Non-
current financial liabilities" described in Note 24.

6 - Includes the non-current portion of the bond issue included in "Non-current financial
liabilities" described in Note 24.
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3422028 1 12,20 Difference

SOURCES OF FINAMCING

Financial payables 403,859 408,136 {4,277
Financial receivables - - -
Cash and securities (325,574) (312,467) {13,107}
F. NET FINAMNCIAL DEBT 78,285 95,669 (17.384)
Employee benefits 76,362 83,493 {7,131)
Other non-current liabilities 213775 165,954 47,821
G. NOM-CURRENT LIABILITIES 290,137 249,447 40,690
H. NET EQUITY 1,151,074 1,150,798 276
- Share Capital 700,000 700,000 -
- Reserves 381,802 393,474 111,672)
- Profit/(Loss) carried forward 68,341 61,265 7076
- Prafit/|Loss) for the perlod 931 (3,941) 4872
I. MINORITY NET EQUITY 25,679 24,717 962
L. SOURCES OF FUNDING (L=F+G+H+l} 1,545,175 1,520,631 24,544

The "Group Net Equity"” as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 1,151,074 thousand, an
increase of EUR 276 thousand compared to the year 2023. The increase is attributable to the
positive change in the item "Gains/(Losses) carried forward" in the amount of EUR 7,076
thousand, including the loss for the year of EUR 4,872 thousand and the negative change in the
item "Reserves" in the amount of EUR 11,672 thousand. The latter is justified by the negative
change of EUR 11,017 thousand to the allocation of the "Loss for the Year" 2023, the negative
contribution of EUR 34 thousand to the statement of comprehensive income related to the
valuation of the employee severance indemnity according to the actuarial method required by
IAS 19, and the negative contribution of EUR 621 thousand to other positive changes in the
statement of comprehensive income related to the valuation of the securities portfolio and the
change in the "Cash Flow Hedge Reserve".
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Reclassified Consolidated Cash Flow Statement -MS Change
Profitf{Loss] for the period 5812 753 5,058
Adjustments to bring net prafit bock into line with net cash flow from aperations:

- depreciation, amortisation and consolidation adjustments B5,164 55,333 (1L.169)

- net capital gains on asset disposals [306) 111} {145)

- Lanes, interest, dividends 3,382 [7.425) 10.B07

- impakrment on financial assets 15 [B1]) 96

- ather non-manetary changes (3,E83) [1,375) (2.314)
Chamge in net warking capital (42 416} E7 883 (130,299)
Change in cash and cash equivalents provision bl 721 100
Mon-current liabilites [change in provisions for risks and severance indemnities) 6076 [26,335) 32411
Interest padd on leased assets IFRS 16 [318) [163) (155)
Taxes paid, interest (paid] received, dividends received [B451) [33) (6,418)
Consolidated cash flow from operations 47,298 139,375 (92,077)
Investments

Mat inwestmants in intangible and tangible assats [118,226] (203, 40r) 84,183
Realisation price of techaical disinvestrments 257 1,078 (E21)
Changes in payables to suppliers for technical investments 156 [29,410) 29,566
Investments in financial assets 40,074 [224,233) 264,307
Changes in capital grants 82,700 178,430 (85,730)
Consolidated free cash flow 52,255 [137,169) 180,428
Change In current and nan-current financial payables [B.EaE) 103,278 (109,974)
Cash fevw fram equity [dividends paid) (3,520) (3,871) [EE]]
Currency exchange effect 110 [125) 235
Repayment of principal on leased assets IFRS 16 [4,087) [2.195) (1L.592)
Consolidated net cash flow for the year 37.666 [d0.082) 77748

The "Consolidated cash flow from operations" in 2024 was positive amounting to EUR 47,298
thousand, a decrease of EUR 92,077 thousand compared to 2023. The dynamics associated
with Net Working Capital predominantly contributed to the result.
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Consolidated "Free cash flow" was negative and amounted to EUR 52,259 thousand, mainly
due to the dynamics associated with investments in financial assets, supplier payments for
investments, and dynamics associated with technical investments in tangible and intangible
assets net of grants for plants.

The "Consolidated Net Cash Flow for the Year" is positive and amounted to EUR 37,666
thousand and is affected not only by the dynamics related to the change in Net Working
Capital, but also by the investment activities in tangible fixed assets and financial assets.

4.2 Commentary on ATM S.p.A.'s financial results

ATM S.p.A.'s financial statements at 31 December 2024 are prepared in accordance with
IAS/IFRS.

Below are the comparative economic and financial results determined taking into account the
foregoing:

» The 2024 operating profit was negative and amounted to EUR 2,328 thousand
(negative and amounted to EUR 25,392 thousand as at 31 December 2023).

» The profit for the year was EUR 3,083 thousand (loss for the year was EUR 11,017
thousand as at 31 December 2023).

» Current assets were EUR 464,316 thousand (EUR 440,762 thousand as at 31
December 2023).

» Current liabilities amounted to EUR 422,565 thousand (EUR 430,978 thousand as at
31 December 2023).

» Current financial debt amounted to EUR 148,854 thousand (EUR 157,911 thousand
as at 31 December 2023).

» Net Invested Capital increased from EUR 1,463,436 thousand as at 31 December
2023 to EUR 1,486,690 thousand as at 31 December 2024 and is 73% covered by
Equity.
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Income statement

Rewvenues and other operating income
Revenues fram core business
Revenues from Local Public Transpart of which:
Municipatity of Milas Service Confract Fee
Regional Area Service Contract Fee
Line 5 maonogement contract fee
Line 4 management controct fee
Fare income - Regional area

Speciol/dedicated transport serwices

Revenues from Parking Spoces, Car Parks and Removal
rronagement

Revenues for services rendered to Group companies
Other revenues
Other proceeds of which:

Natioral Collective Labaur Agreement contributions
Total revenues and other operating Income
Operating costs and other charges
Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in inventories
Costs for sendces

Maintenance and cleaning costs

Traction electricity

Subcontracted transport senvices

LIlitfes

Production and distribution of tickets

Insuwrance

Customer services, advertising and marketing

Services for employees

Various sernvces

Professional services

SUpErvisory costs
Oiperating Leases Costs
Costs for employee benefits

Woges ond salaries

Saclal security contributions

Charges for defined contribution plans

Other costs

Fersannel costs for internal work
Other operating costs and charges

Tatal operating costs and other charges

_ 31.12.2023 Change
835,390 790,151 45,239
795,887 754,983 40,904
724,415 693,567 30,848
3,531 4,338 {807
30,153 28 867 1,286
29,081 19,105 5,975
4017 3,795 221
4,690 5310 {620
32,341 28.965 3,375
7.162 6,203 959
64,614 66,627 12,013)
72,963 80,920 {7.957)
48,644 48,644 -

: 972,967 937,698 35,269
(51,712) [74,085) 12,373
{202,997} [310,229) 17,232
128,861} {142, 784) 13,923
{56,937) (65.243) 83006
{21,215 {20,408) {208
(24,338) [27.128) 2,731
(6. 768] [g.212) 1,444
(6.870) (6,541} i324)
{6,150) {5,555) {595)
{6,042 [4,409) {1,633/
{12,074 [10,825) {1,248]
{21,439/ {16,973) {4,468
{2,302 {2,1500 {152
{4.416) [2,613) {1,803)
(523,073} [480,791) (42,282]
{363,229) {357,524) {5,705/
{108,035} (104,091) {3,944
{23,204/ (24,103) 999
(30,123) 4,625 {34, 748)
1,418 302 1,116
{12,100) (12,967} 867

: (894,298} (880,685) (13,613
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EBITDA
Amortisation, Depreciation and Impalrment Losses
Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment
Plant and machinery
Buildings
industrial and commercial equipment

Qther assets

Equipment grants
Amortisation - Intangible assets
Software licences

Amortization of right of use for leased assets
Operating result

Financial income

Financial expenses

Net financial income [expense)

Profit before tax

Income taxes

Profit/[Loss) for the period

78,669
{80,997
{125,463)
{116,086)
{4,758)
{2.434)
{2,185)
48,449
(985)
{985)
{2.998)

(2,328)
24,114
[16,624)
7,490
5,162
'qz,am

3,083

57,013
(82,405)
(123,083
(113,412
(5,425]
(2,484
(1,762

44,161
(1,026)
(1.076]
(2,457)

(25,392)
18,116
(9,636)
8,480
(16,912)
5,895

(11,017)

21,656
1,408
{2,380)
{2,674)
667

50
(423)

4,288
41
41
(541}

23,064
5,858
{6,988)
(920)
22,074
(7,974)

14,100

For a better understanding of the economic trend and to allow the comparability of the 2024

and 2023 financial statements characterised by significant non-recurring economic effects, the

Directors decided to highlight the non-recurring effects in the following table to allow the

"normalised" trend of the economic result to be identified. As required by the ESMA

Recommendation, guidance is provided related to the nature of the items considered in the

reconciliation.

The impact of non-recurring effects is shown below:

(Loss)/Profit for the period

Tax credits and contributions '

Ristori Decree fuel 2022 12

Provision for obsalescence 19

Amaortisation, Depreciation and Impairment Losses 14
Man-recurring costs - Employees 15

Investment grants from previous years 19

Defining disputes with talian Revenue Agency 17
Total non-recurring effects

Adjusted |Loss)/Profit

100

3,083

15,724)

12,431
(2,088)

4,622
7,705

{11,017)
(6,199)

1,750
4,757
{20,096)
{10,913)
(30,701)
(41,718)
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(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199,000. This component is included in item "Other income" of the income
statement.

(2) This item includes the collection of the contribution from the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in
inventories" of the income statement.

(3) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the income statement.

(4) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes incremental depreciation related to
10 trams following the reduction of their economic and technical life. This component is
included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the income statement.

(5) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits"
of the Income Statement.

Non-recurring personnel items for the year ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of
the provision for risks and charges related to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR
23,435 thousand, which took place as a result of the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between
the Company and the trade unions, and (ii) the provision set aside in the amount of EUR 3,339
thousand and related to the costs of redundancy incentives recognised to personnel nearing
retirement. These components are included in the item "Costs for employee benefits" of the
Income Statement.

(6) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the income statement.

(7) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 mainly includes the settlement of certain tax
disputes with the Italian Revenue Agency related to the calculation of IRAP for the years 2007,
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2008, 2010 and 2012 relating to ATM S.p.A. This component is included in the item "income
tax" of the income statement.

(Loss)/Profit for the period 3,083 (11,017)
income taxes 2,079 (5,895)
Met financial income/|expense) (7,490) (8,480
Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment 125,463 123,083
Amartisation - Intangible assets 985 1.026
Amaortisation of right of use for leased assets 2,998 2,457
Tax credits and contributions 11 : (6,199)
Ristori Decree fuel 2022 12 (5,724)

Provision for obsolescence 13 - 1,750
Capital grants *I (48,449) (44,161)
Mon-recurring costs - Employees 13 12,431 (20,096)
Investment grants from previous years (2,086)

Adjusted EBITDA 83,290 32,468
Adjusted EBITDA margim 8.6% 3.5%

(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199 thousand. This component is included in item "Other income" of the
income statement.

(2) This item includes the collection of the contribution from the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in
inventories" of the income statement.

(3) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the income statement.

(4) This item includes the deferral effect of the grant, which has been classified as a reduction
of capital expenditure in the balance sheet and as a reduction of depreciation in the income

statement.

(5) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
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to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in item "Costs for employee benefits"
of the Income Statement.

Non-recurring personnel items for the year ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of
the provision for risks and charges related to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR
23,435 thousand, which took place as a result of the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between
the Company and the trade unions, and (ii) the provision set aside in the amount of EUR 3,339
thousand and related to the costs of redundancy incentives recognised to personnel nearing
retirement. These components are included in the item "Costs for employee benefits" of the
Income Statement.

(6) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the income statement.

[Loss)/Profit for the period 3,083 (11,017)
Incame taxes 2,079 {5,895)
Met financial income/{expense) (7.490) (8,480)
Tax credits and contributions 11 - (6,199)
Ristori Decree fuel 2022 12 (5,724} -
Provision for obsolescence 12 . 1,750
Amortisation, Depreciation and Impairment Losses 14 4,757
Mon-recurring costs - Employees 1% 12,431 {20,096)
Investment grants from previous years '® (2,086) -
Adjusted EBIT 2,293 (45,180)
Adjusted EBIT margin 0.2% {4.8%)

(1) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the tax credit on electricity costs in
the amount of EUR 6,199 thousand. This component is included in item "Other income" of the
income statement.

(2) This item includes the collection of the contribution from the Ristoro Decree related to 2022
fuel, previously described in paragraph "3.2.1 Diesel price increase subsidies" for EUR 5,724
thousand. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in
inventories" of the income statement.
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(3) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes the provision for obsolescence
accrued in the year 2023 in the amount of EUR 1,750,000, related to the inventory of materials
that have become obsolete following the revision of the useful life of 10 trams that became
obsolete in the year 2023. This component is included in item "Costs for the purchase of goods
and changes in inventories" of the income statement.

(4) The item for the year ended 31 December 2023 includes incremental depreciation related to
10 trams following the reduction of their economic and technical life. This component is
included in item "Amortisation, Depreciation and impairment losses" of the income statement.

(5) The non-recurring personnel item for the year ended 31 December 2024 mainly includes the
provision of EUR 10,808,000 made to cover risks related to a dispute with personnel concerning
the performance of overtime. In addition, it includes the overall effect of the provision relating
to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday period and the
provision relating to the recognition of specific remuneration parameters during the holiday
period for fixed-term staff. These components are included in the item "Costs for employee
benefits" of the Income Statement.

Non-recurring personnel items for the year ended 31 December 2023 include (i) the release of
the provision for risks and charges related to disputes with personnel in the amount of EUR
23,435 thousand, which took place as a result of the agreement signed on 3 April 2023 between
the Company and the trade unions, and (ii) the provision set aside in the amount of EUR 3,339
thousand and related to the costs of redundancy incentives recognised to personnel nearing
retirement. These components are included in the item "Costs for employee benefits" of the
Income Statement.

(6) This item includes the receipt of investment grants pertaining to previous years. This
component is included in item "Other income" of the income statement.

For the further benefit of a better understanding of the Income Statement, the main
components of revenues, expenses, income and charges are analysed below.

Revenues and other operating income

"Revenues and other operating income" in 2024 amounted to EUR 972,967 thousand (EUR
937,698 thousand as at 31 December 2023) and increased by EUR 35,269 thousand.
Contributing to this change were increases in "Revenues from core business" in the amount of
EUR 45,239 thousand and decreases in "Other Revenues" in the amount of EUR 2,013 thousand
and "Other Income" in the amount of EUR 7,957 thousand.
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"Revenues from core business" amounted to EUR 835,390 thousand (EUR 790,151 thousand as
at 31 December 2023) and increased by EUR 45,239 thousand. The item "Revenues from LPT"
increased by EUR 40,904 thousand, the determinants of which are as follows:

The "Municipality of Milan Service Contract Fee" increased by EUR 30,848 thousand.
The change is linked to contractual trends. The amount includes EUR 3,290,000 in
penalties attributable to the non-achievement of KPIs related to quality standards;
The "Line 5 Management Contract Fee" increased by EUR 1,286 thousand compared
to last year. The increase is related both to the adjustment of the fee according to the
change in the inflation rate and to the increase of the service due to more mileage
travelled;

The "Line 4 management contract fee" increased by EUR 9,976 thousand compared
to 2023. The increase is linked to both the full calendar year operation of the
functional San Babila-Linate Aeroporto section and the opening of the last San Babila
- San Cristoforo section to service on 12 October 2024;

"Fare Income - Regional Area" increasing by EUR 221 thousands. The increase is
mainly due to higher revenues from passenger traffic related to the management of
the Como - Brunate and Varese - Sacro Monte funicular railways and to higher fare
revenues from adjustments referring to previous years;

Special/dedicated transport services decreased by EUR 620 thousand. This change is
mainly related to the reduction in additional services requested by the Awarding
Bodies, partly offset by the activity of the Tram Ristorante, which increased compared
to the previous year;

Services complementary to the service contract with the Municipality of Milan such
as Parking Spaces, Car Parks, Car Removal increased by a total of EUR 3,376 thousand.
Specifically, "Revenues from parking management" increased by EUR 2,565 thousand,
"Revenues from car park management" increased by EUR 911 thousand, and
"Revenues from car removal management" decreased by EUR 100 thousand.

Finally, the item "Revenues for services rendered to Group companies" increased by
a total of EUR 959 thousand mainly due to personnel seconded by the Company to
the Greek subsidiary THEMA S.A.

With regard to other operating income and revenues, it should be noted that, "Other
Revenues" amounted to EUR 64,614 thousand (EUR 66,627 thousand as at 31 December 2023)
and decreased by EUR 2,013 thousand. The decrease is related for EUR 2,116 thousand to
lower "Revenues for services rendered" due to fewer services rendered referring to

maintenance activities on municipal-owned infrastructures, to the Area B and C payment

system, to the Traffic and Territory Control system and consulting activity to third parties.

In addition, the items "Metro Station Commercial Premises Rentals" decreased by EUR 722

thousand and "Other Revenues" by EUR 1,433 thousand. The decrease is mainly related to

lower revenues from the sale of operating materials, revenues from the disposal of inventory
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materials, and to a residual extent to lower revenues from the sale of magnetic cards. Lastly,
increases related to advertising revenue of EUR 2,259,000 should be noted.

"Other proceeds" in 2024 amounted to EUR 72,963 thousand (EUR 80,920 thousand as at 31
December 2023) and decreased by EUR 7,957 thousand. The item "Contributions" refers for
EUR 48,644 thousand to the National Collective Labour Agreement contributions pertaining to
the year and whose amount is unchanged from the previous year, allocated by Law No. 47 of
27 February 2004 to cover the charges deriving from the renewal of the collective labour
agreement for the two-year period 2002/2003, by Law No. 58 of 22 April 2005 to cover the
charges deriving from the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement for the two-
year period 2004/2005, and by Law No. 296 of 27 December 2006 (2007 Budget) to cover the
charges for the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement for the two-year period
2006/2007. In addition, contributions received against the price compensation fund for the
adjustment of maintenance costs totalled EUR 609,000. During the year under review, EUR
1,960,000 of investment grants pertaining to previous years were received. In addition, in
2023, the collection of EUR 6,199,000 related to the energy tax credit Decree Law 21/2022
Article 3, which did not occur during the year under review.

Finally, there was a decrease in the items "Income from penalties invoiced to suppliers" in the
amount of EUR 1,584 thousand and "Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment" in
the amount of EUR 408 thousand.

Operating costs and other charges

"Costs and other operating expenses" amounted to EUR 894,298 thousand (EUR 880,685
thousand as at 31 December 2023) and increased by EUR 13,613 thousand.

The main changes relate to:

e "Costs for the purchase of goods and changes in inventories" amounted to EUR 61,712

thousand (EUR 74,085 thousand as at 31 December 2023), which decreased by EUR
12,373 thousand compared to 31 December 2023.
The component on which there is an overall reduction in costs is "Purchase of goods
due to the effect of the collection, which occurred during the year 2024, of the
government grant related to the reimbursement of fuel purchase expenses incurred
during 2022 and due to the general reduction in costs for the purchase of materials.
The is partially due to the reimbursement of excise duty on diesel in 2024 amounting
to EUR 3,207 thousand, a decrease of EUR 443 thousand compared to 2023;

e "Service costs" amounted to EUR 292,997 thousand (EUR 310,229 thousand as at 31
December 2023), which decreased by EUR 17,232 thousand.

n
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The main items, which show a decrease compared to 31 December 2023, are:

"Maintenance and cleaning costs” decreased by EUR 13,923 thousand. The decrease
in maintenance costs incurred during the year, totalling EUR 12,492 thousand, is
related to the following: i) lower charges incurred for rolling stock maintenance
activities totalling EUR 7,930 thousand; ii) lower charges for the period relating to
maintenance work carried out on the rolling stock and infrastructure, totalling EUR
5.599 thousand; iii) higher positive adjustments relating to prior years of EUR 2,833
thousand, partly offset by higher charges relating to maintenance of hardware and
software of EUR 1,460 thousand.

Cleaning, which decreased by EUR 1,431,000 compared to 2023, was mainly affected by the

reduction in costs related to vehicle cleaning;

"Electric traction energy", a decrease of Euro 8,306 thousand. The change from the
same period last year reflects the effect of the generalised decrease in raw material
prices. There was also an increase in revenue from the hedging of traction electricity
in the amount of EUR 9,856,000, obtained as a result of hedging transactions on
forward purchase prices;

"Utilities" decreased by EUR 2,791 thousand over 2023. This change is mainly due to
lower charges for "Gas and district heating" of EUR 1,913 thousand as well as an
increase in revenue from the hedging of lighting electricity in the amount of EUR 2,323
thousand. This positive effect is partially adjusted by the increase in lighting costs of
EUR 1,018,000;

"Production and distribution of tickets" decreased by EUR 1,444 thousand, as a direct
result of the ticket sales volumes;

The main cost items showing an increase are:

"Customer services, advertising and marketing" increased by EUR 595 thousand, due
to higher charges incurred for comarketing initiatives, offset by lower costs related to
various publications;

"Services for employees" increased by EUR 1,633 thousand, due primarily to the
increase in training activities for employees and travel expenses;

"Miscellaneous services" increased compared to 2023 by EUR 1,249 thousand. The
item mainly refers to bank commission charges of EUR 7,735,000 and transport
services for material handling and waste disposal of EUR 2,250,000;

"Professional Services" increased by EUR 4,466 thousand. The increase is related to
the higher number of contracts awarded during the period by the Company in relation
to the support requested from professionals for preliminary operations for the bond
issue, participation in international tenders, the expansion of ATM S.p.A.'s business
and IT services;

"Subcontracted transport services" increased by EUR 808 thousand, the change is
related to the ISTAT 2024 adjustment.
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e "Operating lease costs" increased by EUR 1,803,000 compared to the previous year
due to the increase in costs related to rent payable and the rental of plant, equipment
and vehicles.

e "Costs for employee benefits", which amounted to EUR 523,073 thousand (EUR
480,791 thousand as at 31 December 2023), increased by a total of EUR 42,282
thousand. This item includes costs incurred for wages and social security
contributions, provisions by law and pursuant to industry agreements, as well as costs
for accrued but unused holiday and paid time off. The increase is the result of higher
"Wages and salaries" in the amount of EUR 5,705 thousand, higher "Social security
charges" in the amount of EUR 3,944 thousand and higher "Other costs" in the
amount of EUR 34,748 thousand. Finally, the item was affected by the decrease in
"Charges for defined contribution plans" by EUR 999 thousand and the increase in
recoveries for "Personnel costs for internal work" by EUR 1,116 thousand.

The increase in the item "Wages and salaries" is due to the higher wages and salaries of ATM
S.p.A.'s personnel related to the higher charges following the second-level company
agreements signed in May and November 2024 of EUR 500 and EUR 350 per person,
respectively. The increase in the item "Other Costs" is related, for over EUR 20 million, to the
release of provisions made in 2023 relative to disputes with personnel concerning the possible
recognition of specific pay indemnities during the holiday period; also affecting the movement
of the item is the amount of EUR 10,808 thousand related to the provision made to cover risks
related to a dispute with personnel concerning the performance of overtime. Finally, with
reference to the item "Social Charges", this is affected by the contribution component linked

to salary increases.

Costs are recognised net of capitalised personnel costs for internal work in the amount of EUR
1,418 thousand (EUR 302 thousand in 2023) and refer to the portion of capitalised personnel
costs for extraordinary maintenance work carried out on the metro train fleet and trams.

e "Other Operating Costs and Charges" which totalled EUR 12,100 thousand (EUR 12,967
thousand as at 31 December 2023) and decreased by EUR 867 thousand.
The decrease with respect to 2023 was mainly due to the change in the provision for bad debts,
which decreased in the period by EUR 441 thousand due to releases made during the year,
partly offset by higher provisions made to meet emerging risks in the amount of EUR 2,248
thousand.

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses amounted to a total of EUR 80,997 thousand
(EUR 82,405 thousand as at 31 December 2023) and decreased by EUR 1,408 thousand. No
write-downs were recorded for the period under review.
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During the financial year 2023, the useful life of 10 Eurotrams had been revised as a result of
the revision of the operating schedules, the increased depreciation recognised to the income
statement following the change in useful life totalled EUR 4,756,000.

"Net financial income (expenses)" were positive and amounted to EUR 7,490 thousand (as at
31 December 2023 positive and amounted to EUR 8,480 thousand) and decreased by EUR 990
thousand. The item "Financial income", totalling EUR 24,114 thousand (EUR 18,116 thousand
as at 31 December 2023), increased by EUR 5,998 thousand. The increase is mainly related to
the item "Interest income on loans to associates", which includes interest accrued on the loan
granted to SPV M4 S.p.A. This item increased because on 20 December 2023, ATM S.p.A.
increased its stake in the company to 31.53%, becoming its second largest shareholder.

On the other hand, the interest on the loan that had been granted to the company Metro 5
S.p.A. and that had been fully repaid on 29 April 2023 ceased to exist with respect to 2023.

The item "Others" of EUR 7,351 thousand mainly refers to dividends received from the
subsidiary International Metro Service S.r.l. in the amount of EUR 4,080 thousand, from the
associated company Metro 5 S.p.A. in the amount of EUR 2,000 thousand, and EUR 785
thousand from the associated company Movibus S.r.l. The item includes miscellaneous
financial income in the amount of EUR 15 thousand, which decreased compared to last year as
2023 also included interest on arrears accrued on the amounts paid by the Italian Revenue
Agency following the sentences issued by the Court of Cassation, as well as income related to
the amortised cost valuation of HTC&S designated securities in the amount of EUR 226
thousand.

The item "Financial expenses" totalled EUR 16,624 thousand (EUR 9,636 thousand as at 31
December 2023), an improvement of EUR 6,988 thousand compared to 2023. This
development was mainly due to higher interest on loans and bonds (increased by EUR
7,338,000 compared to 2023). In addition to the interest expense recognised on the bond issue
and financial payables for European Investment Bank disbursements totalling EUR 4,972
thousand (as at 31 December 2023, EUR 4,334 thousand) and increasing by EUR 639 thousand
compared to 2023, this item also includes interest expense accrued on the Bridge to Bond
totalling EUR 7,710 thousand.

The item "Income Taxes" mainly include the release of deferred tax assets recognised against
taxed provisions. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities transferred to the Income
Statement amounted to EUR 2,987,000 and EUR 230,000, respectively. Deferred tax assets
mainly refer to the release of deferred tax assets on provisions for risks in the amount of EUR
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2,743. Lastly, the item includes income from the settlement of certain disputes with the tax
authorities for a total of EUR 24 thousand.

The "Profit for the year" totalled EUR 3,083 thousand.

Balance sheet and financial situation

MNET INVESTED CAPITAL

Praperty, plant and equipment 1,085,325 1,136,076 (40,751)
Intangible assets 3,242 2,689 553
Rights of use on leased assets 8,023 5,465 2,558
Fimancial fixed assets 284, 268 269,931 14,337
Other receivables and non-current assets 54,081 39,491 14,550
A. CAPITAL ASSETS 1,444,939 1,453,652 (8,713)
Trade receivables 255,994 214,817 41,177
Other current assets 122,870 140,668 (17,798)
Inventories 85,452 85,277 175
B. CURRENT ASSETS 464,316 440,762 23,554
Trade payables 301,034 319,660 (18,626)
Other current liabilities 121,531 111,318 10,213
€. CURRENT LIABILITIES 422,565 430,978 (8.413)
D. WORKING CAPITAL (D=B-C) 41,751 9,784 31,967
E. MNET INVESTED CAPITAL (E=A+D) 1,486,690 1,463,436 23,254
Mon-continuous assets and liabilities 4,663 - 4,663

TOTAL MET INVESTED CAPITAL AND NON-CONTINUOUS

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 1,491,353 1,463,436 27,917

Total "Net Invested Capital and Discontinued Assets and Liabilities" amounted to EUR
1,491,353 thousand and increased by EUR 27,917 thousand compared to 31 December 2023.
The "Fixed assets" as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 1.444,939 thousand. During the
year, capital expenditure amounted to EUR 106,342 thousand (net of the increase in usage
rights recognised in accordance with IFRS 16 in the amount of EUR 5,556 thousand), while
amortisation, depreciation and write-downs recognised in the income statement amounted to
EUR 129,446 thousand, including the amortisation of usage rights in the amount of EUR 2,998
thousand, and gross of the effect of grants for plants and equipment amounting to EUR 48,449
thousand.

“Working capital” as at 31 December 2024 showed a positive balance and amounted to EUR
41,751 thousand, an increase of EUR 31,967 thousand compared to 31 December 2023. The
change is attributable to the increase in trade receivables. The dynamics of changes in the
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various components of Working Capital are better analysed in the Notes to the Financial
Statements.

1 A) Cash and cash equivalents {141,597) {109,158) (32,438)

B) Cash equivalents

2 C) Current financial assets (133,266) (163,878) 30,612
D) Liquidity (A+B+C) (274,863) (273,037) (1,826)
E} Current financial indebtedness (including

3 debt instruments, but excluding the current 176,915 243,797 (66,8B82)

portion of non-current financial indebtedness)
F) Current portion of non-current financial

a 7
indebtedness s 13,833 (670}
G) Current financial debt (E+F) 190,078 257,630 (67,552)
H) Met current financial indebtedness (G+D)  (84,785) (15,407) (69,378)
I} Non-current financial indebtedness (excluding
d 7
> current portion and debt instruments) Sl 173,318 (3.120)
6 1) Debt instruments 69,441 - 69,441
K) Trade payahles and other non-current i
payables
L) Non-current financial indebtedness (1+1+K) 233,639 173,318 60,321
Total financial indebtedness [H+L) 148,854 157,911 (9,057)
Notes:

1 - Includes the balance sheet item "Cash and cash equivalents" described in Note 21.
2 - Includes the balance sheet item "Current financial assets" described in Note 17.

3 - Includes the "Bridge to Bond", the payables from cash pooling and the current portion of the
bond. The item is recorded under the balance sheet item "Current Financial Liabilities" described
in Note 24.

4 - Includes the current portion of the loan with the European Investment Bank, the current
portion of the Bond and the current portion of lease liabilities, recognised in accordance with
IFRS16. The items are recorded under the balance sheet item "Current Financial Liabilities"
described in Note 24.

5 - Includes the non-current portion of the loan with the European Investment Bank and the
non-current portion of lease liabilities recognised in accordance with IFRS 16, recorded under
"Non-current financial liabilities" described in Note 24.

6 - Includes the non-current portion of the bond issue included in "Non-current financial
liabilities" described in Note 24.
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The Company's "Net Financial Debt" as of 31 December 2024 - determined in accordance with
ESMA Recommendations 32-382-1138 - determined for the purposes of this Report on
Operations taking into account bonds and UCITs held by the Company - was positive at EUR
148,854 thousand, an increase of EUR 9,057 thousand compared to 31 December 2023. The
change compared to 31 December 2023 is mainly due to the bond issued by the Parent
Company and changes in portfolio liquidity. Also contributing to the balance is the financial
payable from cash pooling to subsidiaries in the amount of EUR 25,114 thousand (EUR 23,604
thousand at 31 December 2023).

SOURCES OF FINANCING

Financial payables 423,717 430,948 7,231)
Financial receivables - (81} 81
Cash and securities (274,863) 272,956) (1,207)
F. NET FINANCIAL DEBT 148,854 157,911 (9,057)
Employee benefits 73,316 80,244 (6,928)
Other non-current liabilities 183,510 143,575 39,835
G. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 256,826 223,819 33,007
H. NET EQUITY 1,085,673 1,081,706 3,967
- Share Capital 700,000 700,000
- Reserves 382,590 392,723 {10,133}
- Profit/{Loss) carried forward - - -
- Profit/{Loss) for the period 3,083 (11,017) 14,100
I. MINORITY NET EQUITY - - -
L. SOURCES OF FUNDING (L=F+G+H+) 1,491,353 1,463,436 27,917

Equity as at 31 December 2024 amounted to EUR 1,085,673 thousand. The increase is
attributable to positive changes in the item Profit/Loss for the year for EUR 14,100 thousand
and the negative changes in Reserves for EUR 10,133 thousand, of which EUR 11,017 thousand
related to the allocation to the legal reserve of the 2023 loss and EUR 885 thousand to other
changes in the statement of comprehensive income, mainly connected to the negative
valuation of the staff severance fund according to the actuarial method required by IAS 19,
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negative for EUR 23 thousand, and the positive valuation of the securities portfolio for EUR

908 thousand.

Reclassified Cash Flow Statement _mu Change
Profit/{Loss) for the period 3,083 {11,017] 14,101
Adjustments to bring net profit bock into line with net cash flow from
apErations:

- depreciation and value adjustments of fixed assets 80,597 82,405 (1,408)
- nist capital gaing on aswet disposals {273) [357)  ES

- tames, interest, dividends (5.422) (14,315} 8.84%3

- impairment on financial assets 11 Lt I

- ather AonR-monetary changes [F4] 43) 41
Change in met working capital (32,306) 99 382 {131,68E)
Change Im cash and cash equivalents provision 20 560 76
Mon-current liabilities [change in provisions for risks and severance (1.537) (32,676} 31,139
Indemnities)

Interest paid on beased assets IFRS 16 (301} [141) (L60)
Taxes pald, interest (paid) received, dividends recelved (3.655) 4,202 (7.857)
Met cach flow from operations 20,616 127,324 (B, PO8)
Investmants

Met investmenits in intangible and tangible assets (106,342} (195,826) 59084
Realisation price of techaical disinvestments 274 1,080 (B07)
Changes in payables to supphers for technical investments 1,529 [27.917) 19448
Investrients in financial assets 31,5901 (226,29E) 158,199
Change im grants 77.E12 176,336 (38,524}
Fron Cash Flow 45,789 (145,300) 191,089
Change in current and non-current financial payables (9.764) 102,591 (112,359)
Cash flow from equity [dividends paid)

Currency exchange effect 202 (58] 300
Repayment of principal on legsed assets IFRS 16 {3, 764) (19200  (1.B45)
Net cash flow for the year 32,459 (#4,727) 77186
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Referring to the Statement of Cash Flows for a detailed analysis of cash flows, it is noted here
that the "Net cash flow from operations" in 2024 is positive and amounts to EUR 40,616
thousand. The dynamics associated with Net Working Capital predominantly contributed to
the result.
The "Net Cash Flow for the Year" is positive and amounted to EUR 32,459 thousand; as can be
deduced from the table above, it is affected not only by the dynamics linked to the change in
Net Working Capital, but also by investment activities in tangible assets and financial assets.

The value of cash and cash equivalents increased to EUR 141,597 thousand from EUR 109,159
thousand as at 31 December 2023, gross of the related write-down provision.
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Report on Operations

5.1 Activities in Italy

The event that marked ATM's operational management in 2024 was the opening of the entire
Line 4 on 12 October, with the activation of the last section from San Babila to the San
Cristoforo terminus. This has led to the reorganisation of the layout of some surface lines, in
order to favour the adduction to the new metropolitan route, reduce service overlaps and
strengthen the modal integration between the various mobility systems, ensuring greater
efficiency, effectiveness and connectivity across the territory.

Service on the M4 line is provided by 31 trains, with a frequency of 2-3 minutes, Monday to
Friday (3-6 minutes on Saturday and Sunday). Following the opening of the new route,
maintenance activities on the fleet of rolling stock, previously carried out at Linate, were
transferred to the San Cristoforo depot/workshop. The opening of the functional section has
led to significant works on the surface lines and in particular, some retraction has been carried
out to reduce metro-surface overlaps by means of line routing at the stations of the new M4
crossed along the route, and other network modifications have been introduced involving
almost all the lines serving the eastern quadrant of the city. Among the projects with the
greatest impact is the elimination and replacement of line 73 with the new line 973, initially
serving the suburban section between Linate airport and the municipalities outside and
subsequently modified to improve penetration into Milan, in response to citizens' requests to
restore the direct connection to the city centre. The extra-urban lines serving the Municipality
of Peschiera Borromeo have been rescheduled in function of the interchange with the new
M4 line at Linate Airport, rationalising the service offered within the municipal territory.

At the same time, a number of network modifications were made in the south-eastern
suburban area aimed at improving the capillarity of the service through the rationalisation
and streamlining of the local public transport service, which in the short to medium term
should also affect other areas of the city. The measures implemented concerned the revision
of line routes, but also the adjustment of service levels for the purpose of rebalancing the
public transport supply/demand ratio - altered by the changes in mobility induced by the
emergency management period linked to the COVID-19 pandemic - and also that of promoting
the economic sustainability of the service, which has suffered not only from the effects linked
to the pandemic but also the increase in energy costs linked to the conflicts currently
underway.

To ensure a minimum level of service on the entire network, in terms of frequency and
transport capacity, a revision of weekday timetables from 30 January 2023 has been
implemented through the introduction of the so-called “intermediate” timetable to replace
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the winter timetable on a set of surface lines (-3% of travel on the network as a whole) and
reshaping frequencies on the metro as well, in line with the quantitative data available on
train occupancy levels and the number of passengers passing through turnstiles. During the
year, further adjustments were made to address critical service issues due to staff
shortages/unavailability. This situation called for a timely remodelling of the operating
schedules of most of the urban surface lines, with an initial action implemented as early as
November 2023, in order to provide users with a more regular service and to contain the
lengthening of waiting times at stops.

As part of the 'Full Electric' renewal plan, the programme to introduce electric buses into
service continues in accordance with the gradual increase of the fleet, the adaptation of
depots and the number of charging points. By the end of 2024, 23 urban and suburban lines
will be operated entirely with electric buses. The operating plan, which has been adapted to
the specific needs of the vehicles, whose productivity is dependent on the capacity of the
batteries or the possibility of charging points, can therefore be considered further
consolidated.

Finally, ATM was entrusted with the operation of the Argegno - Pigra funicular railway, whose
service to the public started in August 2024.

The internalisation of maintenance activities for the new trains continued, and the full service
of the last 12 'Leonardo’ model trains will also end during 2025. This internalisation phase
resulted in a new way of managing maintenance and engineering processes, adapted to the
advanced technology of the new trains. The direction taken is to carry out all maintenance
activities internally, both ordinary and extraordinary, turning to third parties if the activities
do not provide any particular return on experience for the company's core business (including
if the specific technology is covered by a patent) or if there are work peaks to be managed.

As part of the work on installations and infrastructures, sealing work is being carried out on
some sections affected by infiltration on Line M2, and on the roofing of the Molino Dorino
underground station on Line M1, with the aim of permanently resolving water infiltration.
Construction is scheduled to be completed in 2025.

During the year, ATM continued its programme to improve the accessibility of stations on
the M1, M2 and M3 metro lines. More specifically:

e Onthe M1 line, work is in progress to install lifts in the stations of Sesto Rondo, Turro,
Uruguay, S. Leonardo, De Angeli, Bande Nere and Inganni;

e Onthe M2 line, work is underway to install lifts in the stations of Lanza, Moscova, C.na
Gobba, S. Agostino and Lambrate, and work scheduled for 2025 started on the stations
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of Piola, P.ta Genova and Sant'Ambrogio. Also in 2025, work began on the contract to
upgrade and overcome architectural barriers in the stations of the Gessate branch
(Cimiano, Cologno Sud, Cologno Centro, Cologno Nord, Cassina dei Pecchi, Gessate,
Vimodrone, Crescenzago, Cascina Burrona, Cernusco, Villa Pompea);

e On the M3 line, work began on the Brenta, San Donato, Duomo and Sondrio stations.
In addition, the contract for the replacement of escalators was started and work on
the Centrale and Turati stations began in 2024;

e The contract for the installation of new stairlifts in the stations of Villa San Giovanni,
Pasteur, Lima, Conciliazione, Buonarroti, QT8, Wagner, Primaticcio and Caiazzo has
been launched.

On the urban tram network, as part of the work for the Municipality of Milan, work continued
on the renewal and technological upgrading of the infrastructure, including the laying of new
tracks and new exchanges, the application of a radio frequency switch control system and
relative remote monitoring system, and finally a preventive maintenance programme, aimed
at containing noise emissions and reducing wear and tear. The construction sites affected by
these works were: C.so Colombo (section from P.ta Genova to V.le Coni Zugna), P.ta Genova,
Via Palizzi - V.le Espinasse, P.le Santorre di Santarosa, Via Monte Altissimo - Via Console
Marcello, Piazza VI Febbraio and Via Mambretti - Via Palizzi (partial, work completion
scheduled for September 2025) for a total renewal of approximately 2,200 metres of track
and 12 track sets. In P.ta Genova, P.le Santorre di Santarosa and Piazza VI Febbraio, the switch
control systems were replaced with the less impactful 'Radio Frequency Systems' equipped
with hydraulic dampers on the manoeuvring boxes.

As part of the general upgrading programme for the underground's infrastructure, ATM has
continued the extraordinary maintenance work on the tunnel sections of the M2, taking care
to minimise the impact on users, due to the necessary early interruption of train circulation,
through the activation of replacement services on wheels.

Within the Full Green Consortium (implementation of sustainable mobility and digitisation
projects, characterised, first, by the transition to fleets with zero emissions vehicles, energy
savings and efficiency, decarbonisation and improved air quality), ATM has developed projects
aimed at the electrification of bus depots for ATAC and ANM: with ANM, the activity was
completed in 2023, while with ATAC, a third-party certifying organisation must still complete
the project verification activities. Again with ATAC, a new project activity was started in 2024
aimed at the revamping of substations and the underground electricity network and the
renovation of the Porta Maggiore depot.

ATM also provided support to COTRAL's technical offices for the project to purchase new
trains.
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Urban Forestry Initiatives

ATM, as part of the "Full Electric" Plan, in addition to the conversion of its entire diesel fleet,
plans to reconvert its depots and build four new fully automated spaces with advanced
technologies. In this area, particular importance will be given to the space above, which will
be exploited as a place for forestation and the use of greenery for the benefit of the
neighbourhood and citizens.

In particular, within the framework of Sustainable Development Goal 11 - Sustainable Cities
and Communities, and 13 - Climate Action, ATM is carrying out the "Green Depots" project,
whereby old depots will be converted to house the new buses and the necessary charging
stations. The revamping of green spaces is also planned for them and in fact also involves the
use of NBS (Natural Based Solutions) tools, which in addition to being solutions that help
reduce Co2, can also be an element in the modernisation of sustainable mobility and
integration of the city fabric.

In 2022, a Green Wall was built in the Giambellino depot, a 350 square metre work that is part
of the European Horizon 2020 project within the Clever Cities plan and that saw the
participation and contribution of the local community and the Milan Polytechnic. The
Department of Architecture and Urban Studies of PoliMi and the Department of Earth,
Environmental and Life Sciences of the University of Genoa have promoted studies that have
proven the environmental benefits of the wall, such as the reduction of the average
temperature, the reduction of the building's heat load, or the ability to collect fine dust.

Smart Mobility initiatives
In the area of Smart Mobility, the following activities continued:

e realisation of a new ATM App, in a multi-service key to integrate public and private
mobility services, for an increasingly accessible, inclusive and simple mobility;

e creation of Smart Hubs, car parks that are not just a place for vehicles to park but offer
value-added services to improve the user experience;

e development of "Sosta Smart” to reduce the evasion rate by improving the control
system through an increase in the number of Eagle Eye cars on the road and the
development of new hardware and software solutions to manage the collected data
and optimise the analysis processes. Five new cars were released in 2024.

5.2 Activities abroad

Copenhagen

In 2024, the passengers carried on the M1 & M2 and M3 & M4 lines increased by 4% and 5%
respectively compared to 2023.
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The results of the operation of the M1, M2, M3 and M4 metro lines in Copenhagen have been
outstanding. The service availability was 98.9% with a frequency of one train every 98 seconds
at peak times for the M1 and M2 lines for the section shared between them, thanks to the
operation of 34 trains at peak times to support the recorded passenger growth. For the M3
and M4 lines the service availability was 99.1% with a frequency of one train every 93 seconds
at peak times for the shared section.

To further support the increasing use of rolling stock, the workshop for the M1 and M2 lines
was expanded. For the M3 and M4 lines, the number of trains operating during peak hours
was increased from 28 to 32 vehicles to support the extension of the M4 line with five new
stations.

Finally, during 2024, Metro Service A/S achieved certification in the areas of Cybersecurity
(ISO 27001) and Environment Management system (ISO 14001). The Asset Management (ISO
55001) certification will be achieved in the first quarter of 2025.

Thessaloniki

In 2023, the ATM Group expanded following the establishment of the company TheMa S.A.,
51 per cent owned by ATM and 49 per cent by Egis, which is in charge of starting up and
managing the new driverless metro in Thessaloniki.

This metro is a strategic infrastructure for the city of Thessaloniki and the entire area of
Macedonia, which hosts the largest port in the North Aegean Sea. With the new line, a better
connection will be ensured, journey times will be reduced and it will be easier to move
between different parts of the city, which today only has bus lines and a railway station.

The contract awarded by Elliniko Metro, a company of the Ministry of Economy, was signed
on 4 October 2023 in the presence of the Greek prime minister.

Following the conclusion of the contract, the recruitment and training of operating personnel
began, the first phase of which was completed on 30 November 2024 with the start of
commercial operation of the base section.

5.3 Strategic Industrial Plan 2021 - 2025 and the "Milano Next" project

ATM's Strategy is based on three main strategic drivers, namely operational efficiency,
business expansion and sustainability. The implementation of these guidelines included the
definition - within the framework of the Group's Strategic Industrial Plan - of specific strategic
initiatives functional to the achievement of the challenging future objectives. In this regard,
on 25 July 2024, the Board of Directors, also after an internal reorganisation which saw a
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change in the Strategic Management and Commercial Development leadership, approved an
update, especially on the issue of timing, of the Industrial Strategic Plan of the ATM Group.

The update stems from the need to focus on the areas of the Plan with the greatest economic
and reputational impact and has identified three functional strands to achieve ATM's
objectives:

e creation of a Real Estate Directorate with a plan based on the valorisation of ATM's
real estate assets, the regularisation of assets under concession and the divestment of
disused properties or industrial areas not functional to any of the Group's strategies;

¢ enhancement of commercial assets through collaboration with commercial partners
to support ATM in upgrading investments in order to promote the image of the
underground station and ensure a first class shopping experience for customers. From
this need, the Milano Metro Retail project was established, which aims to completely
refurbish 9 metro stations and modernise the main stations of the M1, M2 and M3
lines;

e promotion of change and evolution of the city, through the use of new technologies
and investment in innovative smart mobility projects. The improvement of the
mobility experience has driven the development of two key projects: the launch of the
new app, to promote the digitisation of local public transport and the integration of
new functionalities, and the 'Smart Hub' project, with the aim of transforming the car
park from a simple parking area to a place of value, thanks to the activation of new
services dedicated to users.

Among the strategic activities with the greatest impact on sustainability is the Full Electric
Project: a plan to transition the entire bus fleet from diesel to electric, with the goal of

avoiding emissions of 75K tonnes of CO; per year when fully operational.

Furthermore, in view of the expiration of the Service Contract with the Municipality of Milan
scheduled for 31 December 2026, ATM is pursuing the implementation of the project
financing called 'Milano Next' adopted as an implementation tool for the initiatives of the
2019-2025 Strategic Industrial Plan. The objective of this project is the definition of
infrastructural, environmental and safety measures, as well as the management of integrated
mobility services in the Basin of the Metropolitan City of Milan, Monza and Brianza, Lodi and
Pavia. Between the end of 2025 and the beginning of 2026, talks will be held with the main
stakeholders to finalise the project.

5.4 Going concern

The global scenario is still characterised by high uncertainty, stemming both from the still
unresolved conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and from the geopolitical choices of the new
US administration, potentially affecting the global economy.
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In this framework, the volatility of energy commodity prices may constitute a risk factor for
the public transport sector, and therefore for ATM, also for the three-year period 2025 - 2027,
considering the extension of the service contract with the Municipality of Milan under
substantially unchanged conditions.

To cope with these risks and uncertainties, during 2024 the Company again entered into
commodity hedging transactions on the price of electricity, due by 31 December 2024, seizing
the opportunity represented by price levels recorded in the first part of the year, favourable
compared to budget estimates.

Also after the end of the financial year, the monitoring of the prices of the underlying assets,
in particular the price of energy per Mw/h, continued. In the first quarter of 2025, market
levels were in line with or slightly higher than what was charged to budget, so on the one hand
monitoring continued, and on the other hand operational lines were activated with another
counterparty, also in order to benefit from the prices offered on a competitive basis should it
be decided to finalise further hedging.

On the other hand, with regard to assets related to potential needs to optimise working
capital, although not utilised, the so-called RCF (Revolving Credit Facility), finalised in
December 2023 and spread equally over four banks, remains active (for an amount of up to
EUR 160 million). The RCF is in addition to those already in place as at 31 December 2024 of
the Hot Money/Promiscuous type (short-term lines) for a total of EUR 47.5 million, and
together they constitute an adequate available cash buffer.

In May 2024, ATM received a second explicit rating (equal to BBB with stable outlook)
extended by Standard&Poor's. In the same month, a bond issue programme was signed, so-
called EMTN (Euro Medium Term Notes), listed on the Dublin Stock Exchange, with a view to
providing a flexible instrument capable of responding to possible fundraising needs in the
international medium- and long-term capital markets. Together with the EMTN, ATM has set
up the so-called "Green Financing Framework", a document summarising the principles and
criteria for the issuance of Green bonds by the company, submitted for evaluation by
Sustainalytics, a third-party certifying body that assessed and confirmed its consistency with
the company's choices in the area of sustainability.

Lastly, in July 2024, a bond issue with a nominal value of EUR 70 million was placed with
domestic and foreign investors in the format of a Green Private Placement maturing in July
2031, with the aim of refinancing the bond maturing in August 2024 and rescheduling the debt
over medium/long-term maturities.
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5.5 Investments

During 2024, the ATM Group made investments of approximately EUR 118.2 million (including
investments by Metro Service A/S), of which approximately EUR 69.7 million was earmarked
for fleet renewal, including extraordinary maintenance for the general overhaul of trams.

Below are the investments made in the three-year period, broken down by macro-category:

Fleet renewal 69.7 155.3 £3.9
Extraordinary building maintenance 4.6 53 1.9
Modemisation and upgroding of facilities ond infrostructure 21.4 24.7 i1.6
New technologies for payment and mobiiity info 22.5 17.1 82
Total 118.2 202.4 85.6

The Group's investments are aimed at increasing the performance of transport services and
strengthening vehicle safety levels. In addition, the Group aims at the constant improvement
of the customer experience as well as the improvement of the environmental performance of
its vehicles in order to favour the reduction of atmospheric emissions from fossil fuels.

Regarding the renewal of the metro fleet, in December 2024, the first of the new trains was
delivered to ATM under contracts signed in 2022 with HITACHI RAIL. The supply, which is
entirely financed by public funds, includes 46 new trains, of which 21 are destined for Line 1
(replacing "Revamping" trains) and 25 for Line 3 (21.5 replacing the older fleet and 3.5
increasing the equipment). The programme to purchase trains for the M3 metro line, which is
also the subject of specific funding, is part of the broader project to upgrade the line, together
with the new signalling system.

As part of the 'Full Electric' plan to renew the bus fleet, ATM signed a framework agreement
in 2019 to supply electric vehicles. As of 31 December 2024, all the 254 planned vehicles had
been delivered. The agreement provides for the replacement of the supply batteries at about
half of the vehicle's life.

Given the fleet evolution detailed above, as of December 2024, ATM S.p.A.'s urban bus fleet
consists of: 51% diesel, 26% hybrid, 23% electric’. The goal is to have, when fully operational,
a total of 1,200 electric vehicles, so as to create a 'Zero Emission Zone' that will allow, on the

’The percentages are calculated with reference to the vehicle supply (including vehicles not
yet available for operation).
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one hand, the reduction of diesel consumption by 30 million litres per year and, on the other
hand, the reduction of CO2 emissions by approximately 75 thousand tonnes per year. As of
December 2024, there are 23 lines operated entirely with electric buses.

Following the allocation of NRRP funds (measure M2C2 - 4.4.1 Renewal of green bus and train
fleets - BUS sub-investment), the Municipality of Milan started in the second half of 2022 the
procedures for the acquisition of additional electric buses, 12 and 18 metres, with deliveries
starting in December 2024.

At the same time, adjustments are being made to the spaces and infrastructure for depots
and recharging electric vehicles. To this end, a five-year framework agreement was signed for
the installation of charging stations at the Sarca, Giambellino and San Donato depots, as well
as the installation of opportunity chargers at the main terminals of the automobile service and
inside ATM depots. In the course of 2024, 50 pantographs and 2 fast recharging stations were
activated in Palmanova. In addition, the awarded company continues the development of
construction projects for the first expansion of the Sarca and Giambellino depots, with
activities already started at the Sarca depot. Moreover, a framework agreement was signed
for the further extension of the Sarca, Giambellino and San Donato depots, also activating the
first application contract on the latter depot.

The railcar fleet is also the subject of a significant modernisation project. Against the
framework agreement for the supply of 80 18-metre vehicles (of which 30 will be delivered
between 2019 and 2020), a second application contract for a further 50 trolleybuses was
signed in 2021, all of which have been delivered at 31 December 2024. The supply is covered
by funding from the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport allocated to the Municipality of
Milan. In December 2022, with further NRRP funding (measure M2C2 - 4.2 Mass rapid
transport development) granted by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport to the
Municipality of Milan, a third application contract was signed for the supply of a further 10
trolleybuses, with delivery started in the second half of 2024 and concluded in early 2025.

With these investments and the concomitant decommissioning of all old 12- and 18-metre
vehicles, the average age of ATM's trolleybus fleet will drop to around four years.

As part of the renewal of the tram fleet, a framework agreement is in place for the supply of
80 bi-directional 25-metre trams for use on the urban and Regional network. In this context,
a first application contract was concluded for 30 trams (of which 12 have already been
delivered and are currently being tested and fine-tuned), a second application contract for 10
trams with deliveries from mid-2026, and a third application contract for 20 trams with
deliveries from 2027. The investment is co-financed by the Ministry of Infrastructure and
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Transport. Finally, in mid 2023, following a call for tenders, a new contract was signed for the
purchase of an additional fourteen 35 m trams, fully financed with NRRP funds (measure
M2C2 - 4.2 Development of mass rapid transport), to serve the future "interperipheral
northern" line (line 7).

In 2024, the Restyling of the Eurotram fleet, carried out internally in the ATM Workshop, was
initiated, as a result of which the fleet will return to service with a significantly improved
appearance compared to its current condition. As part of the renewal of the vehicle fleet and
with a view to sustainability, the replacement of diesel service cars with electric rental cars
continues. As at 30 June 2024, the fleet consisted of 116 cars.

ATM also carries out, on behalf of the Municipality of Milan, a series of works on municipal-
owned infrastructures including:

e The complete overhaul of the signalling systems on the M2 line aims to ensure a safer
and more efficient operation of the service, to allow an increase in the frequency of
trains passing through and, consequently, to increase the transport capacity of the
line. The works are fully financed by ministerial contributions and by the Municipality
of Milan; at the end of 2024 the verification phase of the Executive Project is underway
for this work.

e The track renewal works for the M2 line, which began in the summer of 2021, are
aimed at renovating certain sections of the line in which the mechanical components
have deteriorated in performance or have been built with technical solutions that do
not allow the planned increase in speed from 70 km/h to 85 km/h. The work is almost
entirely financed by ministerial contributions and the City of Milan. During 2024, the
renewal of the Loreto-Caiazzo section was completed.

e Renewal and replacement of tram infrastructure at various locations, aimed at
continuously improving safety and running conditions.

Finally, ATM is carrying out a complete overhaul of the signalling systems on the M3 metro
line, awarded in April 2022. In May of the same year, the urgent start of the works was realised
to allow the development of the design activities by the Contractor, and in September 2022,
the signing of the contract with the Contractor took place. At the end of 2024, the project
phase was completed and the Technical Clearance is awaited from the relevant control bodies.

The work is fully financed by the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport.

In 2023, the design phase for the overhaul of the fire-fighting systems in the tunnels and
stations of the M1 and M2 metro lines was also completed. The purpose of these works is to
adapt the installations to fire prevention requirements, as identified by Ministerial Decree
21/10/2015. ATM was in charge of coordinating all phases of the activity, from the executive
and construction design to the supply of materials and the execution of the works. At the end
of 2024, the so-called "Phase 1" of the works is underway, which specifically concerns: the
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renovation of the fire detection and signalling systems; the construction of the water systems
installed in the stations and tunnels; the upgrading of the lighting and socket systems; the
construction of the civil works necessary for the fire compartmentation and resistance of the
M1 stations between Molino D./Inganni and Sesto FS and the M2 stations between Romolo
and Crescenzago; the laying of new fire-resistant fibre optic cables in a redundant solution;
the modernisation of the sound systems.

The above-mentioned works are included within the agreement signed between the MIT and
the Municipality of Milan regulating the financing referred to in Ministerial Decree No. 360 of
6 August 2018 for the realisation of certain works in the sector of mass rapid transport
systems, to be implemented using the resources of the Fund for the financing of investments
and the infrastructural development of the country. The subsequent Ministerial Decree No.
191/2023 then allocated EUR 70 million for works related to the Mass Rapid Transit (MRT),
including works related to the fire prevention adaptations of the underground line M3 as well
as further works related to the M1 and M2 lines (so-called "Phase 2 Works"), currently under
design development.

In the area of equipment investments, we report:

e The project for the renewal and upgrading of the metro train wheel reprofiling
facilities, which requires specific design and major civil works for the installation of
machinery in the processing pits. The project started with the installation of a new
wheel-turning station at the Gallaratese M1 depot, followed by the completion of
work at the Gorgonzola M2 depot in 2024. Work is in progress to replace the system
at the San Donato M3 depot. For the latter two depots, the technical choice fell on
machines capable of reprofiling the four wheels of a bogie simultaneously, a feature
that will guarantee double the productivity compared to previous lathes. The project
will be completed in the next few years with the replacement of the system at the
Precotto M1 depot, the last of the old generation.

e As part of the renewal of the fleet of operating machines, the contract for the
purchase of 7 battery-operated electric shunting locomotives to be used for the
movement of underground trains within depots and between workshops and depots
in the absence of power supply to the lines was signed in late 2024 and following the
tender procedure. In line with the Full Green transition project, these vehicles will
replace the traditional diesel shunting locomotives. The adoption of such locomotives
represents an absolute novelty in the Italian panorama in both the LPT and railway
sectors. The subsidiary Rail Diagnostics also started a similar procedure for the
acquisition of a vehicle, identical to its predecessors, for the handling needs of the
railway wagons used for track maintenance activities.

¢ The signing of a contract for the design, supply and installation of measuring systems
known as "wayside" to monitor the condition of railway wheels and brake discs on
metro trains during regular service, without the need to stop them. These devices,
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which reflect the latest industry standards in diagnostics, will improve the quality of

wheel maintenance, enabling timely service at the onset of defects that exceed the

reference thresholds.
In 2024, the subsidiary NET introduced 22 new hybrid buses. Furthermore, thanks to the
availability of public funding under the NRRP and the National Strategic Plan for Sustainable
Mobility, a framework agreement was signed in November 2023 for the supply of 30 electric
vehicles; at the same time, the first two application contracts were also signed for the
purchase of 15 electric buses, whose delivery is expected to start in late 2025, representing
the company's first step towards conversion to electric engines.

As part of the activities to strengthen business continuity, work began in 2024 at the San
Donato depot on the preparation of technical premises to support the backup of the metro
and surface operations rooms operating at the Monte Rosa site. It is estimated that the work
will be completed by the end of 2025.

As part of the fight against the technological obsolescence of information systems supporting
operational activities, development work continued in 2024 on the new supervision and
control system for the operations room of the M1, M2 and M3 metro lines. The first tests of
this system are planned for the second quarter of 2025.

Finally, during 2024, activities continued for the installation and technological renewal of
ticket issuing and validation devices on both the underground and surface networks (10,000
approx.). The new validation devices allow access to the public transport service by means of
electronic closed loop, credit and debit cards, rechargeable electronic tickets, dynamic QR
codes, digital tickets on smartphones readable with NFC and BLE technologies
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6.1 Events after the end of the financial year

Activities in Italy

Business Expansion

14 March 2025 - The Province of Como, in its capacity as Contracting Authority, has notified

the grouping led by ATM of the awarding of the seven-year contract for the management of
the fixed installations (cable cars and funicular railways) under the responsibility of the Local
Public Transport Agency of the Como, Lecco and Varese Basin.

Infrastructure Renewal

15 January - 14 April 2025 - Tramway renewal work continues with the laying of new tracks
in Piazza Oberdan and at the junction of Viale Piave and Via Bixio. The Company provides
information about changes to the service through the website, the app and posts on its X

page.
Trade union agreements

20 March 2025 - At the Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport, the National Secretariats
and the sector's Employers' Associations signed a Memorandum of Understanding that
makes the renewal of the National Collective Labour Agreement for Road Transport
Operators - Internavigators immediately enforceable.

Activities to improve transport accessibility

January 2025 - Work continues as part of the plan to replace the lifts on the M3 and from 14
January work will begin on the Porta Romana station and from 21 January at Porto di Mare.
The company informs customers about ongoing construction sites and publishes a calendar
of system closures. As part of the plan to build new lifts, work on the M2 line at the Gioia
station started on 14 January.

Activities Abroad

Business Expansion
25 March 2025 - the contracting authority ile-de-France Mobilités published a statement
announcing that it will propose the award of four bus management lots to the next Board of

Directors meeting on 10 April, one of which will be to ATM S.p.A. (lot No. 40 - Croix du Sud
sector).
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6.2 Foreseeable Business Outlook and Business Development

The year 2024 saw an improvement over the year 2023. The EBIT of the parent company ATM
is negative and amounted to EUR 2.3 million, compared to the previous year when it was
negative and amounted to EUR 25.4 million.

This result was achieved thanks to the hoped-for increase in the marginality of the Service
Contract with the Municipality of Milan, linked to an adjustment of the same, as well as to the
reduction in the cost of electricity: during 2024, the Company once again put in place
commodity hedging transactions on the price of electricity, seizing the opportunity
represented by the price levels recorded in the first part of the year, favourable compared to
the budget estimates.

The year 2024 saw a further increase in margins related to the full opening of the M4 line, an
event that will bring benefits in the long-term perspective.

ATM aims to constantly improve the offer of its services with a view to sustainability, efficiency
and technological innovation, as well as to expand its business, both in Italy and abroad, on
the strength of the experience now gained with its Danish subsidiary Metro Service A/S and
thanks to the recently opened automatic metro in Greece. Indeed, 2024 was a crucial year for
ATM's development abroad as on 30 November the first automatic metro line was
inaugurated in the city of Thessaloniki, Greece's second largest city by population. It is
managed by NewCo Thema (a company owned 51% by ATM and 49% by Egis, a French
infrastructure engineering group). The new metro is the most modern public work in the
Hellenic Republic and the only driverless line. With an extension of almost 15 kilometres, it
will become the main junction for internal travel within the city, which is also strategic for
connections with the rest of the country.

Also in 2024, ATM continued to participate in various procedures for the awarding of road
services in the first urban districts of Paris, currently managed by RATP. The three tenders in
which ATM participated, which started between the end of 2022 and the beginning of 2023,
were concluded in 2024.

In addition to the French market, ATM has initiated projects to participate in tenders for rail
transport in Ireland and road transport in Greece and is exploring opportunities for mobility
projects in the Middle East area in order to further strengthen its international presence.

In Italy, ATM participated, as part of a Temporary Grouping of Companies (RTI), in the tender
for the assignment of the service of all Local Public Transport (LPT) cableways in the provinces
of Como, Lecco and Varese.
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Furthermore, in December 2024 ATM presented, together with another Local Public Transport
operator, a Project Financing to promote a mobility project in the North East area of the
metropolitan city of Milan. On 14 March 2025, the Province of Como, in its capacity as
Contracting Authority, notified the Grouping led by ATM of the award of the Contract for the
management of the fixed installations (cable cars and funicular railways) falling under the
jurisdiction of the Local Public Transport Agency of the Como, Lecco and Varese Basin, with a

duration of seven years.

In 2024, there was a partial restart of competitive procedures in some Italian regions, notably
Sicily, Umbria and Piedmont, after the stop imposed by the 2020-2022 health emergency. It
is expected that in 2025 there will be an acceleration in the issuing of calls for tenders for the
operation and maintenance of urban and suburban networks, which will foster greater
competitiveness and innovation in the sector.

6.3 Other information

Other communications Pursuant to Article 40 of Legislative Decree No. 127/91

In compliance with the requirements of Art. 40 of Legislative Decree No. 127/91 the following
is hereby notified:

e Due to the nature of its business, the Group did not carry out any research and
development activities in 2025;

e no ATM Group company owns or has purchased or sold own treasury shares or those
of the parent company, not even through trustees or intermediaries;

e In 2025, the Group made use of derivative financial instruments aimed merely at
hedging the variability of electricity prices.

Information on intra-group and related party transactions

The ATM Group, which is wholly controlled by the Municipality of Milan, carries out
operations for its Shareholder regulated by the Service Contract that concern the
management of intermodal Local Public Transport (metro, tram, bus and trolleybus), as well
as all related and complementary activities as more fully described in Chapter 3, section "ATM

Contractual Framework".

ATM S.p.A., as parent company, carries out transactions with its subsidiaries that essentially
concern the provision of services and the provision and use of financial resources.
Transactions are strictly of a commercial and financial nature, so they do not include any
atypical and/or unusual transactions and are governed by arm's length contracts.
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ATM S.p.A. participates in the Tax Consolidation Agreement for IRES purposes together with
the following subsidiaries: CityLink S.r.l., GeSAM S.r.l., International Metro Service S.r.l., Nord
Est Trasporti S.r.l., Rail Diagnostics S.p.A.

The agreement provides that, in the event of a transfer of positive taxable income, the
consolidated company will owe the consolidating company an amount equal to the results of
applying the IRES rate to the transferred taxable income. Conversely, in the case of a transfer
of negative taxable income, it will be the consolidating company that will owe the
consolidated company an amount equal to the results of applying the IRES rate to the
transferred tax loss, if utilised.

ATM also adhered to the VAT group application option with the following subsidiaries: CityLink
S.r.l., GeSAM S.r.l.,, Nord Est Trasporti S.r.l., Rail Diagnostics S.p.A.

This agreement provides for the transfer of the monthly VAT balance to the Parent Company,
which is therefore the only debtor/creditor company vis-a-vis the Treasury, while the
subsidiaries record the credit/debit relations with the Parent Company in their financial
statements.

Note 44 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 41 of the Notes to
the ATM S.p.A. Financial Statements provide information on related parties based on the
nature of the service.

Milan, 31 March 2025

For the Board of Directors
The Chairperson

Gioia Maria Ghezzi

\
\ |
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43 Processes to remediate negative impacts and channels for consumers and 283
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cad approaches to managing material risks and pursuing material 2
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7. 1 General Information

ESRS 2 General information

Preparation criteria
BP-1 General basis for preparation of sustainability statements

(BP-1 5.a, 5.b i) This Report included in the Integrated Annual Report constitutes the
Sustainability Document (hereinafter also referred to as "Report" or "SD") of the ATM S.p.A.
Group, consisting of the Parent Company Azienda Trasporti Milanese S.p.A. (hereinafter also
"ATM S.p.A.") and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024. This Report is the disclosure
document that ATM S.p.A. prepares in order to comply with the obligations set forth in Article
2 of Legislative Decree no. 125 of 6 September 2024, the Italian transposition of European
Directive 2022/2464/EU.

In line with the provisions of the Decree, in order to ensure an understanding of the Group's
activities, its performance, results and impact, it should be noted that the scope of the
economic data is the same as that of the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31
December 2024. It should also be noted that the scope of the social environmental and
governance disclosures and data in the Report refers to the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries as of 31 December 2024, consolidated on a line-by-line basis. Scope limitations
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with respect to what is reported, if any, are expressly indicated in the text. Finally, it should
be noted that all ATM Group companies included in the consolidation scope are not obliged
to prepare individual sustainability reports.

(BP-1 5.b ii) All subsidiaries of the ATM Group included in the scope of consolidation are
exempt from individual sustainability reporting pursuant to Article 19a(9) of Directive
2013/34/EU. For further details on the companies included in the scope of consolidation, see
section “1.4. The Corporate Structure as at 31 December 2024”, contained in Chapter 1.
Introduction of the Report on Operations.

(BP-1 5.c) The Sustainability Disclosure covers the entire value chain of the ATM S.p.A. Group,
as the Dual Materiality analysis identified impacts, risks and opportunities (IROs) both in
ATM's operations and along the value chain, identifying how they affect the Group's
upstream, downstream and direct operations. The analysis performed took into account the
different value chains and business relationships. For the Group, the value chain extends
upstream to include: suppliers of products (such as fuel, energy, components, maintenance
equipment and manufacturers of transport equipment), service providers (including IT and
maintenance), and agencies and institutions. Downstream, the value chain includes

customers, passengers and citizens.

This approach ensured an integrated and comprehensive assessment, in line with business
operations and the context of business relations.

The extent to which policies, actions, metrics and objectives extend beyond the direct
operations of the Group depends on the nature of the topics covered. This approach will be
clearly outlined in the specific ESRS themes.

(BP-1 5.d) In accordance with reporting regulations, the choice was made not to omit specific
information on intellectual property, know-how and innovation results.

(BP-1 5.e) In addition, in line with the Member State's regulatory requirements, information
on upcoming developments and negotiations has been withheld to protect confidentiality and
corporate strategy, avoiding premature disclosures that could harm the company or its
stakeholders.

BP-2 Disclosures in relation to specific circumstances

(BP -2 9.a, 9.b) The time horizons outlined by the ATM S.p.A. Group are in line with those
defined by the Group's ERM system, particularly for the short and medium-term horizons.
Instead, the long-term time horizon is in line with that defined by the CSRD regulation,
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specifically in ESRS 1, section 6.4. Therefore, the Group has defined the time horizons for the
assessment of impacts, risks and opportunities as follows:

e Short and medium-term horizon: one to five years,

e Long-term horizon: longer than five years.
(BP-2 10.a, 10.b, 10.c, 10.d) As part of the value chain, the quantitative data that the ATM
Group has committed to reporting are those related to the Scope 3 Greenhouse Gas
Emissions for each significant category identified. However, due to the complexity of finding
information along the value chain, the Scope 3 emission data were estimated in accordance
with internationally recognised framework and standards to ensure accuracy and
transparency of the calculations. These estimates were made using globally established
methodologies, in line with industry best practices, specifically:

e The Greenhouse Gas Protocol - A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard,
e The Greenhouse Gas Protocol - Corporate Value Chain (Scope 3) Accounting and
Reporting Standard.

For the calculation of greenhouse gas emissions, the ATM Group referred to emission factors
provided by the International Energy Agency (IEA), the Department for Environment, Food &
Rural Affairs (DEFRA), Klimakompasset and Ecoinvent to ensure accuracy and compliance with
internationally recognised methodologies. The only quantitative data points that also include
value chain data are those related to GHG Scope 3 emissions, reported in DR E1-6. For this
KPI, indirect sources of calculation were used, Scope 3 emissions were calculated through a
spend-based approach using sectoral emission factors.

The criteria used for the calculation and the related estimates are described in detail in the
specific ESRS (E1-6).

With a view to continuous improvement, the ATM Group is committed to improving data
reporting.

(BP-2 11. a, 11.b.i, 11.b.ii) In the context of this Sustainability Report, it should be noted that
the values for waste generated (E5-5), energy consumption (E1-5) and CO; emissions (E1-6),
at the time of closing the document, are subject to a slight margin of uncertainty. Therefore,
these amounts should not be considered final and may be subject to later revision or updating,
following further verification or the collection of more precise data. In particular, the values
for waste are not final because, according to current legislation, the recipient of the waste,
i.e. the facility responsible for waste treatment and management, provides more precise and
up-to-date information on the final destination of waste on a quarterly basis. Therefore, the
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data for the months of October, November and December could still be considered as non-
final, as they have not yet been validated and finalised by the recipient of the waste.

As far as energy consumption is concerned, the values reported are not definitive as the final
figures for the energy supply for the month of December are missing, though they refer to
small amounts (a few hundred euro). It is expected that the finalised data will be updated
once the final calculations are received from the suppliers.

Furthermore, in this Sustainability Report, it is pointed out that the hours worked by non-
employees (S1-14) are estimated. The methodology used for the estimate consists in
calculating the average hours actually worked by the ATM Group's Staff for the year 2024,
then multiplied by the number of non-employee workers present at 31 December 2024. It
should be noted that, for the purpose of calculating the average hours worked by the Group,
rest periods, holidays and other types of absence have not been taken into account.

The Group is committed to continually improving its monitoring and reporting processes to
reduce the uncertainty associated with these metrics and provide more accurate and reliable
information in the future.

(BP-2 13,14) The Sustainability Disclosures, contained in this Report, have been significantly
expanded to comply with the CSRD regulations and the ESRS standards for the first time in
2024. Therefore, the Group adopted a phase-in approach for the integration of comparative
data. Any discrepancies or errors found in the data will be addressed and corrected in future
reporting, ensuring continuous improvement in the accuracy and reliability of the reported
information. Causes of uncertainty in estimates and results.

In order to ensure the reliability of the information reported, the use of estimates has been
limited as much as possible. Any estimates are based on the best available information or
sample-based surveys. In reporting forward-looking information - including future targets and
objectives - uncertainties are inherent and, therefore, such information may be subject to
change. For each of these cases, information is given on the causes of uncertainty,
assumptions and approximations made.

(BP-2 15) It should also be noted that the Group is obliged to include in the Report, starting
with publications occurring after 1 January 2022, the disclosure required by the regulations
on the "EU Taxonomy" in relation to the environmentally sustainable activities conducted by
the Group, in respect of which please refer to the "European Taxonomy"section.

The ATM Group does not adopt any additional sustainability reporting principles or
regulations.
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(BP-2 RA 2) The document, as provided for in Article 8 of D. Legislative Decree 125/2024, is
subjected to Limited Assurance engagement ("Limited Assurance engagement" according to
the criteria indicated in ISAE 3000 Revised) by the auditing firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. The
audit was carried out according to the procedures set out in the "Independent Auditor Report"
provided at the end of the document. The Group has also adopted and implemented
management systems compliant with international standards ISO 9001, I1SO 14001, ISO 45001
and UNI EN 13816, thus guaranteeing excellence in quality, environmental management,
occupational safety and the quality of public transport services. These management systems
are regularly subjected to internal and external audits in order to ensure continuous
compliance with international standards and constant improvement of the company's
performance in all areas involved.

(BP-2 17) Not applicable for the ATM Group.
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Governance

GOV-1- The role of the administrative, management and supervisory bodies

Members of the
administrative,
management and
supervisory bodies

21. a) Executive
members

21. a) Non-executive
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Independent Board
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21. b} Members
representing
employees and other
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geographical areas

21. d) Gender
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Mon-axecutive
members

21. ) Independent
Board Members

142

20 12
7 =]
12 7
4 3
0
20 12
20 12
0 0
3 2
17 10

62.50% 37.50%
21.88% 18.75%
37.50% 21.88%
57.14% 42.86%

oo 0 o

0.00%

0.00%
0.00%

0.00%

[ T e T e T - ]

0.00%

0.00%
0.00%

0.00%

i2

13

13

12

32

0
5
27

21. d) Percentage

100.00%

40.63%
59.38%

100.00%




Sustainability Reporting

Members representing
employees and other  100.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 100.00%
workers

Members who have

experience related to

the company's sectors, 62.50% 37.50% 0.00% 0.00% 100,008
products and

geographical areas

21. d} Gender

diversity/age group

TOTAL 62.50% 37.50% 0% 0% 100%
1. <30 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
2.30-50 9.38% B6.25% 0% 0% 15.63%
3.=50 3.13% 31.25% 0% 0% 84.38%

(GOV-1 22.a, 22.b) The Board of Directors of ATM S.p.A. is composed, at the date of
preparation of this Sustainability Report 2024, of seven members, including the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer; the Board of Statutory Auditors is instead composed of three
regular members, one of whom is the Chairman, plus two alternate members.

The model, structured in the traditional form, attributes ordinary and extraordinary
management to the Board of Directors of ATM S.p.A.; in addition, the Board of Directors is
entrusted with the performance of all appropriate actions for the implementation and
achievement of the corporate purpose, excluding only those which the law or the Articles of
Association reserves for the Shareholders' Meeting. ATM's Board of Directors has delegated

part of its management responsibilities to the Chief Executive Officer and General Manager.

In line with the recommendations of the Code of Corporate Governance and international best
practices, on 19 December 2024, three board committees consisting of three directors each
were formed. A member of the Board of Auditors also participates in committee meetings.

¢ The Audit, Risk Control, Governance and Related Party Transactions Committee, with
the task of supporting the Board of Directors' assessments and decisions relating to
the internal control and risk management system and the approval of periodic financial
and non-financial reports, with the role of making proposals to and advising the Board.
In carrying out its work on sustainability reporting, the Committee coordinates with
the Sustainability Committee, with which it maintains a direct relationship and ensures
an effective exchange of information. This committee also expresses opinions on
specific aspects relating to the identification of the main corporate risks and
supporting the Board of Directors' assessments and decisions relating to the
management of risks arising from prejudicial events of which the latter has become
aware.
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e Sustainability Committee, with investigative, advisory and proposal-making functions
vis-a-vis the Board of Directors in the field of scenarios and sustainability, meaning the
processes, initiatives and activities aimed at overseeing the ATM Group's commitment
to sustainable development along the value chain, aimed at the pursuit of sustainable
success, with particular reference to issues of climate change, emissions reduction,
rational use of environmental resources, anti-corruption, respect for and protection of
human rights; integrity and transparency; and Diversity and Inclusion.

e Appointments and Remuneration Committee, with functions of making proposals to
and advising the Board of Directors on appointments and remuneration matters.

The competences and operating rules of each committee are regulated in their respective
regulations. Where deemed appropriate and within the limits of their own budget,

committees may seek the assistance of external consultants.

The Parent Company's Board of Directors, supported by the Administration, Finance and
Control and Strategy and Business Development Departments, within whose scope falls the
governance of the integrated Double Materiality process, is therefore responsible for
approving and monitoring sustainability strategies, including ESG (environmental, social and
governance) risk assessments, as well as the results and effectiveness of the policies, actions,
metrics and targets adopted to address them.

(GOV-1 22.c) The Group has a Governance System comprising 18 Committees!* with different
purposes, including, in particular, the Managerial Risk Committee and Sustainability Policy
Committee.

Managerial Risk Committee

It is coordinated by the Director of Administration, Finance and Control and is composed of
the heads of the following Departments: Risk Management, Rolling Stock and Engineering
Maintenance, Infrastructure Maintenance, Operations, Business Development, Information
Systems, Purchasing and Procurement, Audit and Internal Control. (Information Systems,
Purchasing and Procurement, Audit and Internal Control, are optional members on call)

The main responsibilities entrusted to this committee are:

e sharing the findings of ERM assessment processes, facilitating the sharing of
information on specific risk factors,

14 Coordination Table; Control Functions Coordination Committee; GDPR Committee; Risk Committee;
Whistleblowing Committee; Executive Committee; Management Committee; Crisis Committee;
Procurement Committee; Investment Committee; Operations Committee; Sustainability Committee;
Business Development Core Committee; IT Core Committee; Management Committees; Cybersecurity
Committee; Deposit Operations Team; Unrecoverable Receivables Assessment Committee.
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e monitoring the processes of identifying, measuring and mitigating risks.

The objective of the Managerial Risk Committee, which meets bimonthly, is to facilitate the
sharing of information on specific risk factors in a top-down perspective and to ensure the
management, monitoring and escalation of critical factors in a bottom-up approach, to raise
awareness and promote the dissemination of a risk-based culture in the management of
corporate processes and projects at organisational level.

Sustainability Policies Committee

Newly established and meeting for the first time in May 2024, it is coordinated by the head of
the Sustainability department and is composed of the heads of the following departments:
Strategy and Business Development who is the Chairman, Audit and Internal Control,
Purchasing and Procurement, Administration, Finance and Control, Human Resources and
QHSE.

The main objective is to support the definition of corporate policies and strategies that take
into account sustainability policy and objectives, integrating environmental, social, business
ethics and economic considerations into decision-making processes, as well as ensuring that
the organisation keeps up with evolving sustainability regulations.

It meets monthly.

Article 12 of Legislative Decree No. 125 of 6 September 2024 made an amendment to Article
154-bis paragraph 5 of the Consolidated Law on Finance (TUF) at Letter e. Specifically, current
legislation requires the Reporting Manager to certify - by means of a special certificate issued
according to the template established by Consob regulation - that the Sustainability Report
included in the Report on Operations has been prepared in accordance with the accounting
standards applied pursuant to European legislation and the new Decree, and with the
specifications set forth in Article 8 of EU Regulation 2020/852 on Taxonomy. However, the
same Article 154-bis, paragraph 1 of the Consolidated Law on Finance states that “The articles
of association of listed issuers having ltaly as their home Member State shall provide for the
requirements of professionalism and the procedures for the appointment of a manager in
charge of drafting corporate accounting documents, subject to the mandatory opinion of the
control body”. Therefore, since the ATM S.p.A. Group is not an issuing company, it is not
subject, neither for the Financial Statements nor for the Sustainability Report, to the
regulations of Article 154-bis of the Consolidated Law on Finance, paragraph 5, i.e. the
professional figure of the financial reporting officer.
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(GOV-1 22.d) The publication of these Consolidated Financial Statements was authorised by
the Directors on 27 March 2025 and the same will be submitted to the Shareholders' Meeting
for approval and subsequent filing, within the terms provided by law.

(GOV-1 23.a, 23.b) The members of the ATM Group's bodies directly possess sustainability,
managerial and economic expertise. This expertise ensures the strategic support and
development of the Group, in line with impacts, risks and opportunities.

The experience board members have gained experience in the fields of operational and
strategic management of large organisations, finance and technological innovation enables
effective monitoring of sustainability and business development issues. Expertise in data
analysis, process management and optimisation of company resources ensures a structured
and evidence-based approach so as to meet the challenges of sustainable mobility.

The presence of professionals with experience in governance, diversity and official relations
enables effective management of dialogue with stakeholders and the development of
inclusive and sustainable strategies. Participation on the boards of directors of leading
industrial and financial companies, combined with academic and research activities on
sustainable development and innovation policies, enhances the ability to analyse risks and
opportunities related to infrastructure investments and urban transformation projects.

The skills gained in Private Equity and in the management of industrial assets enable the
development of strategies for growth and sustainability, with a focus on digitisation and
energy efficiency. Experience in leading public transport companies and managing fleet
electrification and decarbonisation projects contributes to an innovative and environmentally
friendly mobility model.

The skills acquired and applied by the members of the management and control bodies enable
them to deal in a structured manner with the most relevant risks and opportunities for the
ATM Group:

e expertise in financial analysis and industrial asset management supports the economic
resilience of the Group, mitigating the risks associated with infrastructure investments
and the costs of ecological transition,

¢ in-depth knowledge of legislation and governance enables one to meet regulatory
challenges and ensure compliance with environmental and social standards,

e expertise in the economic and financial evaluation of infrastructure and urban
regeneration projects ensures effective management of resources, optimising public
and private investments,
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e expertise in urban and spatial planning, environmental sustainability and
multidimensional impact assessment allow integrating innovation into business
strategies, maximising economic, environmental and social benefits.

In summary, these competencies guarantee an effective strategic oversight, enabling the
boards of directors to assess and manage in a structured manner the impacts, risks and
opportunities relevant to the ATM Group, with a vision oriented towards innovation,
sustainability and long-term growth.

Some directors are directly involved in sustainability and risk management issues through
dedicated board committees.

GOV-2 Information provided to and sustainability matters addressed by the undertaking’s
administrative, management and supervisory bodies

(GOV-2 26.a) The Board of Directors, on an annual basis, assesses the appropriateness and
proceeds to approve the Group's list of impacts, risks and opportunities.

The Parent Company's Board of Directors, supported by the Administration, Finance and
Control and Strategy and Business Development Departments, within whose scope falls the
governance of the integrated Double Materiality process, is therefore responsible for
approving and monitoring sustainability strategies, including ESG (environmental, social and
governance) risk assessments, as well as the results and effectiveness of the policies, actions,
metrics and targets adopted to address them.

(GOV-2 26.b) The Board of Directors, in approving the results of the Double Materiality
process, ensures their alignment with the corporate strategy as well as the objectives and the
business model.

The strategy in the Strategic Industrial Plan 2021-2025, shared and approved by the Parent
Company's Board of Directors, was developed in line with its own peculiarities, as well as in
consideration of the evolution of market trends.

With a view to responsible management with its Stakeholders, ATM strives to be the reference
point and decisive factor in the integrated mobility system for quality, safety and
competitiveness, fully respecting the environment and in step with continuous social and
territorial changes. ATM's strategic vision focuses on achieving the goals set by the 2030
Agenda and moves along the lines identified in the 2021-2025 Strategic Plan: sustainability,
innovation and empowerment of people. As far as sustainability is concerned, the ATM
Group has determined its pillars, taking into account all operational, official, social and
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environmental aspects in relation to its core business and its involvement in the context in
which it operates. The six pillars defined by ATM's Board of Directors are:

e Zero-emission transport,

e Responsible consumption,

e Sustainable Supply Chain,

¢ Inclusive mobility,

o Great Workplace,

e Responsible Governance.
Each of them has an internal or external field of competence in which the Company operates
and is accompanied by performance indicators (KPlIs) defined by the Board of Directors, which
allow for the measurement and progressive verification of sustainable growth on the basis of
objectives defined within the Sustainability Policy, with results that can also be certified and
which, together with other significant indicators, have been included among the Highlights of

the Sustainability Policy.

(GOV-2 26.c) Please refer to ESRS IRO 1 for specifics with reference to the list of relevant
impacts, risks and opportunities.

GOV-3- Integration of sustainability-related performance into incentive schemes

(GOV-3 29.a, 29.b) The annual short-term incentive policy applies to the company's
managerial population (executive officers and General Manager) and is set within the context
of the Group's Business Plan. In addition to economic result values, it also refers to other result
areas, including sustainability. It is defined and approved by the Board of Directors at the
beginning of the year and therein approved and finalised at the end of the year.

The characteristics of the incentive policy are set out below:

e ensure fair remuneration of all employees, in relation to the skills daily expressed in
the achievement of their respective professional goals,

e attract, retain and motivate highly qualified employees who can provide decisive
support in maintaining and improving the group's operational standards,

e ensure sustainable performance over the long term;

e create a working environment that is inclusive of all forms of diversity and fosters the
expression of individual potential.

For the entire corporate population of ATM S.p.A. and its Italian subsidiaries, MBO is defined
each year for the Sustainability area, which accounts for 10% of the result. In particular, for
2024 this objective was linked to the topic of Conduct Guidelines. Whereas for MetroService
to date, MBOs are not linked to ESG targets.
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(GOV-3 29.c) The Chief Executive Officer's sustainability goals represent 10% of the total
goals. Every year they are updated and verified by the Business Plan and approved by the
Board of Directors.

The incentive system is governed by a specific document that determines the criteria, tools
and actions necessary for the implementation of the remuneration policy and management
of the MBO incentive system.

In addition, a guideline document is drawn up each year, attached to each MBO allocation
form, in which the specific MBO structure for the year is outlined, as well as details of the
timeframe and criteria for the finalisation of MBOs that will only be valid for the performance

year of reference.

(GOV-3 29.d) Within the aforementioned MBO, 10% of the result is linked to sustainability
goals.

(GOV-3 29.e) The terms and conditions of the incentive schemes are approved and updated
by the Board of Directors.

GOV-4- Statement on sustainability due diligence

(GOV-4 30) In order to prepare the Sustainability Report, the ATM Group mapped the
information on existing Due Diligence practices, despite the fact that no formal, structured
process is in place to date.

As a basis for the integration of responsibility with respect to social and environmental
aspects, the ATM Group adopts the following policies, which are discussed in detail
throughout this document:

e The Organisation, Management and Control Model pursuant to Leg. Decree 231/01
[Governance],
e Code of Ethics [Governance].

In the table below are references to the safeguards to mitigate the negative environmental,
social and governance impacts that the ATM group causes or could cause to date.
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care into governance,
strategy and business
model

b) Engaging with
affected stakeholders
in all key steps of the
due diligence

¢) ldentifying and
assessing negative
impacts

d) Taking action to
address negative
impacts

e) Tracking the
effectiveness of these
efforts and
communicating

a) Integrating the duty of ESRS 2 - General Infarmation | GOV-1 The rale of the administrative, management and suparvisory

bodies
ESRS 2 - General Information | GOV-2 Information provided to and sustainability matters addressed
by the undertaking’s administrative, management and supervisory badies

ESRS 2 - General Information | SBM-1 - Strategy, business model and value chain

ESRS 2 - General Information | SMB-2 Interests and views of stakeholders

ESRS 2 - General Information | IRO-1 - Deseription of the processes to identify and assess material
impacts, risks and opportunities

ESRS 51 - Own warkfarce | Processes for engaging with own warkers and workers' representatives
about impacts

ESRS 52 - Workers in the vaiue chain | Pracesses for engaging with value chain workers about
impacts

ESRS 53-2 - Affected communities | Processes for engaging with affected communities about
impacts

ESRS 54 - Consumers and end-users | Processes for engaging consumers and end-users about

impacts

ESRS 2 - General Information | SBM-3 Material impacts, risks and opportunities and their
interaction with strategy and business model
ESRS 2 - General Information | IRO-1 - Description of the processes to identify and assess material

impacts, risks and opportunities

ESRS E1 - Actions and resources In relaticn to climate change policies

ESRS E2 - Actions and resources related to pollution

ESRS ES - Actions and resources related to resource use and circular economy

ESRS 51 - Taking action on material impacts on own workforce, and approaches ta mitigating
material risks and pursuing material oppoertunities related to own workforce, and effectiveness of
those actions

ESRS 52 - Taking action on material impacts on value chain workers, and approaches to managing
material risks and pursuing material opportunities related to value chain workers, and effectiveness

of those action

ESRS E1 - Targets related to cimate change mitigation and adaptation ESRS E5 - Targets related to
resource use and circular economy

ESRS5 51 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, and
managing material risks and opportunities

ESRS 52 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, and
managing material risks and opportunities

ESRS 53 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, and
managing matenal risks and opportunities

ESRS 54 Targets related to managing material negative impacts, advancing positive impacts, and
managing material risks and opportunities
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GOV-5 - Risk management and internal controls over sustainability reporting

(GOV-5 36.a) In 2024, the ATM Group launched the project initiative aimed at implementing
the new European CSRD regulation by carrying out a gap analysis aimed at identifying any
gualitative and quantitative information required by the new ESRS reporting standards and
which had not been previously disclosed. The analysis involved the various contact persons
responsible for the various ESG issues.

In addition, as part of its CSRD implementation activities, the ATM Group has started to
strengthen its sustainability reporting system by computerising the data and information
collection process with the support of the related data certification process. This activity is
aimed at ensuring the reliability, accuracy and traceability of sustainability reporting.

(GOV-5 36.b, 36.c, 36.d, 36.¢) Confirming the deep integration of ESG issues within the existing
corporate Enterprise Risk Management process, and to ensure adequate control,
management and monitoring of relevant risks, a governance structure and operating model
is defined, describing the activities, operating rules, time lines and tools for the periodic
performance of the process leading to sustainability reporting. As part of this process, the
assessment and prioritisation of risks and the implementation of controls is carried out by
involving the management responsible for operational processes and activities, the control
implemented by the department responsible for sustainability reporting, adequately
supported by a process of regulatory interpretation to meet the reporting requirements of
the data, and by external consultants with expertise in the field. The collection, management
and consolidation of sustainability data is performed through the Tagetik information system,
which enables the alignment of the generation and consolidation processes of the ESRS
reporting.

Furthermore, in order to oversee the accuracy of sustainability reporting and the reliability of
business processes in producing correct data and information in compliance with ESRS
reporting principles, activities are under way to define and strengthen a control system on
non-financial reporting, in line with international best practices.

Strategy
SBM1 — Strategy, Business model and value chain

(SBM-1 40.a) The ATM Group has historically been active in Local Public Transport (LPT) in
Milan and the metropolitan area, with an active role in the promotion of sustainable mobility
at a European level, extending its activities also to Denmark and Greece.
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It generates value along the entire public transport chain, improving its reliability and
efficiency through:

e Automatic and traditional subways,

e Urban surface transport (trams, trolleybuses, buses),

e Alternative mobility systems, such as cable cars and bike sharing,

e Engineering and innovation, with infrastructure development, digitisation and smart
mobility solutions.

During the reporting period, there were no particular changes compared to the services
offered in previous reporting years.

The ATM Group's customer and market groups can be divided into the following categories:

e Public Bodies and Local Administrations

e The ATM Group cooperates with public bodies and municipalities, providing public
transport services, with the aim of improving the efficiency of public services and
supporting the sustainable development of the area.

e Significant Customers: Passengers

e itis aimed at citizens, businesses and local authorities using public transport services,
including buses, undergrounds and bike sharing.

e Significant Markets

e ATM's geographical presence is mainly concentrated in the city of Milan in Lombardy,
in the city of Copenhagen in Denmark and in the city of Thessaloniki in Greece (on 30
November 2024, the first automatic underground in Thessaloniki has been opened).
This makes it possible to focus on the specific needs of territories, developing targeted
services to improve the quality of life of residents and promote sustainable
development.

The Group's workforce as at 31 December 2024 consisted of 10,623 employees, of which
9,684 employed in Italy, 715 in Denmark and 224 in Greece.

(SBM-1 40.d) The ATM Group also declares that it is not active in the fossil fuels (coal, oil and
gas) sector, i.e., that it does not generate revenues from the exploration, extraction,
production, processing, storage, refining or distribution, including transportation, storage and
trade, of fossil fuels as defined in Article 2(62) of Regulation (EU) 2018/1999 of the European
Parliament and of the Council). Furthermore, the Group is not active in the manufacture of
chemical products (covered by Division 20.2 of Annex | of EC Regulation No. 1893/2006), in
the sector of controversial weapons (anti-personnel mines, cluster munitions, chemical
weapons and biological weapons) and is not active in the cultivation and production of
tobacco.

(SMB-1 40.e) The ATM Group has set specific sustainability objectives integrated in its
Sustainability Plan to 2030 (approved on 19 October 2019 by the Board of Directors), which
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aims to ensure long-term value and continuity for the territories it serves, through initiatives
dedicated to environmental, social and governance issues. The Investment Plan envisages a
total amount of EUR 1,078.9 million over 3 years (2025-2027), with a 91% share complying
with the Taxonomy. The value of projects linked to specific sustainable development
objectives amounts to EUR 891.5 million (about 83% of the Plan's total).

The objectives concern significant service groups, and focus on the geographical areas where
the group operates, for the benefit of local communities.

For further details on the individual corporate objectives, please refer to the relevant sections:
E1-4, E2-4, E5-4, S1-4, S2-4, S3-4, S4-4

(SMB-1 40.f) Through its services, the Group is committed to achieving sustainability goals,
such as reducing 72,000 tonnes of CO,, emissions, which amounts to a 22% contribution to
the achievement of the Milan Municipality's Air Climate Plan objectives. The strategy adopted
also includes improving the quality of service through improved accessibility to vehicles and
stations, improved certified travel comfort on all underground and surface lines, and a process
of digitisation of tickets, constant customer focus and infrastructure improvements, ensuring
that products and services meet the sustainability requirements demanded by customers and
target markets.

(SMB-1 40.g) The ATM Group's business model integrates sustainability as a strategic lever,
aiming to offer safe, reliable, accessible and efficient public mobility services, contributing to
the reduction of environmental impact and the improvement of urban quality. The main
challenges for the Group are the energy transition of transport (electrification, renewable
energy), the digitisation of the network and the management of human capital in a changing
technological and social environment. In order to meet these challenges, ATM has defined a
number of strategic directions, which impact sustainability, and which favour the
development of the automatic underground, investments in digitisation and the renewal of
the fleet with low-emission solutions:

o Digitisation and smart mobility, to optimise service efficiency and promote integrated
mobility solutions, reducing traffic and emissions,

e Expanding the electrification of the LPT, with investments in environmentally friendly
vehicles and sustainable infrastructure,

¢ Promotion of integrated mobility (sharing, parking, restricted traffic zones), to reduce
private car use,

¢ International expansion with sustainable know-how, exporting expertise in
environmentally friendly LPT management (e.g. Copenhagen and Thessaloniki).
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(SMB-1 42.a) Input and resource management approach

ATM's business model was formed by analysing the reference context with respect to the
Milanese territory and hinterland, that of Copenhagen and the possible expansionist fabric of
business. ATM focuses on sustainability, technological innovation and service quality to
ensure efficient and integrated mobility across all its mobility services.

The Business model has focused on

e Operational data: information on passenger flows, transport utilisation, performance
of integrated mobility services,

e Financial Data: balance sheets, operating costs, ticket and season ticket revenues,
investments,

e Market Data: analysis of public transport demand, consumer preferences, and trends
on urban mobility.
The methodology used, following a market benchmark analysis, sought to integrate strengths,
weaknesses, opportunities and threats to identify areas for improvement and development,
as well as to identify growth and development scenarios for the business and the impact of
strategies in the short to medium term.
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(SMB-1 42.b) The ATM Group provides a public transport service that is considered essential.

The Group’s mission is based on the following ambitions:
e to be a nationally and internationally recognised excellence in sustainable integrated

mobility management, through a consumer-centric, technologically advanced,
efficient and resilient service,
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e become a promoter of change and revitalisation in Milan, of its evolution into a more
liveable, sustainable, safe and smart city,

e promote the enhancement of its people and assets through the development of new
skills and the attraction and growth of talent by promoting a culture open to diversity
and inclusion.

Output and benefits for stakeholders
The outputs include:

e Local Public Transport services in Italy and European contexts (underground, tram,
bus, bike sharing, etc.),
e Integrated urban mobility management: matching parking, removals, ZTL zones,
e Expected benefits:
o For passengers: safe, punctual, accessible and technologically advanced
transport,
o For municipalities and public stakeholders: urban decongestion, emission
reduction and support for sustainable mobility,
o For investors and the community: growth in corporate value, positive social
and environmental impact, creation of skilled employment.
(SMB-1 42.c) ATM plays a central role in the value chain, as a direct operator and integrator

of public mobility, both as an operator and as a technological innovator.

The customers are the users of the integrated public transport service, which also includes
services related to park-and-ride and bike sharing in Milan and the Hinterland, the Como-
Brunate funicular, as well as passengers on the Copenhagen underground lines and the light
rail in Thessaloniki. The Group’s supply system comprises almost 2,300 entities, all in Europe,
and includes all categories of services related to the operation and maintenance of integrated
public transport and all related activities (e.g. supply for company canteens, etc.). As part of
the Double Materiality process, a mapping analysis of the ATM Group’s value chain was
carried out:
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Upstream: suppliers of vehicles and technology components, energy, maintenance
services, security and cleaning; management takes place through procurement and
subcontracting in accordance with environmental and social criteria.
Downstream: public bodies (municipalities and metropolitan cities) as main
customers, citizens as end users, and key stakeholders such as trade unions, media

and investors.

Channels: ATM provides services through 7 operational models (bus, underground,

tram, trolleybus, bike sharing, parking, removals).

SBM-2 — Interests and views of stakeholders

(SBM-2 45.a, 45.d) The Double Materiality Analysis constitutes one of the main opportunities

to engage with all stakeholders in order to identify issues relevant to the business and its

stakeholders.

In 2024, the ATM Group involved all the Group’s main stakeholders in the Double Materiality

process via an online questionnaire:

BoD and directors.

Employees: The ATM Group’s Management Team (268 Managers) has been involved

in a training course that will also cover sustainability issues.

Customers: a sample of 627 customers with whom ATM has a close relationship was
involved, thanks to constant involvement through questionnaires and surveys.
Entities and Institutions/Universities/Communities/Investors: 254 representatives of
the local area as a whole were involved, in view of the greater involvement activity
carried out with each of them.
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e Suppliers: a group of 50 suppliers considered to be high-risk®> (as defined by the
Ecovadis platform) plus additional suppliers with whom ATM has a longer-standing
relationship were selected, for a total of 178 suppliers involved.

e Trade Union Representatives: Both external and internal trade union representatives
were involved, totalling 21 representatives.

At the end of the IRO evaluation process through the questionnaire, the answers of the
stakeholders are collected, analysed and consolidated. Subsequently, the results of the dual
materiality analysis are presented to the relevant committees and then submitted to the
Board of Directors for formal approval.

In the normal course of its activities, the Group promotes the implementation of multiple
initiatives of involvement and interaction with its stakeholders, maintaining relations based
on the principles of transparency, listening and collaboration, which are better described in
the table below showing the ATM Group’s main stakeholders and the actions taken to involve
them.

1> The risk calculation methodology includes a composition of 30% procurement risk and 70% carbon
impact risk
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Customers

Municipality of Milan and other PA
institutions

ATM Group employees and their
families

Suppliers and business partners

Investors

Customers have the opportunity to interact with the Group by forwarding their
suggestions and complaints through the many channels, physical and digital, available to
them. ATM considers the monitoring of percelved guality, through periodic customer
satisfaction surveys, to be an important lever for listening to its customers In order ta
guarantee constant service improvement,

Multiple working tables ensure continuous discussion and cooperation between the
ATM Group, the Municipality of Milan and other PA institutions.

The multiple channels available ensure constant interaction between the Group and its
employees, aimed at ensuring the analysis and resclution of employee-related problems.
These channels include the whistleblowing channel and SASD0D reporting boxes for
certified companies,

The involvemant of suppliers is ensured in the course of normal business relations and
with referance to the procedures identified by the SABDOD management system,

Inwestor relations are ensured through the normal channels set up by the Group for this
purpose (e.g. conference calls, web site, perlodic fimancial reports).

Representatives of Research Centres |
and Universities

Media Representatives

Trade union representatives

Territory, local communities and
NGOs

ATM makes its know-how related to the management of Local Public Transport systems
available to the various research centres and universities with which it collabarates
through partnerships education, such as the course “Mobility: Infrastructures & Serwices”
in collaboration with the Politecnico di Milano and lectures and scholarships far the
taster's degree “Local Public Transport Management™ at the Bleocca University. In
addition, ATM collaborates with several universities for the activation of curricular and
imtermship placements for students within the company,

The media are involved through press conferences, company events and public and
afficial meetings.

The imvelvement of trade union representatives is continuous and |s develaped In the
context of normal relations with the trade unlons within the ATM Group.

Every year ATM organises initiatives aimed at involving local communities in the life of
the campany, stimulating dialogue between the organisation and the local area.

(SBM-2 45.b) For specific comments regarding the interests and opinions of the Group's key

stakeholders, please refer to the IRO-1 & IRO-2 sections below.

(SBM-2 45.c.i) ATM’s Strategic Plan is currently being revised, also in light of the results of the

Double Materiality Analysi

stakeholders. It is scheduled

s, which highlighted priority issues for the Group and its
to be updated in 2025.

(SBM-2 45.c.ii.) In 2025, the supply chain will be involved for the first time in achieving the

company's decarbonisation targets through an assessment in cooperation with Ecovadis.
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(SBM-2 45.c.iii) The ATM supply chain system will have to be increasingly sustainable from an
ESG perspective and more and more performance parameters will be gradually required, in
particular with regard to actions aimed at decarbonisation. Suppliers will then be
progressively driven to join a system that will see them involved in improving their own
sustainability performances.

SBM-3 — Material impact, risks and opportunities and their interactions with strategy and
business model

(SBM-3 48.a, 48.b, 48.c, 48.h) Please refer to the table of IROs in the appendix on page 305.

(SBM-3 48.f) During 2024, the ATM Group integrated its ERM model through the development
of a specific Climate Change Risk Management framework, to identify in more detail the risks
and opportunities related to climate change and, consequently, to improve the management
of their uncertainty, as well as to strengthen the Group's resilience. In line with the main
references and standards in the field of climate risk (i.e. TCFD framework, European
Taxonomy, CSRD, IPCC), during the year, physical risk and transition risk/opportunity
assessments were carried out on a scope of strategic assets, taking into account three time
horizons for assessing potential exposure and medium-long term scenario analyses. These
analyses, which are being consolidated, shared and reported company-wide in the months to
come, are an essential element in supporting analyses of the resilience of the company's
strategy and model to impacts, risks and opportunities.
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(SBM-3 48.d)
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overloads related

to extreme Short-

Medium (1
to 5 years)

weather events
\(e.g. increased
demand during
heat waves),
laffecting the
Group's operations,

- Attacks on ATRA
staff by customers |
and other third
parties, resulting

in reputational

and economic
damage due to
refunds and
possible service
interruptions

Short-
Medium (1
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- Strike by ATM

istaff demanding

|better working
conditions in terms

lof wages, safety

\and rights, with
consegquent Short-

impacts on service  Medium (1
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reputational
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Owin
operations

Own
operations
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\With regard to
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ér_'nn'te:-tt of the
financial materiality
assessment.

Phased in

'With regard to
eurrent effects, no
icurrent risk impacts
Eemerged inthe
‘context of the
financial materiality
assessment,

Phased in
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- Disclosure of
strategic Group
information by a
supplier resulting
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EUR 2.5 million. For
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company had a cash
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reputational ek
damage
- Access to public During 2024, three
or private funding contributions were
related to received in the
sustainability and amount of EUR 58
climate change million. Accrued
mitigation for the contributions
development of ‘expected to be
. L fi Short- :
E1- Climate _investments in 1 Own collected in
Opportunities Podedliirm (1 A Phazed in
Change green to 5 years) operations  subsequent years
infrastructureand | o o000 amount to EUR
decarbonisation 206m.
programmes, The contributions
through ‘only take into
collaboration with account electric
suppliers operating buses, so they are
according to only refated to the
certified two companies ATM
sustainability and NET.
standards
Sourcing from
suppliers that With regard to
adopt low- current effects, no
: emission Short- current risk impacts
E1- Climate ; ; O : ;
- hange Opportunities production Medium (1 aperations emerged in the Phased in
ne processes and/or  |[to 5 years) P context of the
means of financial materiality
transpart, assessment,
fostering
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E1- Climate
Change

ES-Circular
Economy

Opportunities

Opportunities

the supply chain
and consequently
improving the
Group's reputation

- Gradual

reduction of diesel
consumption in its

operations and
implementation of  Short-
energy efficiency | Medium (1
systems resulting | to 5 years)
in a reduction of

the Group's

cost/maintenance

efficiency

- Adoption of

efficlent practices

for the

management and

disposal of post-

maintenance

waste, favouring  Short-
recycling where Medium (1
possible, with the to 5years)
consequent

possibility of

reducing disposal

costs due to the

optimisation of

FESOUFCES

Own
operations

Ohwin
operations

I 2024,
consumption fram
electric buses
amounted to a total
‘cost of
approximately ELUIR
2.3 millian.

The same distance
travelled by
conventional
[(hybrid/diesel) buses Phased in
would have resulted
in costs of arcund
EUR 4.4 million
(already net of
excise refunds). The
luse of electric buses
therafore allowed
the Group a final net
isaving of EUR 2
million

With regard to
current effects, no
current risk impacts
emerged in the
‘context of the
financial materiality
‘AssEsSMEnt.

Phased in
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Adoption/strength
ening of systems
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chain, in ling with
Corporate

With regard to

current effects, no

through the use of
funds allocated
nationally

B2-Workers In s Short- current risk impacts
... Sustaimability Due . Ohwen i .
the value Dpportunities |- = Medium (1 . emerged in the Phased in
Diligence Directive operations
hain to 5 years) context af the
Resun) I financial materiality
requirements, with
L assessment.
positive
CONSEqUENnCEs in
terms of
reputational and
operational
efficiency
E1- Climate Risk 1. Extreme Long (over 5 0wn ith regard to Phased in
Change eather events  |years) o perations urrent effects, no
(e.g. heat waves, urrent risk impacts
st, heavy merged in the
W NPOUrS, icontext of the
ornadoes, tropical financial materiality
vilones and a5SRsSment.
oods) impacting
lthe Group's assets
with conseguences
lon operations and
[penerating extra
lcosts for the
restoration of
vehicles and
infrastructure
E1l- Climate  [Opportunities [Investment in Long (over 5 j0wn During 2024, three  |Phased in
Change [electric vehicles  fyears) operations  [contributions wera
and their charging received in the
infrastructure amount of EUR 58

million. Accrued
lcontributions
[expected to be
collected In
subsequent years
[pmount to EUR
20GEm.

[The contributions
lconsider

wclusively elactric
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herefore they relate

nly ta the two
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E1- Climate ICpportunities [Increase in the Long [over 5 f0wn [With regard to Phased in
IChange supply of electric  |years) operations  [current effects, no
wehicles due to the current risk impacts
introduction of lemerged in the
European lcontext of the
regulations financial materiality
requiring suppliers assessment,

ko prohibit the
introduction of
rew combustion
wehicles, thereby
increasing the
production of
electric vehicles
and reducing
procurement costs
[far the Group

G1- Conduct ofi0pportunities [Growth in Long (over 5 f0wn With regard to Phased in
Enterprises promotionfinfluen years) joperations  |current effects, no

Ice in the real current risk impacts

estate sector, with lemearged in the

consequent context of the

econarmic and financial materiality

reputational A5SESSMEnt.

benefits

Impact, risk and opportunity management

IRO-1 - Description of the process to identify and assess material impacts, risks and
opportunities

(IRO -1 53.h) Following the introduction of the CSRD (Corporate Sustainability Reporting
Directive), transposed in ltaly with Legislative Decree 125 of 06 September 2024, the ATM
Group implemented the Double Materiality Analysis according to the methodology
suggested by the new reporting standards, the European Sustainability Reporting Standards
(ESRS). Therefore, in 2024, the ATM Group developed a governance model and a company-
wide integrated operational process for carrying out this analysis.

Dual Materiality is a concept that proposes to overcome the decoupled view of 'financial
materiality' and 'impact materiality', introducing an integrated solution that recognises the
added value of defining material issues by considering both perspectives, Inside-Out and
Outside-In, in order to identify the material impacts, risks and opportunities (IROs) to be
reported. Specifically:

e  “Impact materiality” assesses the relevance of sustainability issues in terms of the
impacts generated (positive and negative, actual and potential) on the economy, the
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environment and people, including human rights impacts, related to business
operations at the upstream and downstream value chain,

e “financial materiality” assesses sustainability aspects that generate risks or
opportunities that have or can reasonably be expected to have a material influence on
the company’s development, financial position, results of operations, cash flows,
access to finance or cost of capital in the short, medium or long term.

The ATM S.p.A. Group’s Governance of the Double Materiality Analysis process provides for
its continuous updating and revision in response to various factors affecting both the
company and the external environment, in order to continuously ensure an up-to-date
mapping of relevant impacts, risks and opportunities. These include regulatory changes, such
as the introduction of new laws and regulations regarding sustainability and governance,
which may require an adjustment of the analysis to ensure full compliance with current legal
provisions. In addition, changes in corporate strategy, business models or the ATM S.p.A.
Group's priorities may determine the need for a revision to align the analysis with updated
objectives. The emergence of new risks or opportunities related to environmental, social or
governance (ESG) issues also requires an update of the analysis to ensure an appropriate
response. In general, any change that impacts factors material to the ATM S.p.A. Group or
that modifies its operating environment may justify a revision of the process.

The ATM Group's dual materiality analysis was carried out following the guidelines of the
Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD), ESRS 2, IRO-1, IRO-2 as well as the
guidance provided in the EFRAG Implementation Guidance - Materiality Assessment.

(IRO -1 53.e, 53.f) In implementing the Dual Materiality process, the ATM Group took the
opportunity to evolve its corporate business model and its Enterprise Risk Management
(hereinafter also referred to as ‘ERM’) framework from an integrated sustainability
perspective. In this context, a new governance structure was defined for the process of
identifying and managing ESG impacts, risks and opportunities, which integrates with the
company's existing ERM process. This new structure and new operational model are designed
to ensure the smooth running of the Dual Materiality process, in line with regulatory
requirements.

Below is an overview of roles and responsibilities.
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(IRO-1 53.d) The Administration, Finance and Control Department, supervised by the
Sustainability Policies Committee'® and the Audit and Internal Control Department,t’
coordinates the process and results of Double Materiality and, in particular:

the Risk Management department carries out the Financial Materiality process,
reviewing the processes, tools and methodologies for carrying out the latter (e.g.
revision of the rating scales), updating the list of ESG risks and opportunities and
coordinating the involvement of the corporate departments in the process of
identifying and assessing Risks and Opportunities,

the Consolidated, Structure and Subsidiaries function, supported by the Sustainability
department, performs the Impact Materiality process, also reviewing the processes,
tools and methodologies used (e.g. selection and methodology of engagement of
stakeholders), updating the list of all impacts taking into account the evolution of the
internal and external context (regulatory changes and/or trends in the sector),
coordinating the involvement of stakeholders and, finally, consolidating the Impact
and Financial Materiality data.

Once the Double Materiality data have been consolidated, the results are preliminarily

reviewed by the Sustainability Policy Committee and, subsequently, by the CoDIR, which views

them and may, if necessary, request additions after sharing them with the Board of Directors.

The Board Committees support the Board of Directors in verifying the alignment of the results

of the Dual Materiality process with the Group's ESG strategy and objectives, with a proactive

16 Guarantees the correct implementation of the Double Materiality process at every stage.
17 verifies and ensures that the Dual Materiality process is carried out correctly with respect to
regulatory requirements, reporting any irregularities encountered.
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and investigative function. The final stage of the process is in the hands of the Board of
Directors, which is responsible for the final approval of the results, ensuring their alignment
with the corporate strategy, objectives and business model.

The process of identifying impacts, risks and opportunities related to environmental, social
and governance (ESG) aspects is a key step in ensuring that the company operates in a
sustainable and responsible manner, proactively addressing potential risks and seizing
opportunities that may emerge from a changing environment.

(IRO -1 53.a, 53.g) The Double Materiality process followed a path structured in 3 main steps,
which allowed to ensure an accurate and complete assessment of the ATM S.p.A. Group and
its business relationships, as well as to consider various aspects and dimensions of impacts,
risks and opportunities. The analyses performed were as follows:

e Analysis of the company's activities and its commercial relationships: analysis of the
value chain of the Group's upstream and downstream businesses makes it possible to
identify the various types of business relationships undertaken and, therefore,
provides an understanding of the nature of the operations that contribute to the
production, distribution and consumption of the products or services offered by both
suppliers and the Group, facilitating the identification of critical points where ESG
factors (environmental, social and governance) may influence the company's
activities.

e Analysis of the ESG context, with particular reference to the external context relevant
to ATM's activities, in order to identify risks and opportunities related to
environmental, social and governance issues that may affect business.

e Mapping and prioritisation of stakeholders in order to identify all the Group's
stakeholders, understand their expectations and establish engagement strategies.

After analysing ATM's internal and external context and identifying the stakeholders to be
involved in the Dual Materiality process, a preliminary list of sustainability issues, and related
impacts, risks and opportunities (IROs), relevant to the business was defined. The
identification of the long list of impacts, risks and opportunities (IROs) to be submitted to
internal and external stakeholders for evaluation was carried out taking into consideration
the:

e internal context: such as the Risk Register of the Group and Subsidiaries, the Group
Sustainability Plan and previous materiality analyses,

e external context: such as national and international regulatory developments to
identify possible obligations and opportunities with respect to new sustainability
issues, benchmark analysis of competitors, changing conditions in the Group's target
markets (influenced by the effects of climate change), list of the 10 ESRS Topical
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Standard identified within AR 16 of ESRS 1 (in order to verify the coverage of all
sustainability issues suggested by the CSRD standard).
The Impact Materiality process identifies, analyses and evaluates the significant impacts
(positive or negative, actual or potential) that the ATM S.p.A. Group's activities may have on
the external environmental and social context, including human rights. The first step in this
process was to identify, on the basis of industry benchmark analyses, the list of possible
impacts to be subsequently subjected to stakeholder evaluation.

The identified impacts were traced to the topics suggested by AR 16 of ESRS 1 and in particular
to the Topical Standard, the Sub-Topics and the Sub-Sub Topics.

(IRO-1 53.b.i-ii-iii-iv) The assessment of impacts by internal and external stakeholders was
carried out through the use of quantitative and qualitative scales that allowed for the
assessment of the higher or lower magnitude of the individual impact. The identified scales
covered two main spheres: environment (potential environmental damage) and society
(worsening working conditions/violation of human rights/damage to the health and safety of
customers/workers/affected communities).

For each impact, in addition to their nature (positive, negative) and type (actual, potential),
the area along the value chain where the impact is generated was identified, whether in its

own operations or whether in the upstream or downstream phase.

As mentioned above, the long list of impacts was submitted to internal and external
stakeholders for evaluation, by sharing a questionnaire in which they were asked to rate the
magnitude of the individual impact, taking into consideration their own relationship with ATM
and their own sensitivity.

In particular, the analysis involved more than 1,365 external stakeholders, including
customers, the Municipality of Milan and other Public Administration institutions, ATM Group
employees and their families, suppliers and commercial partners, investors, representatives
of research centres and universities, the media, trade union representatives and the territory,
local communities and NGOs. It should be noted that a representative sample was selected
for each category of stakeholders.

Once the stakeholder assessments were received, they were analysed and consolidated in
order to identify which impacts, based on magnitude and likelihood of occurrence, were
considered most relevant to the Group. The prioritisation of impacts was performed by
conducting an initial exercise of voting on the actuality/potentiality of the impact, the time
horizon in which the impact is most likely to occur, scoring of magnitude, extent and
irreparability, and scoring of likelihood.
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Specifically, the impact is assessed by multiplying the magnitude by the probability of
occurrence where, with reference to current impacts, a probability of 4 has always been
assigned while for potential impacts a scale of 1 to 4 has been assessed.

The magnitude was assessed on a scale of 1 to 4, based on the intensity of the damage/benefit
that positive/negative impacts may generate for the environment and people in terms of
scope (severity), magnitude (extent) and irreparability (for negative impacts only).

The results that emerged were subsequently analysed and consolidated using a weighting
system of the participants' vote, based on the type of vote as well as the number of impacts
that were assessed by each stakeholder. Therefore, an impact is material for the Group if it
exceeds the materiality threshold outlined, which, moreover, is in line with the threshold
adopted in ERM for the identification of critical risks for the ATM S.p.A. Group.

It should be noted that, at the end of the materiality analysis, the identified IROs were not
prioritised for immediate handling. However, the Group is committed to taking this action in
the coming year, with the aim of defining and implementing a structured management plan
to address them effectively and in a timely manner.

At the same time as the impact analysis, the "Financial Materiality” took place, involving all
ATM Group Departments, in order to ensure a comprehensive mapping of sustainability risks
and opportunities relevant to the company. For each Directorate, ESG risks and opportunities
were preliminarily identified for assessment by the Directors. The latter were involved in in-
depth interviews during which they were invited to assess the risks and opportunities
identified in the pre-assessment phase and, if necessary, to supplement the preliminary list if
there were new risks and opportunities relevant to their management and to the ATM S.p.A.
Group. Where it was possible to assess the economic and financial impact of the risks and
opportunities considered, a quantitative evaluation was given by the Director involved in the

interview.

(IRO - 1 53.c.i) The identification of the long list of risks and opportunities took into
consideration the connections and dependencies existing; these and the impacts generated
by the company, according to a cause-effect approach, based on the in-depth analysis of the
specific contents of each sub-topic. This approach made it possible to map the interactions
between IROs in a systematic way, highlighting how sustainability aspects influence each
other and contributing to an overall picture that favours an integrated and coherent
management of the issues.

171



Sustainability Reporting

(IRO - 1 53.c.ii) The magnitude of risks and the benefit of opportunities were assessed on a
scale of 1 to 4, in line with the evaluation scales of the corporate ERM Model in use (suitably
revised), according to the following dimensions:

* Risks: Economic-financial, Reputational, Legal and Compliance, Service Interruption,
Operational Efficiency.

* Opportunities: Economic-financial, Reputational, Operational Efficiency.

* Probability was assessed on a scale of 1 to 4 and on the time horizon identified as most
relevant between Short- and Medium-term (1 - 5 years) and Long-term (more than 5
years).

(IRO - 1 53.c.iii) Finally, the prioritisation methodology for sustainability risks is the same as
that used for the prioritisation of other corporate risks in line with the ERM framework
adopted by the Group. Specifically, this involves ranking by areas of criticality within a
relevance matrix where the green area contains non-critical risks, the yellow area contains
risks to be monitored continuously, the orange area contains critical risks and the red area
contains very critical risks. For the Dual Materiality process, the materiality threshold
identified for IROs, in line with the qualitative threshold adopted in ERM, coincides with the
area of the materiality matrix identifying very critical risks.

IRO-2 Disclosure requirements in ESRS covered by the undertaking’s sustainability
statement

(IRO-2 59) Once the results of the Impact and the Financial Materiality were defined, they
were consolidated within a Double Materiality Matrix. It should be noted that a sustainability
issue is material if the impacts, risks and opportunities (IROs) associated with it are material.
IROs are material if they have exceeded the "materiality threshold" set by the ATM Group.
This analysis resulted in eight material sustainability themes plus one entity specific topic
concerning innovation and digitisation. The double materiality analysis was presented and
approved by ATM S.p.A.'s Board of Directors on 19 December 2024.

In addition to dictating the Group's areas of action in the field of sustainability, the material
issues revealed by the analysis described above are also the starting point for identifying the
contents of this document and the foundation on which the Group has drawn up its
sustainability plan.

Illustrated below is the 2024 Dual Materiality Matrix, which shows that the topics E2 -
Pollution and the entity specific topic of Innovation and Digitalisation, were material for the
Impact Materiality alone. While for both Impact and Financial Materiality the topics for which
the ATM Group is committed to reporting are: E1 -Climate Change, E5 - Resources Use and
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the Circular Economy, S1 - Own Workforce, S2 - Workers along the Value Chain, S3 - Affected
Communities, S4 - Consumers and End-Users and G1 - Business Conduct.
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(IRO-2 58) On the other hand, the topics concerning ESRS E3 - Water and Marine Resources
and ESRS E4 - Biodiversity and Ecosystems were not relevant, as the IRO's associated with
these topics did not exceed the materiality threshold. Considering all of the ATM S.p.A.
Group's activities, there are no activities that could impact biodiversity and, therefore, no
risks for ATM's business emerge, being totally unrelated to biodiversity.
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(IRO-2 56)
Appendix B to ESRS 2 (List of information elements referred to in the cross-cutting and topics
principles stemming from other EU legislative acts).

SRS 2 GOV-1 Board's gender  JAnnex |, Table 1, Regulation [EL)
iversity paragraph 21(d) Indicator Mo, 13 2020/ 18164%,
P I

E5RS I GOV-1 Percentage of
board members who are
independent paragraph 21)e)

Delegated Regulation
HEU] M0 1816, Arinax |1

ESRS 2 GOV-4 Statement on
due diligence, paragraph 30

lErmex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 10

rticle 4493 Regulation
[EU) Mo 575,/2013; |
Commissian
mplementing Regulation
(ELI) 20222453057 Table
|1: Qualitative
information on
Envirgnmental risk and
Table 2: Qualitative
rformation on Social risk

MOT RELEVANT

ESRS 2 SBM-1 Imeolvernent in
activities related to fossil fusl
|actisities paragraph A0{d]i

lhrimex |, Table 1,
Indicator Mo. 4

Delegated Regulation
WEU] 2020/1B1E, Arnex I

FSAS 2 SBM-1 Invalvernent in MOT RELEVANT
activities retated to cultivation
and production of tobacco

paragraph A0{d (i)

lanimes |, Table 2,
Indicator Mo. &

Delegated Regulation
HEU] 202071816, Annex I

jrticle 12{1) Delegated MOT RELEVANT

ESRS 2 SBM-1 Participation in Regulation [EU)
. ctivitios related 1o controversial MI‘_ﬂ!I I, Table 1, D20/1B1E (1], Andex ||
d Indicator Mo. 14 md Annex | af
weapans, para. 40{d)il} Delegated Regulation
EU] BO20S1816
Iﬂrtlcle 121} Delegated MOT RELEVANT
ESRS 2 SBM-1 Involvernert in Regulation [EL)
factiwities redated to cultivation 2020/ 1812 and Anna ||
and production F-fmha-::r.- of Dalagatad Rogulation
paragragh 40(d)iv
JEU] 2020/1816

ELRS E1:1 Transition plan to
achieve climate neutrality by
2050, paragraph 14

urtiche (1) of Regulation
(EU) 202171119

18. Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27
November 2019 on sustainability reporting in the financial services sector (Regulation
on sustainability reporting in the financial sector) (OJ L 317, 9.12.2019, p. 1).

19. Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 26 June
2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and
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20.

21.

amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012 (Capital Requirements Regulation "CRR") (OJ
L 176 0f 27.6.2013, p. 1).

Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 June
2016 concerning indices used as benchmarks in the financial instruments and financial
contracts or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending Directives
2008/48/EC and 2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 (OJ L 171, 29.6.2016,

p. 1).

Regulation (EU) 2021/1119 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 June
2021 establishing the framework for the achievement of climate neutrality and
amending Regulations (EC) No 401/2009 and (EU) 2018/1999 (“European Climate
Law”) (OJ L 243, 9.7.2021, p. 1).
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ESRS E1-1 Undertakings excluded
[from Faris-aligned Benchmarks
paragraph 16(g)

|article 449 of
Regulation (EU) Mo
575/2013; Commission
Implementing Regulation
[EL) 202273453,
[Template 1: Banking
ok - Climate change
transition risk: Credit
lquality of exposures by
sechor, ermassions and
residual maturity

Articlel2(1)(d] v (g), and
prticle 12(2) of Delegated
Regulation (EL)
2020/1818

ESHS E1-4 GHG emisslon
reduction targets paragraph 34

Annay |, Table 2,
Indicator Mo, 4

article 44%a of
Regulation (EU) Mo
S575/2013; Commission
Implementing Regulation
|EL) 20222453,
[Template 3: Banking
baak - Climate change
[transition risk: alignment
metrics

Dalegated Regulation
[ELI) 20201818, Artichke B

E5RS E1-5 Energy consumption
[from fossil sources
[disagpregated by sources [only
high climate impact sectars)
paragraph 38

[Arinex |, Table 1,
Indicator Mo, 5 and I,
[Table 2, Indicator Mo, 5

ELRS E1-5 Energy consumption
land mix paragraph 37

Annay |, Table 1,
|ndicator Mo, 5

ESRS E1-5 | Energy intensity
lassaciated with activities in high
lclimate impact sesctars
paragraphs 40 to 43

Anney |, Table 1,
Indicator No. &

ESRS E1-6 | Gross 5cope 1,2, 3

fand Tatal GHG emissions

paragraph 44

Anney |, Table 1,
Indicators 1and 2

|Article 445 of
Regulation (EU) Mo
575/2013; Carmmission
Implementing Regulation
[EL) 202372453,
[Template 1: Banking
baak - Climate change
transition risk: Credit
lguality of axpodures by
sector, emissions and
residual maturity

Delegated Ragulation
[ELI) 20201818, Article
541}, Band 8(1)

ESRS E1-6 Gross GHG emissions
intensity paragraphs 53 to 55

|&rinex |, Table 1,
Indigator hg, 3

larticle 4% of
Regulation (EU) No
575/2013; Commission
Implementing Regulation
|ELY) 20222453,
Template 3: Banking
boak - Climate change
transition risk: alignment
metrics

|Article 81} of Delegated
Regulation (EU) 2020/
1818

ESRS E1-7 GHG removals and
[carbon credits, paragraph 5&

lArticle 2(1) of Regulation

IIELI] 202111119

POT REPORTED
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ESRS E1-9 Exposure of the Delegated Regulation Phase-in
benchmark partfolio to dimate- [EV) 2020/1218, Annex il
related physical risks paragraph Delegated Regulation
56 [EL) 2020/1816, Anmex 1|
|Article 44%a Regulation Phiase-in
[EL) No 575/2013;
Commission
Disaggregation of monetary Implementing Regulation
amaurits by acute and chronic [EU) 20222453
physical risk paragraph 664a) paragraphs 46 am.:| 47
ESRS E1-9 Location of significant L‘;"kp_'“éﬁr:;r::::“
assets at material physical risk physical risk: Exposures
paragraph Bl subject to physical risk
larticle 44%a Regulation B hasa-in
[EL) Mo 575/2013;
Cormmission
Implementing Regulation
|EL} 20222453
ESAS E1-9 Breakdown of the paragraph 34;Template
lcarrying value of its real estate 2: Banking book -Climate
i lchange transition risk:
lassets by energy-efficency Laans collateralised by
jclasses paragraph 67e) immovable property -
Energy efficiency of the
leoliateral
ESRS E1-9 Degree of expasure of Celegated Regulation Phase-in
the portfolic to dmate-related [ELI} 202071818, Annex 11
loppartunities paragraph 69
Inificator purmber B Table
ESAS E2-4 Armaunt of each 1 of Annex | Indicatar
pollutant listed in Annex | of the |number 2 Table 82 of
E-PRTR Regulation
Pﬂllu'larﬂ.E:-eleasc aLE;ﬁjel::ler Annes | Indicatar number
Register) emitted to air, water 1 Tabile 42 of Annex |
and sall, paragraph 28 Indicator rumber 3 Takble
HI of Annex |
ESRS E3-1 'Water and marine Anney |, Table 2, MOT RELEVANT
resources paragraph 9 |rdficator Ko 7
ESAS E3-1 Dedicated palicy lArinex |, Table 2, MOT RELEVANT
paragraph 13 |ndicator ko, 8
ESAS E3-1 Sustainable oceans  [Annex |, Table 2, MOT RELEVANT
and seas paragraph 14 Indicator Mo, 12
ESRS E3-4 Total water recycled  [Annex |, Table 2, S OT RELEVANT
and reused paragraph 28(c) |ndicator Ko 6.2
E5SRS E3-4 Total water MOT RELEVANT
Jconsumption in m3 per net lArnex |, Table 2,
revenue an own operations |ndicator Mo, 6.1
paragraph 29
ESRS 2 58M-3 - £4 paragraph  [Annax |, Table 1, MOT RELEVANT
A6Callik Indicator Ko, 7
ESRS 2 SBM-1 - E4 paragraph |Arnex |, Table 2, SOT RELEVANT
16(bj |ndicator Ko, 10
ESRS 2 58M-3 - B4 paragraph Anna |, Table 2, MOT RELEVANT
6k Indicator Mo, 14
ESRS Ed-2 Sustainable land f BOT RELEVANT
agricultura practices or policis  [Annes |, Table 2,
paragraph 24(b] |ndicator Mo 11
ESR%S Ed-2 Sustainable oceams /| [Annex |, Table 2, SOT RELEVANT
seas practices or policles Indicator Mo, 12
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paragraph 24(c]

ESRE Ed-2 Policies to address
[deforestation paragraph 24(d}

|Arinex |, Table 2,
Indicator Mo, 15

MOT RELEVANT

ESRS E5-5 Mon-recycled wasts

|Srinex |, Table 2,

paragraph 37(d)] |ndicator Mo 13
ESHS E5-5 Hazardous waste and [Anna |, Table 1,
radioactive waste paragraph 39 [Indicator No. 9

ESRS 2 - 58M3 - 51 Risk of
incidants of forced labour
paragraph 12(f}

Anneyx |, Table 3,
|ndicator Mo, 13

ESRS 2 - 38M3 - 51 Risk of
incidernts of child labour

paragraph 14(g)

Anney |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 12

ESRS 51-1 Hurnan rights policy
lcommitrments paragraph 20

Anna |, Table 3,
Indicator No. 3 and
|&rnex |, Table 1,
Indicator Mo, 11

ESHS 51-1 Due diligence palicies
Jon tsswes addressed by the
[fundasmental International
Labiour Organisation
Conwentions 1 to 8, paragraph 11

Dalogated Regulation

(ELI} 20201816, Annea ]

E5RS 51-1 prooesses and
measures for preventing
traflicking in human beings
paragraph 12

Anney |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo 11

E5RS 51-1 workplaoe accident
presantion policy or
management system paragraph
213

Annesx |, Table 3,
|ndicator Mo, 1

ESRS 51-3 grievance/complaints
handling mechanisms paragraph
12ic)

|&rinex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 5

ESAS 51-14 Number of fatalities
land number and rate of work-
related accdents paragraph
|E8ib) and {c)

lArnex |, Table 3,
|ndicator Mo, 2

Celegated Regulation

[ELI} 20201816, Anrex 1|

E5RS 51-14 Mumber of days lost
to injuries, sccidents, fatalities or
illness paragraph 8%(a)

|&rinex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 3

E5RS 51-16 Unadjusted gender

|Srinex |, Table 1,

Dhelisg ated Regulation

pay gap paragraph 97(a} Indicator Mo, 12 [ELI} 202071816, Annex il
ESRS 51-16 Excessive CEOQ pay  |Annex |, Table 3,

ratio paragraph 9Rb) Indicator Mo, B

ESRS 51-17 Incidents of |Arinex |, Table 3,

[discrimination paragraph 103(a) |Indicator ko, 7

ESHS 51-17 Non-respact of
LINGP: on Business and Human
Rights and OECD paragraph 104
)

Anineyx |, Table 1,
Indicator e, 10 and
|Arinex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 14

lanmex 11 of Delegated
Regulation (EU]
203071816 and Artscle
12(1] of Delegated
Regulation (EL
2030/1818

ESRS 2 5BM-3 - 52 Significant risk
af child labour or forced labour
in the walue chain paragraph
11ib]

|ndicators number 12
and n. 13 Table #3 of
Annas |

ESRS 52-1 Hurnan rights palicy
lcommitments paragraph 17

Annex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 9 and
|Arnex |, Table 1,
Indicator o, 11
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ESRS 53-1 Paolicias related to
halue chain workers paragraph
18

|ndicators number 11
and n. 4 Table #3 of
Anney |

ESHS 52-1 Mon-respect of UNGPs
jom Busimess and Human Rights
principhes and OECD guidelines
paragraph 19

|Arnes |, Talle 1,
|ndicator Ko, 10

lanmex 11 of Delegated
Regulation (EU]
203071816 and Artscle
12(1] of Delegated
Regulation (ELI)
2030/1818

E5RS 53-1 Dwe diligence palicies
Jon isswes addressed by the
[fundamental Internatianal
Labour Drganisation

Conventions 1 te 8, paragraph 19|

Delegated Regulation
[ELI) 2020/1B16, Anres 1|

E5SRS 52-4 Humnan rights ssues
|and incidents connected to its
upstream and downstream value
|chain paragraph 36

annay |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 14

FSRS 53-1 Hurman rights palicy
[commitments paragraph 16

|Arnex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, % and
annay |, Table 1,
Indicator Mo, 11

E5RS 53-1 Mon-compliance with
LIN Guiding Principkes on
Business and Human Rights, ILO
principes or JECD Guidelines,
para. 17

[Ariney |, Table 1,
Indicator Mo, 10

lanmex [l of Delegated
Fegulation (EU)
203071816 and Articla
13(1) of Delegated
Regulation (ELI
2020,/1818

ESRS 53-4 Human rights issues
and incidents paragraph 36

|Arinex | Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 14

E5RS 54-1 Policies related to
Jconsumers and end-users

paragraph 16

|Arinex |, Takle 3,
|ndicator Ko, % and
Aninax |, Table 1,
|ndicator Mo 11

ESHS 54-1 Mon-respect of UNGRs
jon Busimess and Human Rights
principes and DECD guidelinas
paragraph 17

pAnnes |, Table 1,
Indicator No. 10

lanmex 11 of Delegated
Regulation (EU]

2020/ 1816 and Article
12(1) of Delegated
Reegulation (EL)
2030/1813

E5AS 5d-4 Hurnan rights Bsues
and incidents paragraph 35

|rinex |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 14

ESRS G1-1 United Mations
Convantion against Corruption
paragraph 10(b]

|Arinex |, Table 3,
|ndicator Mo, 15

ESRS G1-1 Protectian of whistle-
blowers paragraph 104d)

annay |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, &

E5RS G1-4 Fines for vialation of
|anti-corruption and anti-bribery
laws paragraph 24{a|

lArnex |, Table 3,
|ndicator Mo 17

Dalegated Ragulation
[EL) 2020, 1816, Anrex 1|

ESRS G 1-4 Standards of anti-
lcorruption and anti-bribery
paragraph 24(b)

Anney |, Table 3,
Indicator Mo, 16
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7.2 Environmental Information

Disclosure pursuant to Article 8 of regulations (EU) 2020/852 (Taxonomy Regulations)

Established by EU Regulation 2020/852 and with the aim of promoting investments with
environmental and social objectives, the Taxonomy is a unified and formalised system for
classifying sustainable economic activities in Europe. As a "Financial Undertaking", in the light
of the provisions of the aforementioned Regulation (hereinafter also referred to as the
"Taxonomy Regulation") and further related legislation, the ATM Group shall report for the
financial year 2024 the portion of its turnover, capital expenditure and operating expenditure
associated with economic activities considered environmentally sustainable in accordance
with Articles 3 and 9 of the Taxonomy Regulation.

In particular, the Taxonomy now defines six environmental objectives:

* C(Climate change mitigation,

* Adaptation to climate change,

* Sustainable use and protection of water and marine resources,

* Transition to a circular economy,

* Pollution prevention and control,

* Protection and restoration of biodiversity and ecosystems.
With the publication in 2023 of the Delegated Acts of the EU Taxonomy, new activities were
introduced concerning both the first two targets, already valid for 2022 reporting, and the

remaining four environmental targets defined by Art. 9 of the Taxonomy Regulation.

The ATM Group then reviewed the list of economic activities included in the reference
documentation. This process of analysis was carried out by comparing the activities carried
out by the Group with those defined in the technical reference documentation, consistent
with the list of NACE and ATECO codes to which they belong. Based on the developed
interpretation and in continuity with last year's reporting, the activities that characterise the
Group's operations are mainly attributable to the economic activities of "Urban and suburban
passenger transport by road" and "Operational management of personal mobility devices"
belonging to the first two climate change mitigation and adaptation objectives and identified
in the respective codes 6.3 and 6.4 as per the reference regulations.
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As a first step of analysis, the reference legislation requires the reporting of a series of
information regarding the economic activities considered eligible!® or ineligible!® for the
European Taxonomy (hereinafter also referred to as "Eligible" and "Ineligible" Activities). The
notion of "Eligibility" refers to all activities included in the Delegated Acts on the objectives of
the Taxonomy and only indicates that a given activity could potentially lead to a substantial
contribution to one of the six environmental objectives of the Taxonomy, without also
expounding on the concept of its sustainability. The regulations also specify that eligibility
must be assessed and reported for activities belonging to all six environmental objectives.

The second step of analysis refers instead, within the framework of the "Eligible Activities", to
the identification of activities aligned®® or not aligned with the European Taxonomy
(hereinafter also "Aligned" and "Not Aligned" Activities. In particular, the notion of alignment
implies that an activity meets all the requirements specifically listed for it in the Taxonomy.
Only when an activity fulfils the technical screening criteria, the Do Not Significant Harm
criteria and compliance with the minimum safeguard criteria can it be defined as "Aligned".

Eligible Activities

In light of these previous interpretations, and as described in more detail below, the Group
has calculated the proportion of turnover, capital expenditure and operating expenditure
related to economic activities currently considered eligible for Taxonomy with reference to
the Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation objectives, reserving the right to conduct more
in-depth analyses for the additional four environmental objectives during the future reporting
year. In particular, the following percentage values were found?*:

18 Economic activity described in the delegated acts adopted pursuant to Articles 10(3), 11(3), 12(2),
13(2), 14(2) and 15(2) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852, irrespective of whether such economic activity
meets any or all of the technical screening criteria set out in those delegated acts.

19 Economic activity not described in the delegated acts adopted pursuant to Articles 10(3), 11(3),
12(2), 13(2), 14(2) and 15(2) of Regulation (EU) 2020/852.

20 Economic activities meeting all the requirements of Art. 3 of Reg. EU 2020/852.

21 The analysis and calculation of the KPIs were carried out in the light of the Group's interpretation of
the information defined in Annex | of the "Delegated Regulation (EU) 2021/2178 of the European
Commission of 6 July 2021 supplementing Article 8 of Regulation (EU) 2020/852) and the document
"Draft Commission notice on the interpretation of certain legal provisions of the Disclosures Delegated
Act under Article 8 of the EU Taxonomy Regulation on the reporting of eligible economic activities and
assets" of 2 February 2022. For the calculation of the KPls, potential double counting in the allocation
of Turnover, CapEx and OpEx to the numerator was avoided through the use of financial information
as accounted for in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2024, subsequently
linked to the economic activities referred to in the Climate Delegated Act.
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- Eligible Non Eligible
Revenue 88.84% 11.16%
CapEx 98.85% 1.15%
OpEx 97.48% 2.52%

Turnover Calculation Methodology
Consolidated net sales in accordance with IAS 1.82(a) were considered in the denominator.

With regard to the numerator, based on the interpretation of the Taxonomy Regulation,
revenues from Parking Spaces, Car Parks and removals, advertising and space rental, vending
machines in action at underground stations, management of Area B-C, SCTT [Sistema
Integrato di Controllo del Traffico e del Territorio (Integrated Traffic and Territorial Control
System)], sale of materials, contributions from the National Collective Agreement, deductions
for employee services (e.g., day-care centres) and EU contributions for training courses were
excluded. The financial data included in this KPI reflect what is reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements in relation to the composition of revenues and other operating income.

CapEx Calculation Methodology

In the denominator, additions to tangible and intangible fixed assets for the year 2024 were
considered, before depreciation, amortisation and any revaluations, including those resulting
from restatements and reductions in value, excluding changes in fair value. The denominator
includes, in particular, all investments in Tangible and Intangible Fixed Assets and Rights of
Use.

For the calculation of the numerator, increases in fixed assets were considered permissible in
line with the adopted interpretation of the Taxonomy Regulation and further normative
references. In fact, increases in fixed assets related to the purchase of output from taxonomy-
eligible economic activities and/or related to measures implemented to reduce atmospheric
emissions were considered eligible. For this reason, consistent with the methodology adopted
for turnover, investments in Parking Spaces, Car Parks and removal, advertising and space
rental, AREA B-C and SCTT, and kindergarens were excluded. The financial data included in
this KPI reflect the investments reported within the Consolidated Financial Statements, in the

section Commentary on the ATM Group's Economic and Financial Performance.
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Methodology for calculating OpEx

In the denominator, non-capitalised direct costs related to research and development,
building renovation measures, short-term rent and variable rents, maintenance and repair as
well as any other direct expenditure related to the day-to-day maintenance of property, plant
and equipment were taken into account. Expenditure on the day-to-day operation of
property, plant and equipment has not been included.

In the numerator, costs included in the denominator relating to the purchase of output from
taxonomy-eligible economic activities and/or relating to measures implemented to reduce
atmospheric emissions were considered eligible: in particular, costs for Group maintenance
labour, costs for material consumption and costs for services in connection with maintenance
and leasing/short-term rental were included. Consequently, the remainder of the costs
included in the denominator were considered ineligible. The figures considered in this KPI
reflect the non-capitalised direct costs reported within the Consolidated Financial Statements,
in the section Commentary on the ATM Group's Economic and Financial Results - Costs and
Other Operating Charges.

Aligned Activities

A business economic activity that complies with the minimum safeguards and contributes to
at least one of the six environmental objectives set out in Article 9 of the Taxonomy Regulation
and, does not harm the other five objectives considered by the same Regulation, can be
considered an activity aligned to the EU Taxonomy.

Therefore, once the eligible economic activities were identified, the ATM Group undertook to
verify that they were in line with the technical criteria set out in the Regulation. Aligned
analyses were also conducted on the basis of the "Climate Change Risk Assessment"
document, which aims to identify the exposure of the Group's activities and assets to climate
change, in the short, medium and long term. The analysis also aims to assess the Group's
resilience to relevant climate risks, identifying the measures and actions implemented to
address the highlighted risks. Therefore, for the year 2024, the ATM Group conducted a more
in-depth analysis and came up with Turnover, CapEx and OpEx percentages aligned to the

Taxonomy.
Turnover Calculation Methodology

All the checklists required by the Standard (minimum safeguards - technical screening criteria
- DNSH) have been reviewed.
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With regard to LPT activity 6.3, the turnover for the underground and Tram Service Contract
was taken into account (as they are considered 100% environmentally friendly means of
transport as they are electrically driven, as well as meeting the previous checklist).

Activity 6.4 bike sharing , on the other hand, was considered eligible and aligned at 100%, and
its value was taken into account within the accounts 400106 and 400119.

CapEx Calculation Methodology

All the checklists required by the Standard (minimum safeguards - technical screening criteria
- DNSH) have been reviewed.

Investments in underground and tram projects were taken into account.

All interventions that, partially or totally, impact on the activities identified as the scope of
analysis (trains+tram) were considered aligned with the Taxonomy. This category also
includes, for example, interventions on ticketing, equipment or facilities, etc., whose (partial)
impact on the activities mentioned above is calculated on the basis of drivers ad hoc, such as
the passenger/km of trains and trams.

Methodology for calculating OpEx

All the checklists required by the Standard (minimum safeguards - technical screening criteria
- DNSH) have been rev